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O'IrGJ
Chad "Comlassel"· Smith
Principal Chief

JLCf,;;; JL'hc<.
Joe Grayson.lr.
Deputy Principal Chief

March 27. 2009

Principal Chief. Deputy Chief, Tribal Council, and Citizens of the Cherokee Nation:

We arc pleased to submit the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the Cherokee Nation (the
"Nation" or "Tribe") for the fiscal year ended September 30. 2008. Accountability for both the
accuracy of the data and the completeness and fairness of the presentation, including all disclosures.
rests with the Nation. We believe the data presented is accurate in all material aspects, and fairly
presents the financial position and results of operations for the year ended September 30, 2008.

A comprehensive analysis of tile Nation's financial position and activities for the year are contained in
this repon. It has been prepared by the Nation's Financial Resources Group and conforms to the
"pyramid" approach to governmental financial reponing as prescribed in National Council on
Governmental Accounting ("'NCGA") Statement L "Governmental Accounting and Financial
Rcponing Principles."

Organization of the Government

The Nation is the federally recognized government of the Cherokee people and has sovereign status
granted by treaty and law. The Nation is the second largest federally recognized tribe in the United
Stales and is located within the 14 counties of nonheastern Oklahoma. The boundary runs northerly
and southeasterly from Tulsa. Oklahoma to the Kansas and Arkansas state borders. The Nation's
jurisdictional area-which consists of 9,234 square miles and includes all of nine counties and
portions of five other counties-was established following the historical boundaries or the Cherokee
Nation after the Treaty of 1866.

Thc Cherokee Nation has a tripartite form of government designed after the original democratic form
of government of the Iroquois that was adopted by the United States. The Cherokee Constitution was
amendcd by the Constitutional Convention in 1999 and ratified by a vote of the Cherokee citizens in
2003. This Constitution defines the distribution and separation of powers among the three branches
of government. The three branches and their respective powers include the:

(I) Executive Brunell· The executive power is vested in the Principal Chief, currently Chadwick
"Corntassel" Smith. The Principal Chief is responsible for the execution of the laws of the
Cherokee Nation, establishment of tribal policy and delegation of authority, as is neccssary
for the administrative functions of the Cherokee Nation. The Principal Chief maintains an
ofTice at the W. W. Keeler Tribal Complex in Tahlequah (Cherokee County). Oklahoma. The
Deputy Chief, currently Joe Grayson, Jr., is empowered to act as directed by the Principal
Chief.



(2) Legi.\1ative Brallch - The Legislature consists of seventeen (17) tribal council members, who
arc citizens of the Cherokee Nation. The Tribal Council is elected to four-year terms from
the nine districts of the Cherokee Nation and two at-large members who represent citizens
living outside the jurisdictional area. The Council elects a Speaker, currently Meredith A.
Frailey and a Deputy Speaker, currently Cara Cowan-Watts. The role of the Tribal Council is
to adopt legislation and to conduct other business in the best interest of the Cherokee people.

(3) Judicial Brrlllch - The Judicial Branch consists of the Supreme Court and the Cherokee
Nation District Court. Supreme Court Justices are appointed by the Principal Chief and
confirmed by the Tribal Council. The Chief Justice currently is Darrell R. Matlock. The
primary responsibility of the Justices is to hear and resolve any disagreements arising under
the provisions of the Constitution or any enactment of the Tribal Council. The District Court
syskm hears all cases brought before it under jurisdiction of the Cherokee Nution Code
Annotated. Titlc 20. Courts and Procedure.

Between 1907 and 1971. the President of the United States appointed the Principal Chief of the
Cherokee Nation. Special Congressional legislation was enacted to restore elective rights to the
Cherokee people and. in 1971 W. W. Keeler became the first elected Principal Chief of the Cherokee
Nation under this legislation. In 1975_ Ross O. Swimmer was elected to the ofliee of the Principal
Chief and was rc~elccted in 1979 and 1983. In December 1985, Ross O. Swimmer resigned as
Principal Chief of the Nation to become the Assistant Secretary of the Department of Interior lor the
Bureau of Indian Affairs. The vacated office of the Principal Chief was devolved upon Wilma P.
Mankiller, lormerly Deputy Chiel~ lor the remainder of the term and she was elected to consecutive
four-year terms in 1987 and 1991. Wilma Mankiller chose not to seek re~election in 1995. Joe Byrd
was elected as Principal Chief in 1995. In 1999, Chad Smith was elected as Principal Chief. lie was
re-elected as Principal Chief in the 2003 and 2007 tribal elections and has continued his mission of
improving services. increasing cultural awareness and increasing the resources for the betterment of
the Cherokee Nation throughollt 2008.

Government Services Provided

The l~xecutive Branch of the Nation is organized with the Principal Chief and the Deputy Principal
Ch ief serving as the Ii nal authorities of the adm in istrative operations of the Nation. The Constitution
provides for a three member Cubint:1, the Secretary of State. the Treasurer and the Secretary of
Natural Kesources. The Secretary of State is responsible lor a variety of governmental functions
int:luding but not limited to the eenification of petitions, referring amendments of the wnstitution to
the people. and receipt of petitions, orders tor initiatives. and oaths of office. The Treasurer provides
oversight and direction for the Nation on atl linancial matters. including annual budgets, investment
of funds, alld linancial rep0l1ing in conformance with Gener<llly Accepted Accounting Principles
("(lAAP··). The Secretary of Natural Resources advises the Chief on natural resource issues <lnd
works to advance lhe Nation's top environmental strategic priorities. The Secretary of Natural
Resources ollice is vacant.

The Constitution also created an office of Attorney General and an office of Marshal. The Attorney
General and Marshal arc appointed by the Principal Chief and confirmed by the Tribal Council for a
term of five (5) years. The terms of the Attorney General and Marshal shall not be concurrent. The
Attorney General represents the Cherokee Nation in all criminal cases in the courts of the Nation. and
in all civil actions wherein the Cherokee Nation is nmned as a party and shall have such other duties
as the Council may prescribe by law. The Marshal's duties and authority are prescribed by law. The
Marshal provides law enforcement within the jurisdiction of the Cherokee Nation.
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The stafr or the Principal Chief includes the Group Leaders of the respective groups who provide
oversight and general direction, The three major Teams arc Direction, Service, and Resources.

Thl:se Teams arc comprised of the following:
I. Direction Tl.:am

a. Communiciltions
b. Tribal Relations
c. Government Relations
d. Dircction

2. Service Team
a. Leildership Services
b. llealth Services
c. Career Services
d. Commerce Services
e. Education Services
r Comnnmity Services
g. f luman Services
h. Iiolising Services

3. Resource Team
a. Financial Resources
b. Government Resources
c. Management Resources
d. lluman Rl:sourccs

Ih'Jlorting Entity

The Nation determinl:s its rinandal reporting entity in accordance with Governmental Accounting
Standards Board ('"GASS-') Statement No. 14, "The Financial Reporting Entity," as amended by
GASH Statement No. 39 and, based on that criterion, has included the following entities as
component units within the Nation's basic rinancial statemcnts,

• Cherokee Nation Businesses, LLC ("CNB") and related companies
• Iiousing Authority of the Cherokee Nation ("IIACN'')
• Cherokee Nation Comprehensive Care Agency ("CNCCA")
• Cherokee Nation 1·lome Health Services, Inc. ("CNIIIIS")
• Cherokee Nation I~conomic Development Trust Authority ("EDTA")

The nature orthe activities of these organizations and the specilic basis for inclusion as a component
unit oftbe Nation arc discussed in the nOles to basic Iinancial statements.
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Excluded Organizations

During 2008. th~ following organizations did not meet the criteria for inclusion in the reporting entily
and accordingly tht:ir financial operations are e:\eludt:d from this report.

Cherokee Nation I·;ducalion Foundation
Chcrokee National I listorical Society

Financial Information

The management of the Nation is responsible for ensuring that adequate accounting data is compiled
to allow for the preparation of Iinaneial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles. Management oflhe Nation is also responsible for t:stablishing and maintaining an internal
control structure designed 10 ensurc that the assets of the Nation arc protected from loss, thelt or
mIsuse. The internal control structure is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
that these objectives arc met. The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that: (I) tht: cost ofa
control should not exceed the benelits likely to be derived, and (2) the valuation of costs and benelits
requires estimates and judgments by management. The Nation did not change any financial policies
that had a signilieant impact on the fiscal year's financial statements.

Single Audh- As a rccipient of federal and state financial assistance, the Nation is responsible for
ensuring that an adequate internal control structure is in place to ensure compliance with applicable
laws and regulations related to those programs. This internal control structure is subject to periodic
evaluation by management of the Nation.

I\s a part of the Nation's single audit, tests arc made to determine the adequacy of the internal control
structure. including that portion related to federal !inancial assistance programs. as well as to
determine that thl' Nation has complied with applicable 1,l\vs <Ind T<.'gulmiolls. The results of the
Nation's single audit for the fiscal year ended September 30. 2008, are included in a separately issued
Single Audit Report.

Budgel- Title 62, §31-32 provides the legal level of budgetary control for the Cherokee Nation. The
E:\eclltivc and Finance Committee of the Council, upon direction of the Treasurer and with
advisemCllt from the Controller, shall formulate an annual appropriations bill. The bill shall contain
the legal budgeted annual revcnue and expenditures for the general fund and enterprise funds for the
executive, legislative. and judicial branches of government. The sources of revenue may be based
upon estimates. The budgeted expenditures for these funds shall not exceed total estimated revenues
and beginning fund balance and net assets. Cherokee Nation limits uses offunds to the availability of
the sources of revenues.

Should the need arise for management to transfer funds or propose additional appropriations. the
Executive and Finance Committee of the Council, upon direction of the Treasurer and with
advisement from the Controller, shall be responsible for proposing amendments to the annual
appropriations law based upon malerial changes in real or estimated revenues and expenditures that
affect the total amounts budgeted. Any amendments to the annual appropriations bill shall be
presented to the Tribal Council for consideration and passage. I\ny funds received by Ihe Cherokee
Nation. the lise of which is determined by the granting or contracting agency (special revenue funds)
shall be used only for those purposes and under those conditions lor which the funds are made
available and such funds are not subject to legal appropriation by the Tribal Council.
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The basic financial stalements contain a budget and actual comparative statement for the General
Fund, a legally budgded lund. A budgetary statement for enterprise funds, which arc also legally
budgeted, is included in the budgetary information section of Other Supplementary Information.
Budgets for the Nation arc prepared on the same basis of accounting as the financial reports;
therefore, no reconciliation is necessary.

Economic Outlook

Since fiscal year 2002. the Cherokee Nation primar)' government has increased its total assets by
approximately $244.370.000 or 180%. This growth is aligned with our vision for the Cherokee
Nation as stated in the Declaration of Designed Purpose. This vision states. "The Cherokee Nation
shall achieve and maintain an enriching cultural idcntity. economic self-reliance. and a strong
govcrnmcnt. The Nation's long-term financial planning process utilizes a Strategic Budget
Committee to ensure discretionary resources arc used to support the vision of the Nation. The
planning process encompasses the annual linancial budgct process, as well as long-term strategic
planning for usc of the Nation's resourccs.

Through expansion of its component units. the Nation is working to establish a self-reliant economy
for the citi/.ens of the Nation. In addition to the expansion of component ullits. the Nation has been
successful in partnering with local governments to allract new industrics and create johs within the
Nation's j urisd ict ion.

Usc of the RellOrt

This report will be submitted to the Federal Clearing 1·louse and the National Business Center
('"NBC"). in compliance with the requirements of the Office of Management and l3udget ("'OMI3'")
Circular A-133 ""Audits of States and Local Govemments and Non-Prolit Organizations." Copies of
the reports will also be submitted to elected officials of the Nation and various other agencies which
require copies consistent with the administration of funding provided 10 the Nation under grants and
contracts. Usc of this report by the departments of the Nation is encouraged.

Readers of this report should refer to Management's Discussion and Analysis ("'MD&A.. ) for better
understanding of the linancial activities of the Nation. The MD&A provides the reader with an easily
readable discussion of the basic linancial statements, signilicant differences. r.:omparative analyses.
fund financial analysis, significant budget variations, and facts. decisions or conditions which arc
expected to lwvc a signilicant effect on the Nation's linancial position or results of operations.

Ccrliticute of Achievement

The Government Finance Officers Association ("'(irOA") of the United States and Canada awardcd a
Certificate of Achievement lor Excellence in Financial Reporting 10 Cherokee Nation for its
comprehensive annual financial report ItJr the fiscal year ended September 30, 2007. This was the
seventh consecutive year that the Nation has achieved this prestigious award. In order to be awarded
a Certificate of Achievement. a government must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized
comprehensive annual financial report. This report must satisfy both generally accepted accounting
principles and applicable legal requirements.
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A Cenificale of Achievement is valid for a period of onc year only. We believe that our current
comprehensive annual financial report continues to mcet the Certificatc of Achievement Program's
requiremenls. We are submitting ilia the GFDA to determine its eligibility for anothcr certificate.
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For its Comprehensive Annual
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for the Fi.!:cal Year Ended

September 30. 2007

A Cenificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial
Reporting is presented by the Government Fmance Officen

Association of the United States and Canada to
government units and public employee retirement

systems whose comprehensive annual flIWlCW
reports (CAFRs) achieve the hiabest
standards in government accountma

and financial reponing.

President

Executive Director
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Independent Accountants' Report on Financial Statements
and Supplementary Information

The Principal Chief and Tribal Council
Chernkee Nation
Tahlequah, ()klahoma

We have audited the accompanying linancial statemcnts of the governmental activities. the busincss-type
activitics, the aggregate disl:retely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate
remain ing lilnd information of the Cherokee Nation (the Nat ion) as of and for the year endl.xl
SeplCmber 30, 20D};, which collectively comprise the Nation's basic financial statements as listed in the
table ofl:on(enls. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Nation's management. Our
resp()ll~ibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not audit
the Ii nancial st<ltements of the I-Iollsing Authority of the Cherokee Nat ion (II ACN) ur Cherokl.:e Nat ion
Comprehensive Care Agency (CNCCA), which are discretely presented componellt units of Ihe Nation.
The linancial st<ltemenlS of IIACN and CNCCA, which collectively comprise 24% of tolal assets and 1%
llf total operating revelllles of the aggregate discretely presented component uu its, were aud ited by other
accoulltant~whose rl.:ports have been furnished to us and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the mnounts
included for IIACN and CNCCA_ is based solely on the repurts of the other al:eountants.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the tJnited States of
America <lnd the stand<lrds applicable to financial audits contained in (iovcmmel/I AuditillK SWI/dords,
issued hy the Comptroller General of the United Slates. Those standards require that we plan and perform
lhe ilud it to obta in reasonable assurance about whether the finaneia I statements are rn:c of materia I
misstatement. The financial statements of Cherokee Nation Comprehensive Carl.: Agcncy, a discrelCly
presenled l:omponent unit included in the linancial statements of the Nation. were not :111dited in
accordance with (Tol"cmll/cl/l A 11I1i/i1/K Stal/dard.,·. An audit includes exam in ing, on a test hasis, evidence
SUpr0l1ing the :nnounls and disl:losures in the linaneial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evnlu<lting the
overalliinancial statement presentation. We believe tl1<lt our <ludit and the rep011s of the other
accountants provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of other accountants, the linancial statements rclerred to
above present fairly. in all material respects, the respective financial posilion of the glowernlllental
activities, the business-type aetivities, the aggregate discrclely presented component units, each major
tillld, and the aggreg:lte remaining lilild in!txmation of the Cherokee Nation as orSeplcmber 30, 2008,
and the respective changes in financial position and cash nows, where applicable. thereof lix the year
then ended in conliwmity with aeeounting principles generally accepted in the United St:lles or America.

In :lccordance with Uo\"emll/CII/ A/ldilillg SIal/dart/I', we have <llso issued our report dated March 27.
2009. on our eonsiderat ion or the Nation's internal eontrol over tinanc ial rep0l1i ng and our tests nr its
compliance with certain provisions oflaws, regulations, eontracts and grant agreements and other matlers.
The purpose or that rcport is to deserihe the seope or our testing of internal control over lilwnl.:ial
rcponing and compliance and the results orlhat testing, and not to provide all opillion on the internal
control over tinaneial rep0l1ing or on compliance. That repor1 is an integral pnrt of an audit per!t)l'llled in
accordance with (iOl'('ml1lell/ Auditing Slom/ords and should be considered in assessing the results of our
audit.

experience BKD
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Thc Principal Chief and Trihal ('ouncil
('hcrokl.~c Nation

'l'he accUlnpanying management's discussion and analysis as listcd in the table of contents is not a
required pmt orlhe basic linancial statements but is supplementary information required by the
(jovCrtlmenllll Accounting Swndards Board. We have applied cCltain limited procedurcs, which
consistcd principally of inqlJ iries of managemcnt regard ing the methods of measurclllcnt and prcscntat ion
{lrtllc rC<luircd supplcmentary information. Howcver, we did not audit the information and cxpress no
opinion on it.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of fonning opinions on the financial statcmcnts that collcctively
comprise the Nation's basic financial statements. The accompanying supplementary information, <IS

Iistcd in thc table of contents, is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is 1I0t a required p;:ln of
the basic financial statements. Such information has been subj(.'Cted to the auditing procedures applied in
the audit ufthe basic financial statements and, in our opinion. is fairly stmcd, in allmalerial respects, in
rdation to the basic finan<.:ial statements taken as a wholc.

'I'hc accompanying information in Ihc statisti<.:al section, as listed in the tablc of conkilts, has not bccn
sllt~ieeled to the procedures upplied in thc audit of the basic financial statements and, i1<':<':(lrdingly_ we
cxpress no opinion on it.

March 27. 2009
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Nation's management provides Management's Discussion and Analysis rMD&A-) of
the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report rCAFR-) as a tool for readers of the Nation's
financial statements for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2008. Readers of the Nation's
financial statements are encouraged to utilize this information in conjunction with the
information provided in the letter of transmittal, which precedes this section, and the
accompanying basic financial statements and disclosures following this section.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS - PRIMARY GOVERNMENT

• The Nation's assets exceeded its liabilities at the end of fiscal year 2008 by
$189 million (net assets). Of this total amount, $90 million are unrestricted net
assets that may be used to meet the government's ongoing obligations.

• The Nation's overall liabilities decreased by approximately $11 million to
$191 million.

• The net assets increased by $24 million, which is largely attributable to unspent
program income in Self Governance Department of Health and Human Services
("DHHS")

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis serves as an introduction to the Nation's basic financial
statements. The Nation's basic financial statements are comprised of government-wide
financial statements, fund financial statements, and notes to the basic financial statements.
The CAFR also contains other information to supplement the basic financial statements. A
brief description of the basic financial statements follows:

Basic Financial Statements

The basic financial statements include two types of financial statements that present
different views of the Nation, the Government-Wide Financial Statements and the Fund
Financial Statements. The basic financial statements also include Notes to Basic Financial
Statements, which explain and provide additional detail about some of the information
contained in the statements.

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The Government-Wide Financial Statements provide a broad overview of the Nation's
finances and operations in a manner similar to private-sector business. The statements
provide information about the Nation's financial position on both a short-term and long-term
basis. The statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting and an economic
resources management focus. The government-wide financial statements include the
Statement of Net Assets and the Statement of Activities.

The Statement of Net Assets presents the assets and liabilities for the entire Nation, with the
difference reported as "net assets: Increases or decreases in net assets over time, can
serve as an indicator of the improvement or decline in the Nation's financial position.
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The Statement of Activities presents information about how the Nation's net assets changed
during the fiscal year. All changes in net assets are reported when the underlying event
giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of when the related cash flows occur. Utilizing
this method, revenues and expenses are reported when earned and incurred, rather than
when cash is received or expended.

The financial statements include separate sections for three different types of activities. The
three types are as follows:

• Governmental Activities - This section presents information about activities
supported by dividends from component units, taxes, intergovernmental revenues
(state and federal grants), and private grants. The services provided by the Nation's
government generally fall into this category, including tribal government, health
services, education services, human services, community services, and other tribal
services.

• Business-Type Activities - These types of activities are intended to recover all or a
substantial portion of their costs through user fees and charges to external users of
the goods and services. The active business type activities of the Nation include the
Title VI Loan Fund, Tsa~La-Gi Apartments, Landfill Operations, Economic
Development Trust Authority, and Other Enterprise Activities. The operation of the
Nation's Landfill was transferred to its discretely presented component unit effective
July 1, 2008.

• Discretely Presented Component Units - These are the operations for which the
Nation has financial accountability. but have certain independent qualities, such as
an independent Board of Directors. For the most part, these units operate similar to
private-sector business.

The Nation's discretely presented component units are:

.Cherokee Nation Businesses, LLC ("CNB~) and related companies

• The Housing Authority of the Cherokee Nation ("HACN")

.Cherokee Nation Comprehensive Care Agency ("CNCCA")

.Cherokee Nation Home Health Services, Inc. ("CNHHS")

Complete financial statements for CNB, HACN, CNCCA and CNHHS can be obtained from
their respective administrative offices, or by contacting Cherokee Nation, Office of the
Controller.

The government-wide financial statements can be found immediately following this
discussion and analysis.

Fund Financial Statements

A fund is a group of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that
have been separated for specific activities or objectives. The Nation, like state and local
governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance­
related legal requirements.
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The fund financial statements focus on individual activities of the Nation's government,
providing more detail than the government-wide financial statements. The funds of the
Nation are divided into three types, which use different accounting approaches and should
be interpreted differently. The three types of funds are:

Governmental Funds - Most of the services provided by the Nation are financed and
reported through the governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to account for the
same governmental functions as reported in the government-wide financial statements.
However, unlike the government-wide financial statements, the governmental fund financial
statements focus on the near-term inflows and outflows of expendable resources. These
fund statements also focus on the balances of expendable resources available at the end of
the fiscal year. This approach to financial reporting is known as using the flow of current
financial resources and the modified accrual basis of accounting. This method may be
useful in evaluating the government's near-term financing requirements. These statements
provide a short-term view of the Nation's finances that assist in determining if there will be
sufficient financial resources to meet the current needs of the Nation.

Because the focus of the governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide
financials statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental
funds with similar information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide
financial statements. By doing so, the readers may better understand the long-term impact
of the government's near·term financing decisions. The Governmental Fund Balance Sheet
and the Governmental Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund
Balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds
and governmental activities. These reconciliations are presented on pages 29 and 31 of the
financial statements.

The Nation maintains four major governmental funds, each presented in a separate column
in the Governmental Fund Balance Sheet and in the Governmental Fund Statement of
Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances. The Nation's four major
governmental funds are the General, Self Governance Department of Interior ("DOn Roads,
Self Governance Department of Health and Human Services (MDHHS~), and Housing and
Urban Development ("HUD"). In addition, the Nation maintains sixteen nonmajor funds,
including two permanent funds, a capital projects fund and a debt service fund to account for
other governmental activity. The governmental fund statements can be found on pages 29
and 30 of this report.

Proprietary Funds - These funds are used to show activities which operate similar to
private-sector enterprises. These funds charge fees for goods and services provided to
customers and are known as Proprietary funds. Proprietary funds provide the same type of
information as the business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements,
except in more detail. Like the government-wide financial statements, proprietary fund
financial statements use the accrual basis of accounting. There is no separate reconciliation
needed between the proprietary fund financial statements and the government-wide
financial statements for business-type activities.

The proprietary funds financial statements can be found on pages 33 - 35 immediately
following the governmental fund financial statements. The Nation's propriety funds include
Enterprise and Internal Service Funds, which are described below.

14



Enterprise Funds - The Nation has one major enterprise fund and four nonmajor enterprise
funds for presentation purposes. The major fund is the Nation's Title VI Loan Fund. The
nonmajor funds are the Nation's Tsa-La-Gi Apartments, Landfill Operations, Economic
Development Trust Authority ("EDTA"), and Other Enterprises. The nonmajor enterprise
combining financial statements can be found on pages 86 - 88 of this report.

Internal Service Funds - The internal service funds are used to account for activities related
to goods and services provided by one department to other departments of the Nation and
to other governmental units, on a cost reimbursement basis.

The internal service funds are:

• Internal Leases - used to account for the cost to maintain buildings for use by other
funds of the Nation.

• Force Accounts - used to acquire and maintain equipment and supplies used by
other funds of the Nation. The Nation is currently in the process of closing out the
force accounts.

• Fringe Pool - used to account for the cost of fringe benefits, including the Nation's
self-insured health care and worker's compensation benefits, used by other funds of
the Nation.

• Indirect Cost Pool- used to account for the cost of providing certain services, such
as accounting, human resources, and acquisition management, to other funds of the
Nation.

The internal service funds combining financial statements can be found on pages 89 - 91 of
this report.

Cherokee Nation Component Unit Financial Statements - As previously mentioned above,
the component units are operations over which the Nation has financial accountability, but
they have independent qualities as well, similar to private-sector business. The
government-wide financial statements present information for the component units in a
single column. The Statement of Net Assets and the Statement of Revenues, Expenses
and Changes in Net Assets present detail for each of the four discretely presented
component units.

The financial statements for component units can be found on pages 36 - 38 of this report.

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

The notes to basic financial statements provide additional information that is essential for a
full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and the fund financial
statements. The notes to basic financial statements can be found on pages 39 - 83 of this
report.
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Supplementary Information

The basic financial statements are followed by a section of supplementary information. This
section of the report includes combining schedules for nonmajor governmental and
enterprise funds, internal service funds, one of the Nation's component units and a
budgetary comparison schedule for the Nation's enterprise funds. The supplementary
information section begins on page 84.

Statistical Infonnation

The statistical section provides financial statement users with additional detailed information
as a context for understanding the information in the financial statements, notes to the
financials statements, and required supplementary information as it relates to the
government's overall financial health. Included in the statistical section are schedules
related to financial trends, revenue capacity, debt capacity, demographic and economic
indicators, and operating information. The statistical information section begins on page 95.

COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS FOR MAJOR FUNDS

The following is a comparative analysis for the Nation's major funds (dollars in thousands):

Major Fund
Gereral Fund

Revenues and transfers in
expendITures am transfers out

Self Governance 00 Roads
Revenues and transfers in
expendITures and transfers out

Self Governance Dt-t1S
Revenues and transfers in
expendITures am transfers out

Housirg and Urban De",,"opnnent
Revenues ard transfers in
Expendrtures anc transfers out

PercerWilge
Ina-easel loaeasa'

2008 (Decrease) (Decrease)

$ 79,387 $ 72,865 $ 6,522 9.0%
75,575 64,642 10,933 16.9%

19,964 10,036 9,928 98.9%
19,964 10,036 9,928 98.9%

90,045 74,750 15,295 20.5%
81,220 77,258 3,962 5.1 %

32,965 32,694 271 0.8%
32,603 32,694 (91) (0.3)%

Ue VI Loan Fund
Revenues am transfers in

Expenses ard transfers out

1,464

1,458
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3,582

3,579

(2,118)

(2,121)

(59.1)%

(59.3)%



General Fund:

Increases for General Fund revenues are primarily the result of increased dividends from
component units due to greater profits from gaming operations and increased rental
revenues from Housing Activities. Transfers in increased as a result of transferring
Arkansas Riverbed funds from the Special Revenue fund to the General Fund during fiscal
year 2008.

General Fund expenditures and transfers out increased in fiscal year 2008 as compared to
fiscal year 2007 by a total of $11 million as a result of new and expanded projects that
contribute to the Nation's strategic initiatives of jobs, language, and communities.

Self Governance DOl Roads:

Both the revenues and transfers in and expenditures and transfers out increased due to new
road contracts including $6 million for a joint project with the State of Oklahoma in Tulsa
County.

Self Governance DHHS:

Self Governance DHHS revenues increased in fiscal year 2008 primarily due to serving
more patients through expanded services and an additional clinic.

Self Governance DHHS expenditures and transfers out increased due to expanded
services, an additional clinic and equipment.

Housing and Urban Development:

Revenues and transfers in slightly increased in the HUD programs as a result of the
assumption of services formerly provided by the Housing Authority of the Cherokee Nation
("HACN")

HUD expenditures and transfers out decreased slightly from fiscal year 2007 due to the
cash match requirements during fiscal year 2007 which were not required to be made in
fiscal year 2008.

The Title VI Loan Fund revenues and transfers in and expenses and transfers out
decreased in fiscal year 2008 as compared to fiscal year 2007 in part due to the change in
the accounting fund type from a Special Revenue Fund to an Enterprise Fund in fiscal year
2008 which caused a change in the basis of accounting and also due to a reduction in
interest rates which resulted in lower interest income and expense.

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALVSIS

Net Assets

As stated earlier, the government-wide financial statements are presented to give a broad
overview of the government as a whole. Total assets for the Nation's governmental
activities at fiscal year ending September 30, 2008 were $349 million. Of the $349 million,
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$95 million is related to investment in capital assets such as land, buildings, and equipment.
Other assets, primarily cash, investments, and receivables, represent funds available to
meet both current and future obligations of the Nation.

Total liabilities of the Nation's governmental activities at September 30, 2008 were
$163 million. Of this amount. approximately $33 million relates to long·term obligations
primarily for the bonds issued to construct two health clinics and expand a third health clinic.
Other liabilities represent accounts payable, deferred grant revenue, and other obligations
generally due within one year of the financial statement date.

The assets of the Nation's governmental activities exceeded liabilities at September 30,
2008 by $186 million, which is stated as net assets.

The Nation's business-type activities have total assets of $31 million at September 30, 2008.
Of the $31 million, $1 million is related to investment in capital assets such as land,
buildings and equipment. The liabilities related to the business-type activities at fiscal year
end were $29 million. The majority of this amount is related to long-term obligations
primarily for the Title VI guaranteed loan program used to provide affordable housing to
Tribal citizens, to finance capital asset acquisitions, economic development trust authority
loans for small business development, and the Landfill. Other liabilities represent accounts
payable and other obligations generally due within one year of the financial statement date.
The assets of the Nation's business-type activities exceeded liabilities at September 30,
2008 by $3 million, which is stated as net assets. The following table presents the Nation's
net assets for the primary government (dollars in thousands):

O1erolee Nation' s~ Assets

GcNemmeml Business-Twe
Acti",ties Activities Total Increasel

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 (lRcn>ase)

Current and
other as..'l.'ts $ 253,856 $ 279,281 S 30,749 $ 6,144 $ 284,605 $ 285,425 $ (820)

Capit,~ assets 94.816 80,294 599 ---.J!QQ 95415 81,194 14221

Total ffiscts 348,672 359,575 31,348 7044 380020 300,619 13,401

l.ong·ternl dcht
outst.lI'lding 32,845 33,400 26,403 29,768 59,248 63,174 (3.926)

Qhcrliabilities 129,812 136,389 2,402 2,390 132214 138,779 (6.565)

Total IDbilitics 162,657 169,795 28,805 32,158 191,462 201,953 (10,491)

Net ,5Scts invested

in t<lpila] ffisctS.

JlCI of rcl,ted debt 62,021 53,781 204 162 82225 53,943 8282
Rcstrittoo 36,739 26,278 310 37,049 26278 10,771
Unrestricted 87,255 83.373 2,029 1.072 89284 84445 4.839

Total nct as3.'t'> S 186,015 $ 163,432 S 2,543 $1,234 $ 188,558 $ 164,666 $ 23,892

The Title VI Loan Fund previously was accounted for as a governmental activity prior to Fiscal
Year 2008. During Fiscal Year 2008, the Title VI Loan Fund was recharacterized as a
business type activity.
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$62 million of the net assets balance represents investment in capital assets, net of related
debt. Restricted net assets represent external restrictions placed upon assets of the Nation.
The largest category of restricted net assets is related to net assets restricted for specific
program purposes. Of the total net assets, $90 million is reported as unrestricted net
assets. The unrestricted net assets represent amounts available for future services for the
Nation's citizens, obligations, and creditors.

At September 30, 2008, the Nation reported positive net assets for the government as a
whole, as well as for its separate governmental and business~type activities.

Changes in Net Assets

The Nation's total net assets increased by $24 million, or 15%, during the year. Total
revenues for fiscal year ended September 30, 2008 were $302 million. Total expenses of
the Nation were $278 million, which cover a variety of services. Approximately 37% of the
lotal expenses were for health care for Tribal citizens. In total, governmental-type revenue
exceeded expenses by $23 million resulting in an increase in net assets. Net revenues for
business-type activities exceeded expenses by $1 million, resulting in an increase in net
assets. The changes in net assets during 2008 are as follows (dollars in thousands):

19



Cherokee Nation's Changes in Net Assets
Go~mmental Business.Type

Activities Actlvitles Tou.1

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
Revenues:
Program rl!'l'etlUe$

Charges lor servICeS

Oper3ttng grantslcontnbulJons
C3prtal g<antskontnbutJons
"",,",~

-""'"Motof vehICle liU

Tobacco liU and lees
Sales la~

Gran~ and conlnbutloos not

restricted 10 spealic programs
Unrestricted 'nvestment earnings
D,v'dends trom Component Units
Miscellaneous
Gain/(loss) on disposals

Total revenues

Expenses:
Tribal govetl'1rnent
Heallh 5erV!CeS

EducabOn 5eMCeS

Human M'Noces

Commumty 5e1V1CeS

O!hc< tribal se<VICeS

Inleresl on long-lerm debt

TOlal govemmentaI expenWS

IIIIe VI loan ~ UIlll
Tsa·la·G! Apartments

~ Operatlons
EOlA
Other Enterprises

Total business-type e.qler\ses

1l1Cfease In nel assets belole transfers

Speaal nem
Transters

Change In net assels
Net assets-Beginning oT year

Nel assets-End of year

S 4,420
127,323

86

7,088
8,161
6,254
1,208

100,355
5,439

35,001
2,222

297,557

24,639
103,177
40.365
37.003
51.693
15,033

_~ 1.503

273.413

24,144

(1,561 )

22,583
163,432

$ 186,015

S 2,942
128,822

'"
7,228
7,658
6,956
1,215

76,989
7,631

33,669
1,375

274,627

21,624
92,163
39,096
28,962
49,131
15,650

__ 3,044

249,670

24,957

(1,441)

23,516
139,916

S 163,43£

S 3,149

72

1.458
394

2.292
373

4.517

(252)

~
1,309

~

L~

S 2.562

393

81

3,036

388
2,853

139,.
---

3,393

(362)
(4,918)

~
(3,839)

~

~

$ 7,569
127,323

86

7,068
8,161
6,254
1,208

100,355
5,511

35,001
2,222
1,044

301,822

24,639
103,177
40,365
37,003
51,693
15,033

__'_,503
273,413

1,458
394

2,292
373

4,517

23,892

23,892
164,666

$ 188,558

S 5,504
128,822

142

7,228
7,658
6,956
1,215

76,989
8,024

33,669
1,456

277,663

21,624
92,163
39,096
28.962
49.131
15,650
3.044

249,670

388
2,853

1391.
3,398

24,595
(4,918)

19,677
144,989

S 164,666

As indicated earlier in this report, the increase in net assets in 2008 is largely attributable to
unspent program income in SG DHHS, The more significant increases in expenses in fiscal
year 08 as compared to fiscal year 07 are as follows:

Tribal government - Increased funding for the Advocacy Initiative, PACE operating
contribution, Higher Education scholarships, and a new initiative of a digitization project
along with discretionary incentives for all employees,

Health services - Increased funding for contract health, health equipment replacement,
WIC, health clinic construction, health clinic operations, drug abuse treatment and
rehabilitation, and all inclusive care for the elderly.
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Education services - Increased funding for the Immersion, Directed Studies, After School,
Arts Institute, Public School Outreach, and Community Investment programs and computer
upgrades for the training center.

Human services - Increased funding for the Indian Child Welfare, PL102-477 Child Care,
Family Preservation, Meth Reduction Initiatives, Senior Nutrition Sites, Child Support
Enforcement, Food Distribution, Rental Assistance, Juvenile Healing to Wellness programs
and Stoves, Heating, and AlC Assistance.

Community services - Increased funding for strategic initiatives of the Nation including Self
Help Community Buildings, Community Planning, CNE Inspections, Community
Organization Training and Technical Assistance, as well as Mutual Help Operations, Rural
Rental Operations, MEPA, and Proceeds of Sale related to Housing Activities.

Other tribal services - Decreased funding for Emergency Ice Storm Assistance and Tribal
Ejection Fund offset by increases for Gaming Commission, Water Planning, EPC Cultural
Resources, Pow Wow Grounds, Veterans Center, and Land Acquisition and Development.

Graph 1 depicts revenues by source for the Governmental Activities of the Nation.

Graph 1 - Revenue by Source - Governmental Activities

Unrestricted Investment
earnings

183%
Charges lex services and

Miscellaneous
2.23%

Grants and contributions not
restricted to specific

programs
33.73%

Dividends from Component
Units

11.76%
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Graph 2 depicts expenses by function for the Governmental Activities of the Nation.

Graph 2 - Expenses - Governmental Activities

Community Setviees r __­,...
:-::;;::::::====-_~Trihll ~emment

For more detailed information on the charts presented above, refer to the Statement of
Activities on page 28.
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SIGNIFICANT BUDGET VARIATIONS

The Nation's significant General Fund budget variations in 2008 were as follows (dollars in
thousands):

Variance Percentage Variance Percentage
Original Final Increase! Increase! Increase! Increase!

BUdget BUdget (Decrease) (Decrease) Ac1ual (Decrease) (Decrease)

Revenues:

Property Rentals 478 480 2 1,750 1,270 285%

Taxes, licenses, and fees 24,189 22,800 (1.389) (8%) 25,380 2,580 11%

Interest 1,997 1,998 1 2,706 708 35%

Dividends from component units 36,000 36.000 35,001 (999) (3%)

Other 1,159 5.183 4.024 347% 2,706 (2,477) (48%)

Expem:l~ures:

Tribalgollernment 29,118 38,081 8.963 31% 20.928 (17.155) (45'11)

Health services 7,198 11.598 4,400 81% 8.432 (3.166) (27%)

Education services 15,785 16,880 1,095 7% 10,304 (8.576) (39%)

Human services 3,797 4.167 370 10% 3.565 (602) (14'11)

Community Services 10,010 15,857 5.847 58% 10.342 (5.515) (35%)

Other tribal services 16,633 18,492 1,859 11% 8,753 (9,739) (53%)

Debt service 88 339 251 285% 339

Caprtal outlay 15,198 17,955 2,757 18% 5,154 (".801) (71%)

The Nation's Tribal Council approves a comprehensive annual budget prior to the beginning
of the fiscal year. During the year, budget modifications are submitted to Council based on
changes in levels of actual revenue and expenses. Variances between actual and final
bUdget are as follows:

General Fund Revenues:

Property rentals - Actual revenues were higher due to rental receipts formerly recorded
on HACN records.

Taxes, licenses, and fees - Actual revenues were higher due to receipt of tobacco taxes.

Interest - Actual income was greater than budgeted primarily due to larger cash
balances during 2008.

Dividends from component units - Cherokee Nation law requires that all corporations,
majority owned by the Nation, and incorporated under Cherokee Nation law pay a
dividend based on net income, currently 30%. Dividend income from component units
was lower than budget due to leveling of profits for the gaming operations.

Other - Actual revenues were less than bUdget due to certain contracts/agreements with
CNE and CNHS not producing the level of revenues as was bUdgeted, certain housing

23



activities budgeted in the General Fund are reported in the HUD (Special Revenue)
Fund, other housing activities not receiving the level of revenues as was budgeted, and
revenues from other housing activities were are reported as Property Rental revenues
though budgeted as Other revenues.

General Fund Expenditures:

Tribal government - The actual expenditures were less than budget, primarily due to
reserves established for cash match for grants, contingencies and capital improvements
which were not utilized in 2008.

Health services - Actual expenditures were less than budget mainly due to timing of
expenditures. Funds for contract health services and cancer/diabetes treatment and
prevention were obligated at year-end; however, the services were not yet provided
resulting in less expenditures than anticipated in the bUdget.

Education services - Actual expenditures were less than budget due to program budgets
not expended at the level originally planned and timing differences for distribution of
tuition which were budgeted.

Human services - Actual expenditures were slightly less than budget, due to program
budgets expended at lower than anticipated levels.

Community services - Actual expenditures were less than bUdget mainly due to timing of
several projects, including self-help waterlines and road construction and the assumption
of housing services formerly reported under HACN.

Other tribal services - Actual expenditures were less than budget, primarily as a result of
reserves for Motor Vehicle revenue allocations which are reserved in the current year
and expended in the following year.

Capital outlay - The Nation's budget included approximately $10 million for strategic land
and building purchases from the proceeds of the Arkansas Riverbed settlement funds.
Actual expenditures were less than budget partially due to timing of land and building
purchases.

CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

The Nation's capital assets, net of depreciation, at the end of fiscal year 2008 were
$95 million. The Nation has no public domain (infrastructure) capital assets. The following
table presents details of the Nation's capital assets, net of depreciation (dollars in
thousands):

Governmental Business-type

Activities Activities Total

Land and improvements $ 15,013 $ 81 $ 15,094
Construction in Progress 1,316 1,316
Buildings and improvements 67,543 518 68,061
Equipment 10,944 10,944

Tatal capital assets $ 94,816 $ 599 $ 95,415
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Additional information on the Nation's capital assets can be found in Note 8 on pages 63 ­
65 of this report.

The Nation's long-term debt at the end of fiscal year 2008 was approximately $59 million,
primarily related to Title VI loan proceeds and health clinic construction and expansion. The
following is a summary of long-term debt at September 30, 2008 (dollars in thousands):

Governmental
Activities

Notes payable
Bonds payable
Gapitalleases payable

Total long-term debt

$

$

2,564
28,460

1,821
32,845

Business4ype
Activities Total

$ 26,403 $ 28,967
28,460

1,821
$ 26,403 $ 59,248

The Nation, as a tribal government, has the ability to incur debt, similar to a state or local
government The Nation entered into an agreement with JP Morgan Chase, which was
previously Bank One, guaranteed by the United States Department of Housing and Urban
Development's Title VI program. The purpose of the credit facility was to loan money to the
HACN who, in turn, used the money in the building of affordable housing for Tribal citizens.
As of September 30, 2008, borrowings under this credit facility totaled approximately
$24,494,000.

The bond issuance, which occurred in 2007, provided the funding necessary to construct
new clinics in Muskogee and Nowata and expand the clinic in Sallisaw. The debt and
interest associated with this bond issuance is serviced through health third party revenues.

Additional information on the Nation's long-term debt can be found in Note 9 on pages 66 ­
72 of this report.

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR'S BUDGET

In 2008, the Nation completed construction of Health services facilities in Nowata and
Muskogee reSUlting in increased services and revenues due to the increased capacity and
expanded services. The Nation will continue to provide affordable housing for Tribal citizens
through housing rehabilitation, mortgage assistance programs and rental subsidies.
Budgeted expenditures and transfers for the Nation's General Fund for fiscal year 2009 total
$117 million, approximately $27 million less than the final amounts budgeted for fiscal year
2008 due to higher carryover funding in 2008 for one-time projects in areas such as land
acquisitions. The recently enacted American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) will
provide additional funding to the Nation through a series of grants and loans distributed by
various federal agencies. This one-time funding will be utilized by the Nation to address
infrastructure needs of the citizens, such as roads, water and sanitation and housing.

There continues to be significant new entries to the gaming market in Oklahoma as well as
expansions along the Oklahoma and Texas borders. While these additions to the market
are not direct competitors, they do offer competition for the regional customer.
Announcements and groundbreaking by other tribes in the Tulsa market provide direct
competition for the Nation's Catoosa casino operated by Cherokee Nation Enterprises, LLC
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rCNE-). To address the competitive factors, CNE has begun an aggressive growth and
development strategy for its flagship properties. Expansions continue to be underway for
Roland, West Siloam Springs and Catoosa. In addition to expansions, CNE continues its
innovative approach to offering the newest gaming options available as well as development
of proprietary games. CNE continues its initiatives to improve loyalty within its existing
customer base including targeted marketing and rewards programs.

CONTACTING THE NATION'S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Nation's finances to its
citizens. customers, creditors, and other interested parties. Questions concerning any of the
information contained in this report or requests for additional financial information should be
directed to the Nation's Controller's Office, Post Office Box 809, Tahlequah, Oklahoma,
74465.
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CHEROKEE NATION

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2008
lDoliars in Thousands)

Primary Government

Governmental Businen·type Component
Activities Activities Total Units

Asuts

C"s~ "nd cash eqUIvalents , 174,622 S 1,991 , 176613 S 62.300

I,westments 23.602 23.602 44.803

Accounts receIvable, nel 12,822 12.823 16.213

Interest receIvable '"Mortgages recervable. Title VI and partnerships. current ",
Due l,om other funds· Inlernal BalarlCes m (273)
Due 110m component un,ts 25' " m
Inventones 1,647 1,647 12,637

Notes receIvable '" 2 116 2,229 9
Other current assets 9.022 2 9,024 5,278

Restricted caSh cas~ eQUIvalents and Investments 30.0;2 2,631 32,703 30,441

long,term notes receivable 24258 24258 1,575

long·term mortgages ,ecelvable, lltle VI and partnerShipS 24,301

Delerred loan Issuance costs 1,334

Other assets 1.429 1.429 1,504

Investment In lo,nt ventureslpartnurshlps 4,979

CapItal assets, non depreciable 15.790 " 15,871 175,253

Cap'tal assets. depreciable, net 79.026 '" 79.544 204,510

TOlal assets 348,672 31.348 380,020 606,149-------

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued l,ab,l,tles 25,062 '" 25,234 89,642

Due to pnmary govemment m
Compensated absences 4,673 4,673

Other current liabilities 5,312 " 5,333

Unearned revenue '" 647 "Delerred grant revenue 94.116 94.118
Notes payable and long-lerm debt

Due wlll'"n or\e year 2.043 1,976 4,021 2,489

Due in more than one year 28,981 24,425 53.406 25.832

Caprtal leases
Due w'thin one year ", ",
Due in more than one year 1.318 1,318

Trust lIab,llhes 9,286

Other noncurrent liabilities 2.209 2.209

Totaillabilites 162,657 28.805 191,452 127,619

Net Assets
Invested In cap'tal assets, net 01 relaled debt 62,021 '" 5? 225 345,934

Restncted for
Molor vehicle ta>< 5,018 6,018
Tobacco surta_ 3 219 3,219

Permanent F-unds· e><pendable '" 143

Permanent funds - none><pendable ." 425

Judllmen\lunds . none_pendallie 3005 3005
Const'uct,on " " 17 866
Arkansas Io/,ver Orybed lands Settlement 2263 2263

Debl sery'ce 1,140 1 740 2555
Program serv'ces 19,910 19,910 29.517
Tsa-la G, repa,r and replacements '" '"

Umestncte<! net assets 81,255 2029 89,284 82,558

------
Total net assets S 186,015 , 2543 , 188.558 , 478.530

See nOles to basic tinanlcal stalements
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CHEROKEE NATION

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENOED SEPTEMBER 30, 2008
(Dollars In Thousands)

NlIlE.~"'I8)Revenue .nd
Program Rev'nun Ching" in Net Asaell

Primilry Government

Operating Capll.1

Ch'rv-s1or Gr.ntl .nd Gr.nll and Governmental Bu.i"....·lype Componlnl

fynC!lQnSIProor.m. ..§!E.en•., Ser"lllees Contrlbutlon. Contributions Actlvlti•• Actlvltl.. Total Unit.
Prlmilry Government:

Governmental aCllvltles
Tnbal government S 24,639 , , 97' $ 86 $ (23574) $ S (23.574) $
Health services 103,177 37,147 (56 030) (56 030)
Education servICes 40365 28298 112067) (12067)
Human servoces 37003 31,16<1 (5819) {S algI
Community services 51.693 1 120 25.367 (25206) (25.206)
Other Inbal servICeS 15033 3,300 4,348 (7385) (1 385)
Interest on long-term debt "'J3 (1 503) (1 503)

Total governmental activities 273413 4.420 127,323 86 (141,584) (141,584)

Buslness4ype aCllvllles

Tille Vlloan Fund 1 458 , 303 (155) (155)
Tsa-la·GI Aparlments ". m . . '31 '31
lanafill Operations 2292 1,126 (l.166) (1.166)
EDTA 313 '" (178) ( \ 78)

~

~

Tolal bUSiness-type aclivities 4,517 3,149 (1,368) (1.368)

TOlal pnmarygovernmem $ 277,930 $ 7.569 $ 127.323 , 86 (141,584) (1 368) (142.952)

Component Units $474,256 , 528742 , 12,023 $ $ 66.509

General Reveoues

Motor luellax 7088 7,088
Motor vehicle ta)! 8161 8161

Tobacco tax "" 6,254
SaleS tax 1.208 1,208

Grams and contnbullons not restricted to specifiC programs 100 355 100 355
Unrestricted lI'Ivestmenl earnlllQS S 439 72 5511 6.051
Dividends from component un;,s 35001 35001
Miscellaneous revenue 2,222 2,222 (3450)

G3If\J(loss) 00 Investments In Joint venllJ(e 760
Gillol(loss) on disposals 1,044 1044 $72

Transfers (1561) 1 561

Total general revenues ancllranslers I~ \67 2677 166 844 3933

Change in net assets 22,583 1 309 23.892 70,442

Net aSSetS beginnmg 163,432 "" '6'866 408088

Nel assels endln9 $ 186015 $ 2543 S 188,558 $ 478530

See notes to baSIC finanCIal statements
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CHEROKEE NATION

BALANCE SHEET. GOVERNMENTAl FUNDS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2008

{Doll• ..., in Thouundl'

"" s., Houling & on,,, ,...,
Governlnee Govem.nel UI1I.n Governmenlll Govemmen"l

Gene-ral DOl Ro.dl DHHS O,vllopmenl_ Fundi Funds-----
ASSETS

Cash and cash equIvalents S 64,036 S 34965 , 22,45', S 16,981 $ 36,140 S , 74 579
Investments 18,807 4,795 23602
Rece.Viltlles. net "'" 'OJ " 6 409 12538
Due Irom othef lunds 22.731 1 183 239U
Due !rom componenl untlS '" " ".
Inventoroes '" '" 1.490
Netes recerval:lle '" '"Other CUffent assets , ".. ... ,."
Restnete<l cash. cash elluoyalenls aM IRvestmenls 24446 4513 29019

101a1 assels , 116.112 S 34,965 , 25,41<1 S 36.... S 54..257 S 268.318

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

LIABilitiES
ACCOIJnts payabje and ac<:rued Ila~h~es

Due to other funds
Other currenl liabilitIes
Oelefred granltevenue
Unearne<l revenue

Totalliallililies

S 12.763 , S 3.981 , ,
"

, 16,184
19,' 30 3,482 4,709 , .939 8,755 38,015

" 'SO 'OS
31,483 2,ne 34.503 25,3$6 94.118

" OJ' '"31,919 34,965 11,466 36,442 35737 150,529

FUND 8A\.ANCES
FUnd balance

ResefVed by legIslative Act (Nole 12)

""""""' ...Cashreserw
10Dacc0 retatlers loan lund
Albns,u RIYeftled s.elllemenl
SHS MullJourpose C~mter

Tnbal judgemenlS and !rUsts
Reserved by external sources and enabling Ieglslaloon

Granl programs
Motor vehde tax
Tobacco sur1ax
Permanenl lunds
Judgment rUndS
Cap,tal PrOjecl, Fund
Reserved lor deDI servore

Unreserved. ul'ldeSlllnated reported IR (Note 12)

General FUnd

Total fund l)(llances

Totat hablk1les and lund l;laLances

30.782
1.256
, 000

7.950

"

6 0'8
3,2'9

34.652

84 893

I 116,112

\40\4

s

'"

36'
J6,l04

0"

,".

'"5,288
1 024
1,140

18510

S 54.2S7

30782

"", .000

,,'"
"• 38.

19.910
6.018
3.219

".
5.268
1.024
, 740

_~"_JlJ2_

117 189

Amounts reported lor govemmen1llI1IC\MtIeS IR the sta:emenl 01
net assets ilfe dJfIerent becaIlse
Caprtat assets net 01 aa:umutaled depreoa\lOfl used '"

governmental actMbes are not ttnafll»l resources and
lherefore are not reporle<lln me lunas 81210

Assets teco«led In government,WIde Ilnaoclaj statements
lhat are not availat>te 10 pay for current perIOd expendItures,
therefore, are nOl recorded ,n Ene r",rldS 7,366

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the
oosts ot certa", itCh,tles to IndiVidual lunas The assets and
IliIbo~hes at the Internal 5ervl(:e I",nds are Indlided In the
governmentat actlVlbeS In !he Statement of Nel Assets 11 113

ltabd.toes thaI are not due and :;Jayat>le lf1 me CUllenl pefOOd (31 ~2J)

and therefore not reported In lhe lunas
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CHEROKEE NATION

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES ANO CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES _

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2008
(Oollars in Thousandsl

Self Self Housing & Other Total
Governance Governance Urban Governmental Governmental

General 001 Roads DHHS Development Funds Funds

Revenues
Intergovernmental , , 18,715 , 71.069 , 31,232 , 82,554 , 203.570
Property rentals 1,750 1.750
Motor fuel tax revenues 7,088 7.088
Tax and license revenues 18,292 18,292
Interest 2,706 1.248 ,.. 1.068 1,523 7.189
Trust fund income 190 190
Dividends from component unrts 35,001 35.001
Health 3rd party revenues 286 15.785 370 17 .441
Other 2,420 , 99 533 3,953 7.006

Total revenues 57,733 19.954 88.597 32.833 88,400 297.527

Expenditures:
Current operating:

Tribal Government 20,926 357 '" 2,450 24.679
Health Services 8.432 70.810 23,767 103,009
I::ducatlon ServIces 10.304 532 29,725 40,561
Human Services 3,565 5,120 28,605 37.290
Community Services 10.342 18.694 3.909 24.128 7" 57.821
Other tribal services 8.753 " 1.409 4,435 14,640

Debt services
Principal 325 m 1,540 2,002
Interest " 52 '" '08

CapItal outlay 5,154 22 2,425 229 7,606 15,436
I atOll expenditures 67,815 18,716 77,733 32.354 99,718 296,346

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures (82) 1,248 10,864 '" (11.318) 1,181

Othel finanCIng sources (uses}'
Issuance of long-term debt 1,448 1,448
Insurance recoveries '" '" 244
Transfers in 11.538 , 4,007 t5,549
Transfers out (7.760) (1,248) (3,487) (239} (9,998) (22,732)

Total other financing sources (uses) 3.894 (1.248) (2.039) (07) (5,991) (5,491)

Net change in fund balances 3,812 8,825 362 (17.309) {4,310)

Fund balance, October 1 2007 81,081 5,189 35,829 122.099

Fund balance, September 30. 2008 S 84,893 S S 14,01. $ 362 S 18,520 S 117,789

See notes to basic financial statements
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CHEROKEE NATION

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2008

(Dollars in Thousands)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:

Net change in fund balances + total governmental funds

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the
statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated
useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. This is the amount by which
capital outlays exceeded depreciation in the current period.

The issuance of long+term debt provides current financial resources to
governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt
consumes the current financial resources of governmental funds. Neither
transaction, however, has any effect on net assets. Also, governmental funds
report the effect of issuance costs, premiums, discounts, and similar items when
debt is first issued, whereas these amounts are deferred and amortized in the
Statement of Activities. This amount is the net effect of these differences in the
treatment of long-term debt and related items.

Some expenses are reported in the Statement of Activities
when incurred and presented in the governmental funds when paid.

The internal service funds are used to account for those activities which provide
services to other functions within the government. These costs are allocated to
the governmental funds in the government- wide financial statements. This
amount is the net effect of the allocations.

Change in net assets of governmental activities

See notes to basic financial statements
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CHEROKEE NATION

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE-
BUDGET AND ACTUAL (GAAP BASIS) - GENERAL FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)

BUdgeted Amounts Variance with
Final Budget

Original Final Actual over/lunder)

Revenues
Property rentals $ '78 $ '80 $ 1.750 $ 1,270
Motor fuel tax 7,138 7,138 7.088 (50)

Taxes. licenses. and fees 17,051 15.662 18,292 2.630
Interest 1,997 1,998 2,706 708
Trust fund income 10' 10' 190 86
Proceeds of long term debt 209 (209)

Dividends from component units 36.000 36,000 35,001 (999)

Health 3rd party revenues 203 203 286 83
Other 1,159 5,183 2,420 (2,763)

Tolal revenues 64,130 66,977 67,733 756

Expenditures'
Tribal government 29,118 38.081 20.926 (17,155)
Health services 7,198 11,598 8,432 (3,166)
Education services 15,785 16,880 10,304 (6.576)
Human services 3,797 4,167 3,565 (6D2)

Community services 10,010 15,857 10,342 (5,515)
Other tribal services 16,633 18,492 8,753 (9,739)
Debt service 88 339 339
Capital outlay 15,198 17,955 5,154 (12,801)

Total expenditures 97,827 123,369 67,815 (55,554)

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures (33,697) (56,392) (82) 56,310

Other financing sources (uses}:
Insurance recoveries 116 116
Transfers in 13,989 25,812 11.538 (14,274)
Transfers out (17.401) (22.494) (7,760) 14,734

Total other financing sources (uses) (3.412) 3,318 3.894 576

Excess (deficiency) of revenues and other financing sources
over expenditures (37,109) (53,074} 3,812 56.886

Fund balance. October 1, 2007 81,081 81,081 81,081

Fund balance, September 30, 2008 I 43,972 $ 28,007 $84,893 I 56,886

See noles 10 basic financial statements
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CHEROKEE NATION

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS· PROPRIETARY FUNDS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)

Business-type Activities-
Enterprise Funds Governmental

Title VI Nonmajor Activities-

Loan Enterprise Internal
Fund Funds Totals Service funds

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash eqUivalents $ 122 $ 1.869 $ 1,991 $ 43
Accounts receivable. net 1 1 28'
Due from other funds 54' 544 17,403
Due from component units 21 21
InventOries 157
Notes receivable. current 2.009 109 2,118

Other current assets 2 2 213

Total current assets 2,152 2.525 4,677 18,100

Noncurrent assets:
Restricted cash and cash eqUivalents 2,631 2.631 1,053

Long-term notes receivable 22,485 1,773 24,256
Capital assets. net 599 599 13,546

Total noncurrent assets 22,485 5,003 27.488 14,599

Tolal assets 24,637 7,528 32,165 32,699

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities '7 as 172 6,525

Current portion of long-term debt 1,854 12' 1,978 513
Current portion of capital leases 230
Due to other funds 50 767 817 3,029
Compensated absences 4,673
Other current !iabiliHes 21 21 4,347

Total current liabllilies 1,991 997 2,986 19,317

Noncurrent liabilities:
Long-term debt 22.640 1.765 24,425 2,051
Capital leases payable 281
Other liabilities 2,146 2,146

~-----

Total noncurrent liabilities 22,640 3,931 26,571 2.332

Total liabilities 24,631 4,926 29,559 21.649

NET ASSETS
Invested In capital assets, net 0/ related debt 204 20' 10,471
Restricted 310 310
Unrestricted net assets/(de/icll) 6 2,066 2.092 579

Total net assets/(deflclt) $ 6 $ 2,600 2,606 $ 11,050

Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of Internal Service Funds actiVities related to Enterprise Funds (63)

Net assets of bUSiness-type actiVities $ 2,543

See notes 10 basic financial statements
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CHEROKEE NATION

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS - PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)

Business-type Activities-

Enterprise Funds Governmental
Title VI Nonmajor Activities-

Loan Enterprise Internal

Fund Funds Totals Service Funds

Operating revenues

Property rentals S S 518 S 518 S 3
Charges for services and goods 1,126 1,126 73.956
Other 29 29 210

Total operating revenues 1,673 1.673 74,169

Operating expenses
Cost of sales 5
Salaries and wages 517 517 56,511
Other services and charges 155 2.272 2,427 11,630
Materials and supplies 51 51 1,665
Depreciation and amortization 162 162 910

Tolal operating expenses 155 3,002 3,157 70,721

Operating income (loss) (15S) (1,329) (1,484) 3,448

Nonoperating revenues {e"penses):
Interest income 1,303 245 1.548 30
Interest expense (1,303) (73) (1,376) (158)
Gain/{Ioss) on sale of capital assels 1.044 1.044

Net nonoperating revenues {e"penses) 1,216 1,216 (128)

Income (loss) before transfers { 155} (113) (268) 3.320

Capital contribution 134
Transfers in 161 1,400 1,561 5,823
Transfers out (161 )

Change in net assets 6 1,287 1,293 9,116

Total net assets· beginnin9 1,313 1,934

Total net assets - ending $ 6 $ 2,600 S 11,050

AdJus1men110 reflec11he consolidallon of Internal Service Funds actiVIties related to Enterprise Funds 16

Change in ne1 assets of bUSiness-type actiVIties $ 1.309

See notes to baSIC finanCial statements
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CHEROKEE NATION

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)

Business-type Activities-
Enterprise Funds Governmental

Title VI Nonmajor Activities-
Loan Enterprise Internal
Fund Funds Totill Service Funds

Cash nows from opel<ltlng activities:
Receipts from customers $ • 1,644 S 1,644 S 73,875
Internal activity - payments from other funds 20 20 (13.720)
Payments to suppliers (196) (2.382) (2,578) (10.196)
Payments to employees (517) (517) (55.987)
Internal activ,ty . payments to other funds SO 303 3$3 1.655
Internal activity - payments from other Component Un,ts (21 ) (21) 64
Other receipts 29 29 "0

Net cash provjded/(used) by operahng activities {167) (903) (1 070) (4,099)

Cash flows 110m noncapital financing activilles
Transfer from other funds 1,400 1,400 5.823
Transfer to other funds (161 )
PrinCipal paymenl on notes payable (1.854) (68) (1,922)
Interest paymenl on notes payable (1.303) (16) (1,319)

Net cash provided by noncapilal financing activities (3, t57) 1,316 (1,841) 5,662

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
Purchases of capital assets {75} (75) (2,659)
Principal paid on capital debt (1,443) (1,443) (208)
Interest paid on capital debt (57) (57) (158)
Proceeds from sales of capital assets 1,258 1,258

Net cash (used) by capital and lelated
financing activities (317) (317) (3.025)

Cash nows from investing activities
Interesl and dividends 1,303 245 1,548 30
Payment received on notes receivable 1,854 1,854
Decrease(increase) on notes receivable, "ol (73) (73)

Net cash provided by investing activities 3,157 '" 3,329 30

Nel increase (decrease) in cash and cash eQuivalenls (167) 268 '" (1,432)

Cash and cash eQuiv3lents. October 1,2007 S289 4.232 4,521 2.528

Cash and cash equiv3lents, Sep1ember 30, 2008 S '" S 4,500 $ 4,622 • 1.096

Cash and Cash Equivalents consisl of:

Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents S '" • 1,869 • 1.991 • "Restricted cash i:lnd cash equivalents 2.631 2,631 1.053
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents. Sep1ember 30. 2008 • '" $ 4,500 • 4.622 $ 1,096

Reconciliation of opelatmg mcome (loss) to net cash provided
(used) by operatin9 activities

Operating income (loss) $ (155) S (1,329) $ (1,484) $ 3,448
Adjustments to reconcile opelating income to net cash

prOVided (used) by operating activities:
DepreCiation expense 162 162 9"

Change in assets and liabilities:
Receivables, net (21) 20 (' ) (13,740)
Inventories (8)

Other currenl assets 349
Accounts and other payables 9 2" 253 4.942

Net cash provided by (used for) opcralong activities S (167) $ (903) $ (1,070) S (4,099)

Noncash Investing, capl1at, and flnancon9 activl\les
Contflbutrons 01 capllal assets flom govClnmcnt ",

See notes to basic [manClal slatements

3S



CHEROKEE NATION

COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS _COMPONENT UNITS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2008
(Dollars in Thousaodsj

Cherokee
Nation

Businesses
LlC

(CNB)

Housing
Authority

of the Cherokee
Nation
IHACNj

Cherokee
Natiorl

Comprehensive
Care Agency

(CNCCA)

Cherokee
Nalion

HomeHealth
Services, Inc.

(CNHHS) Tolal
ASSETS

$ 82,300
19,326
44,803
16,213

'56
556

12,637
9

5,278

182,178

10,515
1,575

24301
1.334
1,504
4,979

379,763

423,971

606,149

3"

21

615

'56

61>

1,081

,138

111

"9

589
1,762

______p51

2,600

$, 69.688 , 12,343
19,926
27,196 17 ,607
15,589 199

'5'
556

12,637
9

4,944 '"
149,989 31,474

10,515
1,384 191

24,301
1,334

196 1,308
3.011 1,379

303 157 74,229

309.082 111,923

459,0"11 143.397
- .._----

CUffent assets
Cash and cash equ,valents
Restr,cted cash
Illvestments
ReceIvables, nel
Interest receJvable
MOl'1gages rece,vable-T'lle VI
Inventones
NOles lece,vable
Other current assets

Total assets

Reslrlcted Investments
Notes rece,vable
Mortgilges lece'vable-litle VI and par1nefsh,ps
Deferred loan Issuance costs
Other assets
Investment m partnersh,ps/joln! verttures
Capital assets, rtet

rotal noncurrent assets

lolal current assets

LIABILITIES

Current IH3bliities
Accounts payable artd aCClued IlaO,I,[,es
Due to primary governmerlt
Deferred revenue
Curfent pomon of rtotes payable
Currem po!110rl of 10rlg-term debt

Total currentl,ab,htles

89,002

226

89,228

"m
93

1,878

2,303

'3"

28

162

'"

357

808

89,642
m

93
1,878

611

92,501

I rust l'ablht,es
Notes Payable
Long-term debt

10tall,ab,I'lies
'"

89447

9,286
24,161

35.750

1,410

1 512 850

9.2B6
24,161

1,671

12',619

NET ASSETS
Invested m cap,tal assets. net of related debt
Restr'cted for

Debt serv,ce
Construcnon
Program serviceS

Unrestrtcted rtel assets

Total rlet assets lde~c't) ,

271,300

17,866

80,458

,

74,0%

2,555

29.617
1.380

107,647 $

323

lOS

1028 s

216

15

231

345.934

2.555
17 866
29617
82,558

S 47B,530.

See rtotes to baSIC financial statementS
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CHEROKEE NATION

RECAST OF THE COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES ANO CHANGES IN NET ASSETS·
COMPONENT UNITS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2008
(Oollilr5 il'l ThouSill'ldsJ

Discretely Govemmel'lt·wide • Stiltemel'lt of Activities
Presented Charges Operating Capitilt

Component Program '"' Grants and Gral'lts al'ld General
Units Err.penses Services Contributions Contributions Reven","

Opefahng revetlUes.
Chilrges IOf serwces and goods S 528.399 S S 528.399 S S S
Ga.., on Investments III /01111 ventllfes 760 760
OUlef 3<3 3<3

Total operating revenues 529.502 528.742 760

Operating c~penSl!S

Cost a! sales/operations 136.226 136.226
Salanes and wages 172,430 t72,430
! lOUSing assistance 6,443 6,443
Other Sel'\llCeS and charges 95.840 95,840
DepreCiatIOn and amonllalion 26.26-4 26.26-4

1otal operating e~penses 437.203 437.203

Operating Income (loss) 92.299 (437.203) 528.7-42 760

NOl'lOperallng revenues (e~penses)

Granl revenue 11.262 11.262
Funding proV1ded by pnmary government 7" 7"
Inlerestlinvestment Income 6.051 6051
Interest e~pense (1.966) (1.966)
Gam on disposal 01 assets 572 '"Other. net tH5O) (3.450)

Net nonoperatmg revenues (expenses) 13.230 (1.966) 12.023 3.113

Net Income (loss) 105.529 (439,169) 528.142 12.023 3,933
Dividends 10 pnmary govemmeot (35.001) (35.001)
Capital granlS 10 primary government ,86' ,86'

Change III net assels 10.....2 (474.256) 528.1"2 12.023 3.933

Net assets. beglMlllg 01 year 408.088 408.058

Net assels. end of year S ..18.530 S \..74.256/ S 528.742 S 12.023 S S .'2.02,

See notes to baSIC finanCial statements
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CHEROKEE NATION
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2008

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The basic financial statements of the Cherokee Nation (the ~Nation") have been prepared in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted rGAAP") in the United States of America
as applied to government units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board rGASS") is the
accepted standard~setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting
principles. With respect to proprietary activities, including component units, the Nation has adopted
GASB Statement No, 20, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Proprietary Funds and Other
Government Entities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting. The Nation has elected to apply all
applicable GASB pronouncements, as well as Financial Accounting Standards Soard ("FASB")
pronouncements and Accounting Principles Soard rAPS") Opinions issued on or before November
30, 1989, unless those pronouncements conflict with, or contradict. GASB pronouncements.

Reporting Entity - The Nation is a tribal organization with Executive, Legislative, and Judicial
Branches. The basic financial statements of the Nation present the reporting entity, which consists
of the primary government, organizations for which the primary government is financially
accountable, and other organizations for which the nature and significance of their relationship with
the primary government are such that exclusion could cause the Nation's basic financial statements
to be misleading or incomplete. Accordingly, the accompanying basic financial statements reflect
the financial position and the operations of the Cherokee Nation received, disbursed, or in the
custody of the Nation or the Bureau of Indian Affairs rBIA-) and the United States Treasury, as its
trustee, as well as all other funds and activities over which the Nation exercises financial
accountability. The Nation's basic financial statements do not indude the financial position or
activities of various federal and state governmental agencies operating within tribal lands. The
Nation determines its financial reporting entity in accordance with Governmental Accounting
Standards Board Statement No. 14, "The Financial Reporting Entity," as amended by GASS No. 39,
and based on that criterion, has induded the following entities as component units within the
Nation's basic financial statements:

Discretely Presented Component Units - The component units' column in the government~wide

financial statements includes the financial data of the Nation's discretely presented component
units. These discretely presented component units are reported in a separate column to emphasize
that they are legally separate from the primary government. Part of the determination for presenting
them as discretely presented component units is that they do not have substantially the same
governing body as the primary government nor do they provide services entirely or almost entirely
to the primary government or for the benefit of the primary government. The following component
units are included in the reporting entity because the primary government is financially accountable
for and is able to impose its will on these organizations.

Cherokee Nation Business, llC ("CNB") - eNS, a tribal limited liability company, was
created June 16, 2004, to provide shared services and strategic coordination to the Nation's
business entities, to diversify the Nation's business holdings and act as a holding
corporation for certain Nation investments in business enterprises. The Nation created
CNS and is able to exert significant influence over CNS's activities as a result of its
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relationship to CNS and board member appointments. As of September 30, 2008, CNS
held an interest in the following entities:

Cherokee Nation Enterprises, LLC ("CNE") - CNE is a tribal limited liability company
organized under the laws of the Cherokee Nation (the "Nation"). The Nation conducts all
of its gaming and entertainment activities through CNE. Prior to July 14, 2006, CNE was
a wholly owned tribal corporation of the Nation. On that date, CNE was converted from a
corporation to a tribal limited liability company, and ownership was transferred from the
Nation to CNS. For reporting purposes, CNE is included as a blended component unit of
CNS which is a discrete component unit of the Nation. CNE operates six casinos, a
horse racing facility with electronic gaming machines, two retail smoke shop facilities that
include electronic gaming machines and other retail facilities including an additional
smoke shop, a travel plaza, convenience stores and gift shops. CNE's gaming and
entertainment operations include food and beverage venues, hotels and motels, live
entertainment venues and an 18·hole and a 9-hole golf course. CNE is managed
through a board of directors appointed by the Principal Chief of the Nation and approved
by the Cherokee Nation Tribal Council. Separately issued financial statements for CNE
may be obtained from CNS's corporate office. CNE has two of its own blended
component units as follows:

Will Rogers Downs, LLC ("WRD") - WRD is a tribal limited liability company
organized under the laws of the Cherokee Nation created to own and operate a
horse racing and gaming facility and ancillary activities on nontribal lands in
Claremore, Oklahoma. CNE is the sole member owning 100% of the units of WRD.
The CEO of CNE is the designated manager of WRD. Based on the foregoing
criteria and in compliance with the provisions of Governmental Accounting Standards
Board ("GASS") No. 14 The Financial Reporting Entity, as amended by GASB 39,
WRD is included as a blended component unit in CNE's financial statements.
Separately issued financial statements with additional disclosures may be obtained
from CNS's corporate office.

Cherokee Hotels, LLC ("CHL") - CHL is a tribal limited liability company,
created on May 23, 2006, under the laws of the Cherokee Nation to own and operate
motels currently located in Catoosa and Roland, Oklahoma. CNE is the sole member
owning 100% of the units of CHL. The CEO of CNE is the designated manager of
CHL. Based on the foregoing criteria and in compliance with the provisions of
Governmental Accounting Standards Board ("GASB~) No. 14 The Financial
Reporting Entity, as amended by GASS 39, CHL is included as a blended
component unit in CNE's financial statements.

Cherokee Nation Industries, LLC ("CNI") - CNI is a tribal limited liability company
established in 1969 to meet the need for business development and to generate revenue
which helps the Nation and its members move toward economic self-sufficiency. Prior to
2008, CNI was owned directly by the Nation. In 2008, ownership of CNI was transferred
to CNB and is now presented as a blended component unit of CNS. CNI engages
primarily in the production, assembly, and repair of electronic component parts and
wiring systems, construction, and the provisions of certain contract medical services and
janitorial services for the U.S. Government.
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CNI has two of its own blended component units. These include:

Cherokee Nation Distribution, LLC ("CND") - CND was organized to earn
revenue predominately from production, distribution, assembly and repair of
electronic component parts and wiring systems.

Cherokee Nation Medical Services, LLC ("CMS") - CMS was organized to earn
revenue predominately from medical employee leasing contracts. Services include
recruiting, credentialing and placement of clinical, administrative, technical and
engineering personnel.

CND and CMS are for-profit limited liability companies owned by CNS and created under
the laws of the state of Oklahoma. CND and CMS are blended with CNI because they
are under common management and under direction of the CNI board of directors.

Cherokee Nation Waste Management, LLC ("CNWM") - CNWM is a tribal limited
liability company organized in 2008 for the purpose of operating the Cherokee Nation
Sanitary Landfill in Stilwell, Oklahoma, through an operating agreement with the
Cherokee Nation. CNWM is currently constructing a new waste cell and expects to open
for operations in 2009. CNS is the sole member of CNWM, which is included as a
blended component unit of CNB. CNWM assumed many of the contractual obligations
of the Nation relating to the landfill operation as of July 1, 2008, and is incurring various
costs to meet these obligations.

Cherokee Services Group, LLC ("CSG") - CSG is a tribal limited liability company
organized under the laws of the Nation in 2006 for the purpose of marketing certain
professional services to commercial enterprises, other tribes and state and federal
governments. CSG has received 8(a) certification from the US Small Business
Administration. CNS is the sole member of CSG which is included as a blended
component unit of CNB.

Cherokee Technologies, LLC ("CT") - CT is a tribal limited liability company
organized, on June 16, 2004, under the laws of the Nation created to facilitate CNS's
ownership in certain joint ventures. CNS is the sale member owning 100% of the units
of CT, which is included in CNS's financial statements as a blended component unit. As
of September 30, 2008, CT was inactive.

CNS directly holds joint venture interests in Cherokee CRC, LLC and Aerospace S.E., Inc. as
described below:

Cherokee CRC, LLC ("CCRC" - CCRC was formed in March 2005 in Tulsa,
Oklahoma, by CNS (51% ownership) and an individual (49% ownership). CNB accounts
for the investment in CCRC using the equity method. The targeted business of CCRC, a
Tribal-owned 8(a) firm is to engage in the business of providing services to customers in
the business described in environmental consulting services, engineering services,
remediation services, research and development in the physical, engineering and life
sciences, testing laboratories, and for customers in homeland security under
governmental contracts in which Section 8(a) status provides a competitive advantage.

Aerospace S.E., Inc. ("APSE") - APSE was formed in 1987 in Huntsville, Alabama.
On August 28, 2008, CNS acquired 75% of the stock of APSE, and APSE Holdings, LLC
acquired 25%. APSE is a distributor of aerospace fasteners and a provider of supply
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chain services. APSE is headquartered in Huntsville and has offices in San Antonio and
Wichita. CNB accounts for the investment in APSE using the equity method.

Housing Authority of the Cherokee Nation of Oklahoma - The Housing Authority of the
Cherokee Nation of Oklahoma (QHACN-) was created under the provisions of the laws of the
State of Oklahoma and provides affordable housing and other services to low income Native
Americans within the boundaries of the Nation. Effective October 1, 1997, the Native
American Housing Assistance and Self-Determination Act ("NAHASDA") was implemented.
The purpose of NAHASDA is to provide Federal assistance for Indian tribes in a manner that
recognizes the right of Indian self-determination and tribal self governance. This is
implemented through the use of an annual Indian Housing Plan submitted to the Department
of Housing and Urban Development (MHUD") for approval. Pursuant to Tribal Council
legislation, the Nation was designated the responsible party for the federally funded
NAHASDA program in 2000. Subsequent to that action various components of the IHP are
passed through the Nation to HACN under a Memorandum of Agreement ("MOA") for
implementation and day-to-day management. The Commissioners of the Housing Authority
are nominated by the Principal Chief and confirmed by the Tribal Council of the Cherokee
Nation. Based on the forgoing criteria and in compliance with the provisions of GASB No.
14 The Financial Reporting Entity, as amended by GASB No. 39, HACN is included in the
Nation's financial report as a discrete component unit.

Effective May 1, 2008, the Nation and HACN entered into a revised Memorandum of
Understanding rMOU-) whereby the Nation effectively assumed all housing operations
formerly perfonned by the HACN. The HACN continues to exist as a separate entity and
component of the Nation. The HACN continues to hold title to all real property, continues to
maintain custody over cash and investments associated with proceeds of sale and Monthly
Equity Payment Account CMEPA-) trust liabilities, continues to maintain assets and related
liabilities associated with the Title VI loan program and the Assumable Mortgage program,
and continues to provide the necessary guarantees associated with the Low Income Tax
Credit projects. The Group Leader of the newly created Housing Services Group of the
Nation serves as the Executive Director of the HACN. Additionally, the Board of
Commissioners have agreed to effectuate the transfer, effective October 1, 2008, of all Title
VI Notes and mortgages to the Nation as part of the ongoing consolidation of all housing
programs. Although HACN is effectively managed by the employees of the Nation, HACN is
still a separate distinct legal entity under the direction of a separate Board of Commissioners
and such Board of Commissioners still has considerable control over many of the financial
activities of the Housing Authority.

Cherokee Affordable Housing, Inc. ("CAH") - CAH is a non-profit 501 (c)3
corporation organized under the laws of the State of Oklahoma created primarily to
serve as the eligible 501(c)3 entity required to fill the position of general partner in the
low income housing tax credit partnerships and related projects that have been
developed by HACN and a third party developer. CAH's financial activity is limited only
to its role in the tax credit partnerships. The board of directors for CAH consists of the
same board members of HACN. The president for CAH is the executive director of
HACN. Based on the foregoing criteria and in compliance with the provisions of GASB
No. 14 The Financial Reporting Entity, as amended by GASB No. 39, CAH is included
as a blended component unit in the HACN's financial statements.

Cherokee Nation Comprehensive Care Agency ("CNCCA") - CNCCA, a tribal
governmental agency, was created to facilitate various Nation health care initiatives
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including the facilitation of joint ventures and other business related health activities.
CNCCA currently has two initiatives, which includes the Program of All-Inclusive Care for the
Elderly ("PACE") and a joint venture, Cherokee Health Partners, LLC ("CHP").

Program of All-Inclusive Care for the Elderly ("PACE") - PACE features a
comprehensive medical and social service delivery system using an interdisciplinary
team approach in an adult day care center that is supplemented by in-home and referral
services in accordance with participants' needs. The PACE program is financed by
Medicare, Medicaid, federal grants and through contributions of the Nation.

Cherokee Health Partners, LLC ("CHP") - CNCCA and the Tahlequah City Hospital
entered into a joint venture on September 28,2004, to create CHP which is 51% owned
by CNCCA. CHP is an imaging center located in the Tahlequah City Hospital. The
initial services to be provided are nuclear scans of the bones, heart, and lungs. CNCCA
has recognized its proportionate share of CHP's earnings and distributions resulting in a
carrying value of approximately $589,000 for the joint venture at September 30, 2008.

Cherokee Nation Home Health Services, Inc. ("CNHHS") - CNHHS, a tribal corporation,
was organized for the purpose of engaging in home healthcare services. The CNHHS is a
discretely presented component unit of the Nation and board members of CNHHS are
appointed by the Nation's Principal Chief and approved by the Nation's Tribal Council. The
CNHHS primarily earns revenues providing home health, hospice and other services to
residents of Cherokee and Delaware County, Oklahoma, and the surrounding area.

The financial statements for the discretely presented proprietary component units are presented as
part of the accompanying basic financial statements. Selected disclosures for the discretely
presented component units have been included in these notes to the basic financial statements.
Separately issued audited financial statements with additional disclosures may be obtained for
CNS, HACN, CNCCA and CNHHS from the Cherokee Nation Controller's office.

Blended Component Units - The Nation has one component unit whose operations are blended
with the financial data of the primary government. There is no distinction between the data of the
primary government and that of the component unit. The Nation's blended component unit is as
follows:

Cherokee Nation Economic Development Trust Authority - The Economic Development
Trust Authority ("EDTA"), a Community Development Financiallnstltution, as certified by the
U.S. Treasury Department. Cherokee Nation EDTA was created by Tribal Council
Legislative Act 36-89 as a mechanism to promote economic development. Its mission is to
provide opportunities for income generation through economic development, to provide
loans for business creation/expansion, and to provide loans to qualified individuals whom
have traditionally been denied through conventional lending sources. EDTA is a
governmental organization created as a separate body whose Soard of Directors is
appointed by the Principal Chief and confirmed by the Tribal Council even though EDTA's
governing board isn't the same as the Tribal Council. The Nation has the ability to appoint,
hire, reassign or dismiss the individuals responsible for management of the programs. EDTA
almost exclusively benefits the Nation as its largest activity is the operation of an employee
loan program for employees of the Nation. EDTA is presented as a proprietary fund in the
accompanying financial statements.
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Excluded Organizations - During 2008, the following not for profit organizations did not meet the
criteria for inclusion in the reporting entity as they are not individually material to the operations of
the Nation, and accordingly their financial operations are excluded from this report.

Cherokee Nation Educatjon Foundation

Cherokee National Historical Society

Beginning in fiscal year 2006, the Nation, CNE and the Cherokee National Historical Society
entered into an operations management Memorandum of Agreement ("MOA"). This MOA is
renewable on an annual basis upon agreement by the CNHS Board and the Nation. This event is
discussed more fully in Note 16.

Cherokee Nation law requires that all corporations, majority owned by the Nation, and incorporated
under Cherokee Nation law pay a dividend based on net income. The dividend rate was 30% for
FY2008. Dividends paid to the Nation and other related party transactions are discussed in Note 16.
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BASIS OF PRESENTAnON

Government-Wide Financial Statements - The government-wide financial statements provide
operational accountability information for the Nation as an economic unit. The government-wide
financial statements report the government's ability to maintain service levels and continue to meet
its obligations as they come due. The statements include all governmental activities and all
business-type activities of the primary government and its component units. Fiduciary funds and
fiduciary-type component units are omitted from the government-wide financial statements.

Fund Financial Statements - The accounts of the Nation are organized on the basis of funds,
each of which is considered to be an independent fiscal and accounting entity. The operations of
each fund are accounted for within separate sets of self-balancing accounts, which comprise its
assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues, expenditures, and transfers. The General Fund is always a
major governmental fund. Other major funds are determined as funds whose revenues,
expenditures/expenses, assets or liabilities are at least ten percent of the totals for all governmental
or enterprise funds and at least five percent of the aggregate amount for all governmental and
enterprise funds for the same item or funds designated as major at the discretion of the Nation.
Funds not classified as a major fund are aggregated and presented in a single column in the fund
financial statements. The Nation uses the following funds, grouped by fund type.

Governmental Funds - Governmental funds are those through which most governmental
functions of the Nation are financed. The acquisition, use, and balances of the Nation's
expendable financial resources and the related liabilities (except those accounted for in
proprietary funds) are accounted for through governmental funds.

General Fund - The General Fund represents the operating activities of the
tribal government. All unrestricted resources not accounted for in other funds
are reported in the General Fund.

Special Revenue Funds - Special revenue funds are used to account for
the proceeds of government grants or other specific revenue sources that are
restricted by law or administrative action to finance particular functions or
activities of the Nation. The following are the Nation's major special revenue
funds:

Self Governance·DOI·Roads - Established to account for funds
received from the Department of Interior ("DOl") to expand the
Nation's transportation activities such as planning, designing,
constructing, and maintaining transportation facilities. Roads
constructed with 001 funds are not capitalized by the Nation as they
are transferred to other governmental agencies upon completion.
These expenditures are generally presented as community service
expenditures in the accompanying financial statements.

Self Governance-DHHS - Established to account for funds
received under the Nation's Self Governance compact with the
United States Department of Health and Human Services rDHHS·).
These funds are used to administer a number of programs under
Indian Health Services nHS·) relating to health and human
services. These expenditures are generally presented as health
and community services expenditures in the accompanying
financial statements.

45



Housing and Urban Development - Established to account for
grant funds received from the Department of Housing and Urban
Development rHUD-) to improve living conditions and renovate
homes of Indian residents. During fiscal year 2008, the majority of
the services previously performed by the HACN, a discretely
presented proprietary component unit of the Nation, were assumed
by the Nation. These expenditures are generally presented as
community service expenditures in the accompanying financial
statements.

Permanent Funds - Permanent funds are used to report resources that are
legally restricted to the extent that only earnings, and not principal, may be used
for purposes supporting the Nation's programs. The Nation's Permanent Funds
contain two endowments, both of which allow the expenditure of income for
tuition and educational purposes, with the principal being unavailable for
disbursement. The trust agreements state the distributions of income shall go to
individuals one-quarter or more of Cherokee blood quantum. All fund balances
from the endowments are reserved.

Sequoyah Endowment - The Sequoyah Endowment was
established in fiscal year 1991 by the Louise K. Green-Matthews
Grant in Environmental Science in the amount of $134,000. It was
established to foster and encourage Cherokee students of at least
one-quarter blood quantum to engage in obtaining a graduate
education in Environmental Science or Natural Sciences. The
income from the trust is available to provide one to two grants
annually. The amount of net appreciation on the investment of the
Sequoyah Endowment is $73,000 which is the available amount
reflected in the fund balance.

Gammon Education Trust - The Glenn and Faye Gammon
Education Trust was established in fiscal year 2001 by a willed
contribution of $291,000 to provide Cherokee higher education
scholarships. In accordance with the will, income from the trust is
used to provide tuition and related educational, travel and living
expenses for Cherokee students with a blood quantum of one­
quarter or more. The amount of net appreciation on the investment
of the Gammon Education Trust is $70,000 which is the available
amount reflected in the fund balance.

Debt Service Funds - Debt service funds are used to report resources that are
set aside to meet current and future debt service requirements on general long­
term debt.

Capital Projects Funds - Capital project funds are used to report resources
that are used to report major capital acquisition and construction separately from
ongoing operational activities.

Governmental fund financial statements include a balance sheet and a statement of
revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances for all major governmental funds and
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nonmajor funds aggregated. A reconciliation is presented to summarize the differences in
fund balances of the governmental fund financial statements and the net assets of the
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. These differences are
further explained in Note 2 to the basic financial statements.

Proprietary Funds - Proprietary funds are used to account for the Nation's ongoing
organizations and activities which are similar to those often found in the private sector where
the intent is that costs of providing goods and services be recovered through user charges.
The proprietary funds maintained by the Nation are internal service funds, enterprise funds,
and discretely presented component units, which represent the activities of the various
entities established by the Nation for income and job producing purposes.

Internal Service Funds - Internal service funds are used to report activities
which provide goods or services to other funds, departments, or agencies of the
primary government and its component units, or to other governments, on a cost­
reimbursement basis. The Nation includes services such as internal leases,
force accounts, fringe pool, and indirect cost pool in these funds. Substantially
all internal service funds' net assets and activities are combined with the
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. Note
disclosures for governmental activities also include related amounts for the
internal service funds.

Enterprise Funds - The enterprise funds are proprietary funds that are used to
report activities for which a fee is charged to external users. The Nation
accounts for its Title VI Loan Fund, Tsa-La-Gi Apartments, Landfill Operations,
Economic Development Trust Authority ("EDTA") and Other enterprise activities
in these funds. The Nation's only major enterprise fund is as follows:

Title VI Loan Fund - Established to account for borrowing and
lending activities related to the United States Department of
Housing and Urban Development Title VI loan agreement, the
proceeds of which are obtained from federal government
guaranteed bank financing and subsequently loaned to the
Cherokee Nation Housing Authority, a component unit of the
Nation.

Component Units - See pages 39 - 43 for descriptions of discretely presented
component units.

Enterprise and jnternal service fund financial statements include a statement of net assets, a
statement of revenues, expenses and changes in fund net assets, and a statement of cash
flows. The enterprise fund financial information is presented under the business-type
activities columns. A column representing internal service funds is also presented in these
statements, with the internal service funds' net assets and activities combined with the
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.
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MEASUREMENT FOCUS AND BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

Measurement Focus - The measurement focus determines the accounting and financial reporting
treatment applied to a fund. The governmental and business-type activities within the government­
wide Statement of Net Assets and Statement of Activities are presented using the economic
resources measurement focus. The economic resources measurement focus meets the accounting
objectives of determining net income, financial position, and cash flows.

The fund financial statements use either the current financial resources measurement focus or the
economic resources measurement focus as appropriate. Governmental funds use the current
financial resources measurement focus. This measurement focus is based upon the receipt and
disbursement of current available financial resources rather than upon net income. The
measurement focus of the proprietary fund types, the flow of economic resources, is based upon
determination of net income, financial position and cash flows.

Basis of Accounting - The accrual basis of accounting is used throughout the government-wide
financial statements; conversely, the financial statements of the General Fund, Special Revenue
Funds, and Permanent Funds have been prepared in accordance with the modified accrual basis of
accounting, whereby revenues are recognized when considered both measurable and available to
finance expenditures of the current period. The Nation accrues intergovernmental, property rentals,
dividends, and tax revenues based upon this concept. Expenditures are generally recognized when
the related fund liabilities are incurred and become payable in the current period. Proceeds of debt
are reported as other financing sources; and principal and interest on long-term debt are recorded
as expenditures when paid.

The financial statements of the Enterprise Funds, Internal Service Funds, and the proprietary
component units have been prepared in accordance with the accrual basis of accounting.
Accordingly, revenues are recorded when earned, and expenses and related liabilities are recorded
when incurred.

Accounting Policies - The Nation's significant accounting policies related to the following basic
financial statement categories are summarized below:

Cash and Cash EqUivalents - The Nation considers all highly liquid investments in debt
securities with maturities of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. A
"pooled cash" concept is used in maintaining certain cash accounts in the accounting records.
Under this method, cash is pooled and each fund participating in the pool has equity in the pooled
amount. Pooled cash accounts consist principally of interest-bearing and non-interest-bearing
demand deposit accounts.

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents - Amounts represent certain bank account balances
restricted for specific purposes as described in Note 4.

Investments -The Nation reports investments at fair value. Fair value is determined using quoted
market prices.
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Inventories

• Inventories of governmental funds are recorded as expenditures when consumed rather than
when purchased.

• The Nation, through its participation in the Clinics Program, maintains an inventory of
pharmaceutical drugs received from the DHHS. Title to these inventories does not pass to the
Nation, which acts only as a distribution agent for the federal government. The value of drugs
on hand related to this program has not been included in the Nation's financial statements.

• The Nation maintains an inventory of the food received for disbursement from Cherokee
Nation's Food Distribution program. Food acquisitions are initially recorded as inventory and as
deferred revenue and are charged to expenditures as used, using the First In, First Out ("FIFO")
method. Food inventories are valued at the cost assigned to such food items by the granting
agency.

• The Nation maintains an inventory of housing materials to be used in the construction of the
Homeownership Build Packages. This is a self~help program where clients will provide 60% of
the work and will reimburse the Nation for the cost of materials.

• CNS's Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market and consist primarily of raw
materials and manufactured products, food and beverage items, gaming supplies, hotel
supplies, smoke shop, convenience store and gift shop inventory. Costs of raw materials and
manufactured products are determined using the first~in, first~out method. Cost of supplies is
determined by the average cost method with retail inventories stated at first-in, first~out.

• HACN, as a result of the operation of the Title VI Loan program primarily, has built or acquired a
number of homes in various locations in anticipation of the expected demand for the homes as
well as homes for specific homebuyers in accordance with an agreement with them. These
homes are presented as inventory by HACN.

Capital Assets - The Nation's accounting policies regarding capital assets such as land,
buildings, vehicles, and equipment are that these assets, with an initial cost of $5,000, or more are
to be capitalized and depreciated over their estimated useful lives. Purchased or constructed
capital assets are valued at historical cost or estimated historical cost. Donated capital assets are
recorded at fair value at the date of the donation. Title to certain property and buildings utilized by
the Nation, such as Sequoyah High School, the Child Care Development Center, and other land is
held by the federal government. Therefore, such assets are not reflected as capital assets in the
accompanying financial statements. The Nation has chosen the straight-line depreciation method
for its capital assets based on the estimated useful lives of the capital assets as follows:

Class of Asset

Buildings and improvements
Equipment
Land Improvements

Estimated Useful Life

20-50 years
3-20 years
30 years

The Cherokee Nation has the ability to request that land owned by the Nation and its component
units be placed into trust status with the United States of America in Trust for the Cherokee Nation
nrust status"). If land is accepted into trust status, the Nation and its component units have the
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ability to continue using the property. Activities such as the Nation's gaming activities can only be
conducted on land held in trust status. When land goes into trust status, the title to the property is
transferred to the Federal Government. Under generally accepted accounting principles this land is
removed from the books of the Nation or its component units since the Nation no longer has title to
the land. At September 30, 2008, there were various parcels of land owned by the Nation and its
component units that the Nation has requested to be placed into trust status. The cost basis of this
property will be written off by the Nation when, and if, the property is accepted into trust status.

The Nation accounts for the impairment of capital assets using the guidance provided in GASB
Statement No. 42, ~Accounting and Financial Reporting for Impairment of Capital Assets and for
Insurance Recoveries". GASS Statement No. 42 provides a two-step process of identifying
potential impairments and testing for impairment. Asset impairment, as defined by GASB Statement
No. 42, is a significant, unexpected decline in the service utility of a capital asset. Governments
generally hold capital assets because of the services the capital assets provide; consequently,
capital asset impairments affect the service utility of the assets. The service utility of a capital asset
is the usable capacity that at acquisition was expected to be used to provide service, as
distinguished from the level of utilization, which is the portion of the usable capacity currently being
used. The events or changes in circumstances that lead to impairments are not considered normal
and ordinary. At the time the capital asset was acquired, the event or change in circumstances
would not have been expected to occur during the useful life of the capital asset. The Nation had
no impaired assets at September 30, 2008.

Fund Financial Statements - In the fund financial statements, capital assets used in
governmental fund operations are accounted for as capital outlay expenditures of the governmental
fund upon acquisition. Capital assets used in proprietary fund operations are accounted for in the
same manner as in the government-wide statements.

Deferred Grant Revenues - The Nation is the recipient of grants from several different federal
and state agencies. In some instances, the grants are advance funded. The Nation records these
grants as deferred revenue until the funds are expended in accordance with the grant terms.

landfill Closure and Postclosure Care Costs - The Nation, based on the cumulative amount of
used capacity, accrues the currently estimated liability for closure and postclosure care costs for the
Nation's landfill operation which is now operated by CNS, LLC, a discretely presented component
unit of the Nation. Such estimated costs include expected equipment and facility costs, costs of the
final cover and postclosure care. The liability recorded by the Nation at September 30, 2008 is
based on the assumption that the Landfill will be operated by CNS to its full designed capacity.

Taxes - The Nation is exempt from federal and state income taxes; consequently, no provision for
income taxes is included in the accompanying financial statements for any fund.

Tsa-La-Gi Apartments are registered as tribal lands held in trust. As such, it is exempt from the
payment of property taxes.

CNE, a blended component unit of CNS, pays a gaming tax based on the previous year's gross
revenues pursuant to provisions of the National Indian Gaming Regulatory Act. Amounts owed
under the gaming tax are paid to the National Indian Gaming Commission rNIGC") and have been
reflected within operating expenses in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net
Assets. Total payments for fiscal year 2008 were approximately $188,000.
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Compensated Absences - Vacation leave for the primary government is granted to all permanent
full-time and eligible part-time employees. The annual amount of vacation time accrued varies,
depending upon years of service, from 13 to 26 days for full-time employees. Permanent part-time
employees earn vacation leave according to the pro-rata full-time hours worked. The maximum
amount of vacation that may be accumulated and carried over to the following year is 30 days.
Accumulated vacation leave vests, and the Nation is obligated to make payment, even if the
employee terminates. Compensated absence liabilities are computed using the regular pay rates in
effect at the statement of net assets date plus an additional amount for compensation-related
payments such as social security and medicare taxes compiled using rates in effect at that date.

Upon request from the employee and approval by the supervisor and Human Resources, the
Cherokee Nation annually buys back designated amounts of accrued annual leave from
Regular/Full Time and Regular/Part Time employees, subject to restrictions based on funding
agency guidelines as well as fund availability. In Fiscal Year 2008, the Cherokee Nation bought
back $779,000 of accrued annual leave.

Net Assets Classifications

Government-Wide Statements - Equity is classified as net assets and displayed in three
components:

1. Invested in capital assets, net of related debt - Consists of capital assets, net of
accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of any notes or other
borrowings attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets.

2. Restricted net assets - Consists of net assets with constraints placed on the use either by
external groups, such as grantors or laws and regUlations of other governments, or law
through Tribal constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. It is the Nation's policy to
use restricted net assets prior to the use of unrestricted net assets when both restricted and
unrestricted net assets are available for an expense which has been incurred.

3. Unrestricted net assets - All other assets that do not meet the definition of Urestricted~ or
"invested in capital assets, net of related debt."

Fund Financial Statements - Governmental fund equity is classified as fund balance. Fund
balance is further classified as reserved and unreserved. Proprietary fund equity is classified the
same as in the government-wide statements.

Revenue Recognition - The Nation considers revenue to be susceptible to accrual in the
governmental funds as it becomes measurable and available, as defined under the modified accrual
basis of accounting. The Nation defines the availability period for revenue recognition as ninety
(90) days. The Nation's major revenue sources that meet this availability criterion are tax revenues
and dividends declared by component units.

Program Revenues - There are two classifications of programmatic revenues for the Nation,
grant revenue and program revenue. Grant revenues are revenues from federal, state, and private
grants. These revenues are recognized when all applicable eligibility requirements are met and are
reported as intergovernmental revenues. The primary source of program revenue is earned income
in connection with the operation of the Nation's clinics and other health-related services, which are
funded by the Department of Health and Human Services ("DHHS") Self Governance Compact.
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Under the provisions of the Self Governance Agreement with DHHS, the Nation is required to
expend this program income for purposes similar to those funded by the basic DHHS Self
Governance Compact. There are no specific requirements designating when or in what order
program and other self governance funds should be spent. Program income earned from clinic and
other health-related services during the year ended September 30, 2008 was approximately
$17 million.

Grants and contributions not restricted to specific programs - In the government-wide
Statement of Activities, the Nation's Self Governance compacts are reported as General Revenues
because under these compacts the Nation has discretion in the application of these funds to
specific programs administered under the general provisions of the compacts. Compacts reported
as General Revenues include Self Governance 001 Roads, Self Governance DHHS, and Self
Governance 001 Other.

Operating and Non-Operating Revenues and Expenses - In the Proprietary Funds and
component units, operating revenues are those revenues produced as a result of providing services
and producing and delivering goods, including all transactions and other events. Non-operating
revenues are funds primarily provided by investing activities, such as interest income and Federal
grants received by HACN. Operating expenses are those expenses related to the production of
revenue. Non-operating expenses are those expenses not directly related to the production of
revenue, and include items such as interest expense and losses on disposal of assets.

Interest Income - Interest income is recorded as earned in the fund holding the interest bearing
asset.

Interest Income-Self Governance Compacts - The Nation receives certain amounts of advance
funding as a self governance compact tribe in three large self governance compacts with the 001
and DHHS. These funds are invested in interest-earning assets until the funds are expended under
the terms of the self governance compacts. The Nation need not refund the interest earnings under
these compacts and is not directly accountable to the DOlor the DHHS for the expenditure of these
interest earnings. The discretionary interest is recorded in the Self Governance funds but is
allocated to other programmatic expenditures through the budgeting process.

Interest Income-Grants - The Nation receives certain amounts of advance funding in connection
with three large grants: (1) NAHASDA, funded by HUD, (2) the Sequoyah High School Grant, which
is funded by the DOl, and (3) PL-102-477 which is funded by the Department of Labor ("DOL") and
the DHHS through the DOL The applicable legislation and regulations for each grant authorize the
earning of interest on advance payments; the use of which is governed by the same.

Internal Activities - The Nation's policy for eliminating internal activities in the Government-Wide
Statement of Activities is the look-back approach. This method prescribes that the internal service
funds operate on a breakeven basis. The net profit or loss on an internal service fund is to be
allocated to the government's programs/departments that benefited from the goods or services
provided based on their proportionate benefit.

Indirect Costs - The Government-Wide Statement of Activities does not use a separate column to
identify allocated indirect costs since the allocation is automatically calculated. Indirect costs are
included in the program operating expenses reported for individual functions and activities in the
fund statements.
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The Nation's indirect cost plan utilizes a fixed rate with carryforward. To the extent that actual
indirect cost expenses differ materially from indirect cost recoveries, the difference is recorded as
deferred revenue (overrecovered) or a deferred charge (underrecovered) and reversed in the period
the difference is used to adjust the indirect cost rate.

Budgets and Budgetary Accounting Policies - Title 62, §31~32 provides the legal level of
budgetary control for the Cherokee Nation. The Executive and Finance Committee of the Council,
upon direction of the Treasurer and with advisement from the Controller, shall formulate an annual
appropriations bill. The bill shall contain the legal budgeted annual revenue and expenditures for
the general fund and enterprise funds for the executive, legislative, and jUdicial branches of
government. The functional level (e.g. health services) is used for reporting the legal level of
budgetary control. The sources of revenue may be based upon estimates. The bUdgeted
expenditures for these funds shall not exceed total estimated revenues and beginning fund balance
and net assets. The Executive and Finance Committee of the Council, upon direction of the
Treasurer and with advisement from the Controller, shall be responsible for proposing amendments
to the annual appropriations law based upon material changes in real or estimated revenues and
expenditures that affect the total amounts budgeted. Management budgets are developed at the
accounting unit level. Any amendments to the annual appropriations bill shall be presented to the
full Tribal Council for consideration and passage. Any funds received by the Cherokee Nation, the
use of which is determined by the granting or contracting agency (special revenue funds) shall be
used only for those purposes and under those conditions for which the funds are made available
and such funds are not SUbject to legal appropriation by the Tribal Council.

The basic financial statements contain a budget and actual comparative statement for the General
Fund, a legally budgeted fund. A budgetary statement for Enterprise Funds, which are also legally
budgeted, is included in the budgetary information section of Other Supplementary Information.

Budgets for the Nation are prepared on the same basis of accounting as the financial reports;
therefore, no reconciliation is necessary.

Management Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues, expenditures, and expenses during the reported
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

2. RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The governmental fund balance sheet includes a reconciliation of total fund balance of the
governmental funds to the total net assets of the governmental activities in the statement of net
assets. One element of that reconciliation explains that ~capital assets, net of accumulated
depreciation, used in governmental activities are not financial resources and therefore are not
reported in the funds.~ The details of this $81,270,000 capital assets used in governmental
activities are as follows (dollars in thousands):
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Capital assets, net
Less: Internal service fund capital assets

Capital assets used in governmental activities

$ 94,816
(13,546)

$ 81,270

The next element of the reconciliation is the debt issuance costs of $1,366,000 and the MOA with the
State of Oklahoma for road improvements in Tulsa County of $6,000,000 which states Kthe assets
recorded in government-wide financial statements that are not available to pay for current period
expenditures. therefore, are not recorded in the funds'-

Debt Issuance Costs - governmental funds
Amortization of debt issuance costs - governmental funds
MOA with State of Oklahoma for road improvements in Tulsa County

Net Adjustment to increase fund balance - total governmental
funds to arrive at net assets - governmental activities

$ 1,438
(72)

6,000

$ 7,366

The final element of that reconciliation, excluding the net assets of the internal service funds of
$11.113,000, explains that Kliabilities are not due and payable in the current period and, therefore,
not reported in the funds," The details of this $31,523,000 difference are as follows (dollars in
thousands):

Long-term debt - governmental funds
Accrued bond interest - governmental funds
Accounts payable· governmental funds

Net Adjustment to decrease fund balance - total governmental
funds to arrive at net assets - governmental activities

$ 29,770
437

1,316

$ 31,523

$ 15,436
(3,386)

A reconciliation of the net change in fund balance - total governmental funds reported in the
statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance for the governmental funds to
the change in net assets of governmental activities reported in the statement of activities is
presented in the accompanying basic financial statements.

One element of this reconciliation explains "governmental funds report capital outlays as
expenditures. However, in the statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their
estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. This is the amount by which capital
outlays exceeded depreciation in the current period.K The details of this $12,050,000 difference are
as follows (dollars in thousands):

Capital expenditures in governmental funds capitalized on government-wide
financial statements
Depreciation expense

Net Adjustment to increase net changes in fund balances - total governmental
funds to arrive at changes in net assets of governmental activities $ 12,050
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Another element of that reconciliation states that Uthe issuance of long-term debt provides current
financial resources to governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt
consumes the current financial resources of governmental funds." The details of this $482,000
difference are as follows (dollars in thousands):

Debt principal payments
Amortization of debt issuance costs
Proceeds from long term debt - capital projects

Net adjustment to decrease changes in fund balances-
total governmental funds to arrive at changes in net assets of
governmental activities

$ 2,002
(72)

(1,448)

$ 482

Some expenses are reported in the Statement of Activities when incurred and presented as
expenditures in the governmental funds when paid. The details of this $5,261,000 difference are as
follows (dollars in thousands):

Additional capital outlay expense and loss on disposal
Bond interest expense
MOA with State of Oklahoma for road improvements in Tulsa County

Net adjustment to increase changes in fund balance -
total governmental funds to arrive at changes in net assets of
governmental activities

$ (302)
(437)

6,000

$ 5,261

The final element of that reconciliation states that Uthe internal service funds are used to account for
those activities which provide services to other functions within the government. These costs are
allocated to the governmental funds in the government-wide financial statements. This amount,
$9,100,000 is the net effect of the allocations."

3, STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY

The Internal Service Funds' Force Accounts the Enterprise Funds' Landfill had net deficits of
$48,000, and $579,000 respectively, at September 30, 2008. If the above deficits cannot be
recovered in future years through operating revenues and normal transfers, the General Fund may
be required to cover the deficits.

4. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the Nation's deposits may not be
returned. Cherokee Nation statute requires that funds be deposited in a financial institution insured
either by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or Federal SaVings and Loan Insurance
Corporation. All balances in excess of insurance limits require pledged collateral from the financial
institution. All deposits of the primary government were either insured or covered by pledged
collateral with the exception of Bank of America. At September 30, 2008, there was a deposit
uninsured and under collateralized by $25,000 which was corrected in October 2008. Component
units' deposits of $2,230,000 at September 30, 2008 were uninsured and uncollateralized.
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Investments - The Nation's permissible investments include corporate obligations, United States
Government obligations and Certificates of Deposit. For investments, custodial risk is the risk that
in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the Nation will not be able to recover the value of its
investments in the possession of an outside third party. The Nation's investment policy does not
specifically address custodial credit risk; however, investments are held by third party custodians in
the Nation's name,

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value
of an investment. The Nation manages interest rate risk by maintaining a balance of highly liquid
investments and a -ladder" approach to long term investments. Funds are invested in blocks,
normally of $1,000,000 or greater, with maturities ranging from one to five years. Any investment
with a maturity date of over five years requires CN Tribal Council approval.

CNB and its component units' interest rate risk was minimized by the highly liquid nature of its
deposits and investments. At September 30, 2008 all deposits and investments were highly liquid
and generally subject to re-pricing on a short-term basis.

Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the
holder of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized
statistical rating organization. It is the Nation's policy to limit its investments in corporate bonds to
the top two ratings issued by nationally recognized statistical rating organizations rNRSRO's-).
The Nation's investments in U.S. agencies and Commercial paper were rated AAA by Standard &
Poor's and Fitch Ratings and Aaa by Moody's Investors Service. The Nation's and CNB's mutual
fund bond investments were rated AAA by Standard & Poor's and Aaa by Moody's Investors
Service.

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of the Nation's investment
in a single issuer. The Nation's investment policy does not specifically address concentration of
credit risk. Of the total primary government's investments, $893,000, or 8%, is invested in Fannie
Mae securities, $831,000, or 7%, is invested in Federal Farm Credit Bank securities, $2,029,000, or
18%, is invested in Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation securities and $754,000 or 7%, is
invested in Federal Home Loan Bank securities.

CNS and its component units' follow the investment policy of the Nation in determining investment
choices. Deposits in money market mutual funds, which totaled $56,816,000 at September 30,
2008, were rated AAA by Standard and Poor's.

On December 10, 2007, CNE was notified by Bank of America that the Strategic Cash Portfolio had
been closed to new deposits and cash withdrawals. CNE's balance in the Portfolio on the date of
the closing was approximately $84.8 million (84.8 million units at $1 net asset value per unit
rNAV»). CNE has the option of taking its proportionate share of the underlying investments as an
in-kind distribution, but has elected to remain in the Portfolio. The Portfolio is being liquidated and
distributed to investors at Columbia's discretion based on maturities and sales of under1ying assets
in the Portfolio.

During 2008, subsequent to the closing date, CNE received distributions totaling $55.2 million
representing 56.4 million units. At September 30, 2008, the remaining 28.4 million units had a NAV
of $0.9572 or $27.2 million. The total decline in NAV of the Portfolio was $2.4 million during 2008
and is included in other expenses in the component units' statement of revenues, expenses and
changes in net assets. CNE recognized interest income of $2.3 million associated with this
investment in 2008. SUbsequent to the closing, the Portfolio was no longer rated. While the



majority of the underlying investments in the Portfolio are investment grade securities, the Portfolio
is subject to risk that the underlying securities will not mature or be redeemable at par. The credit
risk associated with the Portfolio is a component of the overall NAV. As of February 23, 2009, the
NAV of the Portfolio was $0.8283

At September 30,2008, cash and cash equivalents include $5,133,000 in a repurchase agreement
at a bank under which CNI owned a government sponsored entity 15-year pass-through mortgage
pool with an implicit rating of AAA by Standard and Poor's, which was held by a third-party
custodian as an agent for CNI, which is fully guaranteed by the U.S. government or its agencies.

Investments, categorized as to interest and credit risk, at September 30, 2008 were as follows
(dollars in thousands):

Investment Maturities (in Years)

Fair Less Than More Credit Rating
Investment Type Value 1 1 - 5 6· 10 Than 10 Moody's/S&P

Primary Government:

Money market mutual funds $ 6,872 $ 6,872 S $ $ (1 )

Government sponsored entities 4,506 3 353 1,190 2,950 AaalAAA

Total Primary Government ~ 11,378 $ 6,875 S 363 $ 1,190 $ 2,950

Component Units:

Money market funds $ 59,822 $ 59,822 $ $ S (1)

Government obligations fund 12,405 11,897 508 AAAJAaa

Government sponsored entities 4,426 399 4,027 AAAJAaa

Repurchase agreement 7,620 7,620

Strategic cash portfolio 27,200 27,200
-~~

Total Component Units $ 1.11 J 473 $ 106.,938 $~~§ 1_- $

(1) While these Money Market Mutual funds and Money market funds do not have formal ratings,
they are Governmental or Institutional type funds that are invested only in securities that have the
highest short term rating from at least two NRSRO's.

A reconciliation of the investments for the Primary Government presented above to the investments
as presented in the statement of net assets follows (in thousands):

Investments as presented above:
Plus Certificates of Deposit reported as investments

Less Money market funds recorded as Restricted Cash & Cash
Equivalents & Investments

Less Money market funds recorded as Cash & Cash Equivalents
& Investments

Total investments
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11,378
19,096

(2,263)

(4,609)

23,602



A reconciliation of the investments for the Component Units presented above to the investments as
presented in the statement of net assets follows (dollars in thousands):

Investments as presented above:
Plus Certificates of Deposit reported as investments and restricted
investments

Less Government Obligations recorded as Gash & Cash Equivalents

Total investments

$

$

111,473

20,162
(76,337)

55,316

Restricted Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments Restricted cash, cash equivalents and
investments and reserved cash at September 30, 2008 included the following (dollars in thousands):

Primary Government
Unspent loan proceeds in the Internal Leases fund
Tenant security deposits held in trust, replacement

reserves and mortgage escrow deposits for Tsa-La-Gi
Capital replacement, closure and postc[osure care

costs of the Landfill Operations fund
Balance in Motor Fuel Tax Education Trust
Motor Fuel Tax Scholarship Reserve
Scholarship funds
Arkansas River Drybed Lands Settlement
Balance of funds accumulated for Debt service payments
District Court escrow account

Total Primary Government restricted cash, cash
equivalents and investments

Component Units
Escrow relating to the Title VI loan with a bank (see Note 9)
HACN's lease-to-owm homeownership program monthly equity payments
CNE and CNWM's construction escrow funds
Pari-mutuel horse racing activities escrow funds

Total Component Unit restricted cash, cash
equivalents and investments
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$

$

1,053

353

2,276
20,656

3,777
607

2,263
1,703

11

32,703

2,555
7,960

17,667
2,059

30,441



5. RECEIVABLES

Receivables at September 30,2008 consisted of the following (dollars in thousands):

Primary Government

Accounts Receivable
Grants & Contracts Accounts Inleresl Notes

Receivable Receivable Receivable Total Receivable
Governmental Receivables:

General

Molor fuel taxes $ - $ 1,742 $ $ 1,742 $

Other taxes 30 30
Other accounts receivable 3,633 3,633

Special Revenue Funds: 6.264 702 166 7,132 111
Debt Service Fund: 1 1

Receivables recorded in the Government-wide
financial statements thai are not recorded in
the funds

Other -Internal Service Funds 284 284

Receivables of Governmental Activities $ 6,264 $ 6,391 $ 167 $ 12,822 L 111

Business Type Activrties:

EDTA $ $ $ $ $
Noles receivable, current 2,608
long term notes receivable 24,258

1 26,866
Less: Allowance for uncollectible accounts (490)

Receivables of Business Type Activities $ $ $ l' 1 S 26,376

Component Units
CNS HACN CNCCA CNHHS Total

Receivables:

Accounts $ 16,089 L- 265 $ 111 t 337 ~'h802

Interest 456 456
Notes 1,393 25.048 26.441

1.393 25,504 26.897
Less: Allowance for uncollectibles (500) (66) (23) (589)

Receivables, net $ 16.982 $ 25.703 $ 111 $ 314 $ 43.110
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Mortgages receivable Title VI - HACN has mortgages receivable at September 30, 2008
totaling $24,857,000 from individuals who are participating in the Title VI loan program. Each of
these loans is secured by a mortgage on the house sold by HACN. The loans have an interest rate
of 4% and are payable over 30 years. No allowance has been recorded as of September 30, 2008
as the Housing Authority believes the amounts to be collectable or if the houses are reacquired by
HACN, the value of the home will equal or exceed the balance of the loan. At September 30, 2008,
the current and non-current portions of these mortgages receivable were $556,000 and
$24,301,000, respectively. The Nation has a reciprocal note receivable from HACN recorded in its
Business-Type Activities.

6. INTERFUND BALANCES AND TRANSFERS

S 50
767

3.029
3,482
4,709
1,939
8,755

Interiund balances at September 30, 2008 consisted of the foHowing (dollars in thousands):

Due to general fund from.
Title VI loan fund
Nonmajor enterprise funds
Internal service funds
Self Governance 001 - Roads
Self Governance DHHS
HUD
Nonmajor governmental funds

Total due to general fund from other funds S 22,731

Due from general fund to:
Internal service funds
NonmaJor governmental funds
Nonmajor enterprise funds

Total due from general fund to other funds

S 17,403
1,183

544

$ 19.130

Interfund balances result from the time lag between the dates that interiund goods and services are
provided or reimbursable expenditures occur, the dates the transactions are recorded in the
accounting system, and the date payments between funds are made.
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Interfund transfers for the year ended
thousands):

Transfer
To general fund from:

Self Governance DHHS
Self Governance 001 • Roads
Nonmajor governmental funds

Total transfers to general fund

September 30, 2008 consisted of the following (dollars in

S 725
1,248
9,565

$ 11,538

To Housing and Urban Development from:
Nonmajor governmental funds $ 4

To internal service fund from:
General fund (1)

To enterprise fund from:
General Fund
Housing and Urban Development
Nonmajor governmental funds

Total transfers to enterpnse funds

To nonmaJor governmental funds from:
General fund
Self Governance DHHS
Housing and Urban Development

Total due from general fund to other funds

S 5,622

S 1,246
154
161

S 1,561

S 892
2,762

85

S 3,739.

Transfers are generally used to (1) move revenues from the fund that statute or budget requires to
collect them to the fund that statute or budget requires to expend them or (2) move unrestricted
revenues collected in the General Fund, or other funds, to finance various programs accounted for
in other funds in accordance with budgetary authorizations.

(1) Total net transfers in the Internal Service Fund includes a transfer in of $40 which is not included
in transfers out of the General Fund because the amount represents transfers of capital assets and
long term liabilities from the Internal Service Fund which are not reflected in the General Fund
which is accounted for using the modified accrual basis.
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7. INVENTORIES

The Nation's inventories were comprised of the following at September 30, 2008 (dollars in
thousands):

Governmental
Funds

Finished goods and raw materials
Food for distribution
Supplies

Less inventory reserves

Total inventories

$

$

892
598

1,490

1,490

Internal
Service Component
Funds Units Total

$ $ 16,187 $ 17,079
598

157 157
157 16,187 17,834

13,5501 13,5501

$ 157 $ 12,637 ~ 14,284

The majority of the component unit inventory at September 30, 2008 relates to eNI, a component
unit of eNS, engaged in the production, assembly, and repair of electronic component parts for the
telecommunications and other industries.
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8. CAPITAL ASSETS

A summary of capital assets activity by major class, for the year ended September 30, 2008 follows
(dollars in thousands):

Governmental Activities
Balance, Additions Balance.

September 30, and Net September 30,
2007 Transfers Retirements 2008

Activity by Major Class
Capital assets, not being depreciated:

Land $ 11,591 $ 2,883 $ $ 14,474
Buildings and improvements 196 (196)
Construction in process 30,006 (28,690) 1.316
Total capital assets, not being depreciated 41,793 (26,003) 15,790

Capital assets being depreciated:

Buildings and improvements 41,800 36,878 78.678
Equipment 22,666 7,438 (608) 29,496
Land improvements 22 558 580

Total capital assets being depreciated 64,488 44,874 (608) 108,754

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements (9,506) (1,629) (11,135)
Equipment (16,479) (2,629) 556 (18,552)
Land improvements (2) (39) (41 )

Total accumulated depreciation (25,987) (4,297) 556 (29,728)

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 38,501 40,577 (52) 79,026

Activity by major class capita)
assets, net $ 80,294 $ 14,574 $ (52) $ 94,816

Depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows:
Governmental activities:

Tribal Government
Health Services
Education Services
Human Services
Community Services
Other Tribal Services

Total Governmental activities depreciation expense
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Business·type Activities Balance, Additions Balance,
September 30, and Net September 30,

2007 Transfers Retirements 2008
Capital assets, not being depreciated -

Land $ 81 $ $ $ 81

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements 1,789 (52) 1,737

Machinery and equipment 2,483 75 (2,513) 45

Total capital assets being depreciated 4,272 75 (2,565) 1,782

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements (1,201) (53) 35 (1,219)
Machinery and equipment (2,252) (108) 2,315 (45)

Total accumulated depreciation (3,453) (161 ) 2,350 (1,264)

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 819 (86) (215) 518

Business-type activities capital assets, net $ 900 ~86) $ (215) $ 599
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Component Unit Ac;tivities Balanc;e, Additions Retirements Balanc;e,

September 30, .nd .nd September 30,

2007 transfers in transfers out 2008

CNB and HACN:

Capital assets. not being depreclated

,.nd 5 35,650 $ 4,178 $ (1.436) 5 38,392

Construction in progress 25,140 125,178 (13,941) 136,377

Artwo" 407 77 484

Total capital assets not being

c:leprec;iated __61.197 _~9.433 _-1.' 5.377) 175,253

Capital assets being depreciated'

BUildings and improvements 254.919 8.226 (4,967) 258.178

Machinery and equipment 83,761 14.797 (6,464) 92,094

Total capital assets being

depreciated 338,680 23.023 (11,431) 350,272

Less accumulated depreclatron for:

Buildings and improvements (81,393) (11,698) 3,592 (89,499)
Machinery and equipment (50.255) (14,451) 6.066 (58,640)

Total accumulated depreciation (131.648) (26,149) 9,658 (148,139)

Total capital assets being
c:lepreclated. net _-.-?O7,032 (3,126) (1,773) 202.133

CN8 and HACN activities capital

assets-net 268.229 __126.307 --.1' "-C®J 377,386

Other Component Unit actiVItieS -

CNHHS and CNCCA capital assels. net 592 1,785 2,377

Total of the Component Unit
activities--eapital assets, net 5 268.821 $ 128,092 $ (17,150) $ 379,763

The U,S. Department of Housing and Urban Development Public and Indian Housing division
issued Notice PIH 2006-39 to all public and Indian housing authorities on October 19, 2006. The
Notice addresses certain accounting for fixed asset depreciation and related issues. The Notice
provides suggested guidance that Mutual Help housing units would be reported as ·other assets~

and be carried at the balances as reflected on the associated amortization schedule, instead of as
capital assets, subject to depreciation. The Housing Authority's current practice is to capitalize all
costs associated with units related to Mutual Help and similarly structured programs and depreciate
those units over the life of the Mutual Help and Occupancy Agreement, twenty-five years. The
Housing Authority is currently evaluating the appropriateness of changing its existing accounting
policy to the guidance contained in the PIH Notice and the effect such a change in accounting
policy would have on the Housing Authority financial statements, and anticipates reaching a
decision on this matter in FY 2009.
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9. LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt activity for the year ended September 30. 2008 was as follows (dollars in
thousands):

October 1, September 30, Current Long-Term

2007 Additiolls Reductions 2008 Portion Portion

Notes Payable
3.7% Note payable 10 Bank of America. See(l}
below, S 3,058 S S (494) S 2,564 S 513 S 2.051

Note payable to bank collateralized by real
estate bearing interest a14% in monthly
installments of approximately $5. 69 (69)

Note payable 10 the Bureau of Indian Affairs in
monthly Installments of $2, including interest of
7.625% collateralized by certain lease proceeds 54 (54)

Series 2006 Bonds payable with a pledge of
revenues from Health Care System with semi-
annual interest payments and annual principal
and interest payments. Coupon rate ranges
from 4,10% to 4,6% Payments began
December 2007 and bonds mature beginning
December 2011. See (2) below. 30,000 (1,540) 28,460 1,530 26,930

Capital Leases

Capital leases payable to Caterpillar Financial
Services with aggregate monthly installments of
$9,7 including interest rates ranging from 4.29%
to 4.44% and final payment due in October
2009, Secured by related equipment. 225 (213) 12 12

Capital lease payable to Kronos Inc. with
monthly payments of $23 including interest of
8.63% and final payment due in November
2010, Secured by related equipment. 722 (224) 498 218 280

Capital leases payable to BOKF Equipment
Finance, Inc. with monthly payments of $26
including interest of 3.55% due In March 2013
Secured by related equipment 1,448 (137) 1,311 273 1,038

Total long-term debt , 33,406 S 2,170 S (2,731) $ 32,845 , 2,546 S 30,299

Compensated Absences (See (3) below) _ 4.149 6.566 _ (6.042) 4,673 4,673

Total long-term debt and compensated
absences S 37,555 § 8.736 ~7.B

, 37,518 $ 7,219 $ 30.299

The balances at October 1,2007 have been reduced by $26,348,000 from the amount shown in the
previous year to reflect the recharacterization of the Title VI Loan Fund from a Special Revenue fund
in 2007 to an Enterprise fund in 2008.

(1) In May 2003, the Nation entered into a $5,000,000 financing agreement with a bank to
fund capital improvement projects and to re-finance the 1992 Series Revenue Bonds. This
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note bears interest at 3.7% per annum, in monthly principal and interest installments of
$49,913 with final payment due in May 2013.

(2) The Nation issued their $30,000,000 Series 2006 Health Care System Bonds on
December 21, 2006. The bonds were issued to fund construction of new clinics in
Muskogee and Nowata and an administrative annex for the Redbird Smith clinic in
Sallisaw. The bonds carry a coupon rate of 4.1- 4.6% and mature in three phases
beginning in 2011. The bonds are secured by a pledge of the health clinics 3rd party
revenue and a general obligation of the Nation. A monthly debt service reserve of
approximately $230,000 is transferred to the bond trustee, Bank of Oklahoma Trust
Services. The bonds were insured through ACA Capital and carried a Standard & Poor's
"A~ rating. The undef"INriter for the bond issuance was BOSC, Inc., a subsidiary of BOK
Financial Corporation. The proceeds of the bonds were used to payoff debt incurred to
date on these projects and to complete the construction projects. The Muskogee Clinic,
the largest of the three projects. was constructed and is operated in accordance with a
Joint Venture Construction Program Agreement ("JVCP") between the Nation and the
Indian Health Service ("IHS~), Department of Health and Human Services dated December
28, 2005. The Nation did plan, design, construct, equip, lease and operate the Muskogee
Clinic according to IHS specifications. The IHS did provide funds to staff and equip the
facility in accordance with the joint venture agreement and the self..governance compact.
The JVCP agreement provides that the Nation was responsible for constructing the
Muskogee Clinic. Upon completion of the Muskogee Clinic, the IHS entered into a -no-cost
lease- with the Nation. The no-cost lease is not intended to convey any real property
interest in the Muskogee Clinic or the land it is located on but rather, the IHS is merely
providing the funding for staffing and equipping the Muskogee Clinic. Pursuant to the
terms of the JVCP Agreement, the Self Governance Compact and the no-cost lease, the
Nation is the sole operator of the Muskogee Clinic and all employees of the Muskogee
Clinic are employees of the Nation. The IHS does not directly provide services at the
Muskogee Clinic. IHS funding for the operation of the Muskogee Clinic was provided to
the Nation through the Funding Agreements.

The Nation repurchased and canceled $3,238,000 of its Series 2006 Health Care System
Bonds in November 2008.

(3) Compensated absence liabilities are generally liquidated by the Fringe Pool Internal
Service Fund, which allocates to and collects from other funds and/or departments within
the Nation. Compensated absences are considered due within one year since the liability
can be made payable at any time by the employee leaving the employment of the Nation.

The balance of long-term debt for business-type activities at September 30, 2008 was $26,403,000.
The balance of Long-Term Debt for Component Units at September 30, 2008 was $28,321,000.
Long-term debt in the business-type activities and component units at September 30, 2008
consisted of the following (dollars in thousands):
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Business-type Activities

Title VI Loan Fund
Note payable to bank m fixed pnnClpal
payments see (1l below

Tsa-La-Gi Apartments

Balance, Balance,

October 1, September 30. CUlTent

2007 Additions Reductions 2008 Portion

$ 26,348 $ • 5 (1,854) S 24,494 S 1.854

Long-Term

Portion

S 22.640

6875% note payable to the U S. Department
of Housing & Urban Development (HUO) in
monthly installments 01 510 including interest,
wilh final payment due 2012, secured by
certain land and buildings.

Landfill Operations

4,75% note payable to Caterpillar Financial
Services in monthly installments 01 $8
includmg interest. Secured by related
equipment.

7.0% note payable to CNE in monthly
installments of 515 including interest.
Secured by landfill accounts receivable.

Economic Development Trust Authority
Note payable to the Department of Agnculture
In variable annual Installments IncludIng
mterest 01 1% annual, wrth final payment due
OCtober 16, 2030.

Total

488

209

1,141

_1,582

S 29,768 s .

(94)

(209)

(1,141)

(67)

~ Q,;W

394

1.515

~~

100

24

S 1,978

294

1,491

S 24,425

The beginning balance for the Title VI loan fund of $26,348,000 was moved during Fiscal Year 2008
from the governmental type activities to the business type activities. The amount shown as a
beginning balance on the business type activities debt rollforward schedule is the beginning
balance for the governmental type activities had the loan not been recharacterized.

(1) In July 2002, the Nation entered into a $50,000,000 loan agreement, 95% guaranteed by
United States Department of Housing and Urban Development Title VI program. The loan
proceeds are divided into two separate "poolsM which carry different interest rates over the
life of the loan. Pool A, with a balance at September 30, 2008 of $8,469,000 carries an
interest rate of 6.7%. Pool B, with a balance at September 30,2008 of $16,025,000 carries
a variable interest rate. reset monthly, derived from the 30 day UBOR + 70 basis points,
which at September 30, 2008 was 3.19%. Pool A is repayable in monthly principal
payments of $54,358 through May 1, 2022, plus interest. Pool B, effective April 1, 2005
requires monthly principal payments of $100,150 through June 1, 2022, plus interest. The
loan matures in December 2022. The loan proceeds were transferred to the HACN under a
loan agreement between the Nation and the HACN to provide funding for construction or
acquisition of single-family homes within the Nation's fourteen county jurisdictional area.
The HACN provided construction and acquisition of housing for eligible participants using
Title VI loan proceeds Qdrawn down~ through the Nation. As part of its participation in the
Title VI loan, the HACN was required to deposit securities in escrow with JP Morgan Chase,
formerly Bank One, in an amount equal to five percent of the total loan balance, or
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approximately $2,500,000. These securities are being pledged as collateral for the Title VI
loan to cover the portion of the loan balance not guaranteed by HUD. The interest and
dividends generated on these securities remains the property of the HACN. As collateral for
the Title VI loan, the Nation has pledged all current and future grants for which the borrower
becomes eligible under NAHASDA as well as program income directly generated from the
use of the loan proceeds, program income derived from the sale or lease of real property
acquired, rehabilitated or constructed with loan proceeds, and the securities deposited to the
Pledge Account. Any program income generated from the above is required to be deposited
into a KLoan Repayment Account- to serve as an additional source of payment of principal
and interest related to the Title VI loan. The Nation's note receivable from HACN at
September 30, 2008 was $24,494,000, of which, $2,009,000 is included in notes receivable
current and $22,485.000 is reflected as long term notes receivable in the government-wide
statement of net assets as well as at the Proprietary Fund level.
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Component Units Balance, Balance,

October 1, September 30, Current Long·Term

2007 Additions Reductions 2008 Portion Portion
Housing Authority 01 the Cherokee Nation ("HACN")
Note payab~ to Cherokee Natioo in fixed monthly principal
payments of $44 wiItJ ilterest cabJlated 0fI the outstandif'lQ
balarx:e each month. As collateral lor the loan, HACN has
pledged all current and future grants. for l'kiiCh the borrower
becomes eligible under NAHASDA, as well as ilcome directly
generated from the use of loan proceeds, program income
derived from the sale or lease of real property acqu~ed,

rehabilrtated or construCled with loan proceeds of the secur~ies

deposited 10 Ihe pledge accoun1. See 11) below
$ 2$.193 , S (1,700) S 24,493 $ 1,854 $ 22.639

Note payable to bank in fixed monthly payments of $2
induding prinCipal and interest. Interest calcujated at 6 75%
annual with final final payment due February 2021. See (2)

'"Ow 141 (7) 134 7 127

Assumable Mortgage Program rAMP') . loans for use in the
purchase of homes provided to program participants, Interest
rates vary from 6.25% to 7% and are payable in monthly
installments over thirty (3D) y(!ars see (3) below.

329 1.094 (11 ) 1.412 17 1.395

Cherokee Nation Susinesses ("CNS")
Effective April 4, 2002, CNI and a cre<l~or restructured an
eXISIIng Irade payable iniliated in fiscal year 2001 for inventory
purchases totaling approximat~y $8 to a long-term
promiSSOry note in 2005 The note is payable monlhly w~h

1I11ereSi at 4% and is due in 2011 4$1 (126) 325 131 194

CNWM agreed to reimburse the Nahon for payments under a
capilallease on equipment used in tile Cherokee Nation
Sanitary Landfill operations The transaction is lleing
accounted for as if the lease hoo been assumed by CNVIIM,

142 (22) 120 95 25

Cherokee Nation Comprehensive Care Agency ("CNCCA"
Note payable to finance budding and securell by same at
6,5%, principal and interest payments of $9 due monthty
lleginning May 2008 and ending Ap~ 2018. at whd! time any
remaining principal is due and payable. 1,400 (14) 1,386 11 1,375
Note payable to Iinanee vehICle secureo ny the ven~e at
5.25% pnncipal and interest of $1 due monthly from July 2008
and ending June 2011 37 37 11 26
Note payal>le to finance vehicie secured by the vehicle al
525% pnnClpal and interest of $1 due monthly from
September 21}(J8 and ending AlI9ust 2013. 18 (3) 1$ , 9

Cherokee Nation Home Health Service ("CNHHS")
Bank note paya~e daled June 7, 2006 in lI1e onginal amount
fA $372 has monthly payments fA $3, including interest at 8%
and malures June 7. 2009, secured by abuiding and land,
See (4) below. 361 (10) 351 351

Bank note paya~e dated Decemller 5, 2007 in the onginal
amollnt of $~ has monthly payments of $1, includ:ng interest
a18% and malures Novemller 8, 2012 secured by a bu~ding, 54 _.-J6J 4B , 42

Total $ 27,475 $ 2,745 S (1.899) S 28.321 S 2.489 1...25,832

(1) HACN, during fiscal year 2008, did not receive any loan advances for the Title VI program.
This resulted in a cumulative amount of funds drawn on the available loan funds of
$33,231,000. The loan is divided into two separate ~pools" which carry different interest
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rates over the life of the loan. Pool A, whose balance at September 30, 2008 was
$8,469,087 carries an interest rate of 6.7%. Pool B, whose balance at September 30,2008
was $16,024,710 carries a variable interest rate reset monthly, derived from the 30 day
L1BOR + 70 basis points, which at September 30,2008 was 3.19%. Pool A is repayable in
monthly principal payments of $54,358 through May 1, 2022, plus interest. Pool B principal
payments of $100,150 began March of 2005 and are scheduled through June 1, 2022, plus
interest. During fiscal year 2008, HACN made total principal payments on Pool A of
$598,000 and on Pool B of $1,102,000.

(2) During fiscal year 2006, HACN borrowed $152,000 for its costs related to the Claremore
QuadPlex project. The loan is repaid in monthly payments, beginning February 1, 2006, of
$1,341 including principal and interest. The loan carries an interest rate of 6.75%. The final
payment will be made on February 1, 2021. At September 30, 2008 the loan balance was
$134,000.

(3) During fiscal year 2007, HACN began its Assumable Mortgage Program. In fiscal year
2008, HACN has taken out 14 loans in the total amount of $1,094,000 for use in the
purchase of an additional 14 homes provided to program participants. Interest rates on the
loans vary from 6.00% to 7.00% and are payable in monthly installments over thirty years.
At September 30,2008, the loan balance was $1,412,000.

(4) CNHHS renewed a promissory note and security agreement with a bank in June 2006
totaling $371,261, which expires on June 7, 2009. Payments of $2,901, including interest at
7.0% are due monthly with the remaining balance payable upon maturity. The purpose of
the note was to finance the construction of a new office building, completed in March 2006.
The note payable is collateralized by the property financed. Amount outstanding at
September 30, 2008 was $351,000
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Maturities of long-term debt for the Governmental and Business-type Activities are as follows
(dollars in thousands):

Principal Interest Total
Governmental Activities:

2009 2,546 1,376 3,922
2010 2,668 1,265 3,933
2011 2,528 1,154 3,682

2012 2,602 1,054 3,656
2013 2,346 948 3,294
2014 through 2018 10,215 3,451 13,666
2019 through 2023 9,940 940 10,880

Total ~ 32,845 $ 10,188 $ 4,,~,03~

Business-Type Activities:
2009 1,978 1,363 3,341
2010 2,020 1,274 3,294
2011 2,028 1,175 3,203

2012 1,988 1,074 3,062
2013 1,915 975 2,890
2014 through 2018 9,583 3,344 12,927
2019 through 2023 6,283 706 6,989
2024 through 2028 345 26 371

2029 through 2033 232 9 241

2034 through 2038 31 31

Total S 26,403 S 9,946 S 36,349

10, LINES OF CREDIT

The Nation has a $5 million line of credit with Bank of America that has never been used.

On May 9, 2008, CNB entered into a $125 million revolving syndicated credit agreement
(Facility A) and a reducing term facility (Facility 8) (collectively, the Facility). The proceeds from the
Facility are to be used primarily to fund expansions at CNE, fund diversification efforts at CNB and
fund the operating and capital needs of other CNB subsidiaries. CNE guarantees the Facility. In
addition, the Facility is collateralized by CNE cash nows and substantially all of CNE's assets.

The following is a description of each facility:

Facility A - Facility A is a syndicated revolving facility totaling $125 million. The facility bears
interest at a base rate (the higher of the fed funds rate plus 50 basis points or the administrative
agent's prime rate) or the London InterBank Offered Rate (UBOR) plus 1.25% or 1.50%, depending
on CNE's leverage ratio. Facility A has quarterly unused commitment fees, ranging from 0.25% to
0.50%, depending on the level of utilization of the facility. The facility reduces $3,125,000 a quarter,
beginning with the quarter ending June 30, 2010. Facility A matures on
June 30, 2013. During the year ended September 30, 2008, CN8 drew down approximately
$1,374,000 on Facility A to pay for debt issuance costs on setting up the facility, and then
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subsequently repaid the draw down. At September 30, 2008, there were no borrowings outstanding
under Facility A. There were letters of credit and other commitments outstanding totaling
approximately $6,900,000. CNB's availability under Facility A was approximately $118,100,000 at
September 3D, 2008.

Facility B - Facility B had an original principal amount of $49,135,000, the balance of CNE's
investment in the Columbia Strategic Cash Portfolio (the Portfolio) as of the closing date of the
Facility. The availability under Facility B reduces on the 15th of each month to an amount
equivalent to CNE's remaining balance in the Portfolio. Facility B bears interest at UBOR plus
0.375%. Facility B matures on the earlier of final distribution of the Portfolio or November 9, 2010.
At September 30, 2008, there were no borrowings outstanding under Facility B. Availability under
Facility B was $27,196,246 at September 30,2008.

Both CNB and eNE, as borrower and guarantor, respectively, are subject to various reporting and
financial covenants, including a requirement to provide separate stand-alone audited financial
statements for both entities. Both CNE and eNB were in compliance with all financial covenants at
September 30, 2008. All interest and fees incurred by CNS under the Facility are allocated to the
respective subsidiaries based on actual borrowings and/or prospective cash needs. Total Facility
related costs allocated to CNE from CNS for the year ended September 30, 2008, were $302,740.

CNB had drawn letters of credit in the amount of $5,320,000 to provide bonding for construction
contracts entered into by CNl's Construction Management Division. CNl's cost for the financing
arrangement and related letters of credit for the year ended September 30,2008, was $27,105.

11. TRUST LIABILITY

The HACN has several lease-ta-own homebuyer programs wherein the tenanVhomebuyer may
eventually purchase the house in accordance with contractual agreements. These transactions are
similar to a financing lease, however are not accounted for as such as the amount and ability to
collect the minimum lease payments is not predictable.

Until the time of transfer, these homes remain the property of the HACN. The costs of those units are
depreciated over the expected term of payoff at the time of the original agreement, generally 25
years. When the home is paid off in accordance with the agreements and title is transferred to the
homebuyer, a gain or loss is recognized by HACN.

The HACN Trust Liabilities reflected in the accompanying financial statements primarily includes a
liability for funds that have been received from the tenants or homebuyers in the various lease-to­
own programs. These funds are held in a trust type account to be applied to various uses,
depending on the agreement with the tenanVhomebuyer. The largest of the amounts included in
this category are for accounts attributable to the New Mutual Help Housing Program wherein the
tenanVhomebuyers are credited with a portion of the funds that they have contributed as well as
other amounts credited to them in accordance with HUD requirements and program policies. Under
the provisions of mutual help occupancy agreements, tenanVhomebuyers are required to make
payments based on the family or household income. After deducting an administrative fee as set
forth by HUD, the remaining balance is credited to the participant's equity payment account
CMEPA-). The balance of the MEPA accounts, which are being held by HACN on behalf of the
New Mutual Help homebuyers, was $7,960,000 as of September 30, 2008. This along with other
credits to these tenanVhomebuyers totaled $9,044,000 at September 30, 2008. Although these
funds will generally be retained by HACN upon the transfer of home ownership to the
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tenanUhomeowner, they are presented as a liability until then because the funds are effectively
owned by the tenanUhomeowner. Upon transfer of the home to the tenanUhomeowner the funds will
be considered revenue and applied to the carrying value of the related home and a gain or loss will
be recorded by HACN.

Additionally, at September 30, 2008, other amounts included in this category include escrow
deposits held by the HACN associated with the Title VI program mortgages totaling $139,000, and
low income housing tenant's security deposits of $1 03,000.

12. FUND BALANCE DESIGNATIONS AND RESERVATIONS

At September 30, 2008, the Nation had a total General Fund fund balance of $84,893,000. This
balance includes $50,241,000 that has been reserved by Legislative Act or restricted by external
sources and an unreserved fund balance of $34,652,000. A brief description of the reserved
elements of the Nation's General Fund fund balance follows:

Motor Fuel Tax - The Nation began receiving Motor Fuel Tax dollars in 1997 and based on
existing agreements with the State of Oklahoma, will continue receiving such funds until 2016.
These funds are subject to general restriction under the agreement with the State of Oklahoma.
Cherokee Nation Legislative Act 10-97 further restricted the use of these funds to those matters
specifically appropriated by Act 10-97 and future legislative acts. A summary of activity in this
reserved fund balance during the year ended September 30, 2008 follows (dollars in thousands):

Balance at beginning of year

FY 2008 Motor Fuel Tax revenues

Interest earnings on unexpended funds

Actual expenditures

Balance at end of year

$ 28.481

7,088

964

(5.751 )

$ 30.782

Tobacco surtax and tobacco retailers loan fund - The Nation passed legislation in 2006 adding
a surtax to be levied on certain tobacco transactions. The surtax is reserved for initiatives to
prevent and treat diabetes and cancer. The amount collected in 2008 totaled $1,174,000. A
summary of activity in this reserved fund balance during the year ended September 20, 2008
follows (dollars in thousands):

Balance at beginning of year

FY 2008 Tobacco Surtax revenues

Actual expenditures

Balance at end of year

$ 4,071

1,174

(2,026)

$ 3,219

In addition, the legislation authorized a $1,000,000 loan fund to be made available to tobacco
retailers that are adversely affected by Oklahoma Tax Commission emergency rules. No loans
have been made as of September 30, 2008.

Motor Vehicle Tax - In 2002, the Nation negotiated with the State of Oklahoma a licensing
compact in which the Nation could license motor vehicles and other vehicles owned by the Nation's
enrolled citizens living within the jurisdictional area of the Cherokee Nation. The Cherokee Nation
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Motor Vehicle Code provides for annual payments by the Nation of 38% of such of revenues to
Oklahoma public schools, Sequoyah High School, and Cherokee Nation Head Start Centers, an
amount equal to 20% of such revenues for counties, municipalities, and federaliy- and/or state­
funded highway construction or maintenance projects located within the jurisdictional area, and up
to 20% of the remaining revenues net of costs incurred in administering the tag office for funding
local law enforcement within the jurisdictional area. The term of the compact shall remain for a
period of ten years. Amounts restricted for schools, highways, and law enforcement at September
30, 2008 totaled approximately $6,018,000. A summary of activity in this reserved fund balance
during the year ended September 30, 2008 follows (dollars in thousands):

Balance at beginning of year

FY 2008 Motor Vehicle Tax revenues

Interest earnings on unexpended funds

Actual expenditures

Balance at end of year

$ 5,856

8,161

104

(8,103)

$ 6,018

Cash Reserve - In 2002, Legislative Act 5-02, authorized the establishment of a permanent Cash
Reserve Fund. The total of this reserve at September 30, 2008 was $1,256,000.

Arkansas River Drybed Lands Settlement - In FY 2004, Legislative Act 5-04 established the
policies and procedures for governing the use and expenditure of trust funds awarded to the
Cherokee Nation under the Cherokee, Choctaw, and Chickasaw Nations Claims Settlement Act
("Settlement Act"). The Settlement Act specifically set aside trust funds to be appropriated by
Congress for Trust Land Acquisitions. The settlement proceeds, after payment of legal fees are
reserved for the purchase of land in designated areas. The reserved fund balance and interest
accumulated on the Arkansas River Drybed Lands Settlement at September 30, 2008 follows
(dollars in thousands):

Balance at beginning of year

Transfer from Judgement Funds

Actual expenditures

Balance at end of year

$1,414

8,941

(2,405)

$ 7,950

SHS Multipurpose Center - During fiscal year 2007, the Seminole Tribe of Florida donated
$142,000 to Sequoyah High School for the purchase of a sound and lighting system for the
Sequoyah Multipurpose Facility. This reserved fund balance on the SHS Multipurpose Center at
September 30, 2008 follows (dollars in thousands):

Balance at beginning of year

Actual expenditures

Balance at end of year

75

$ 142

(126)

$ 16



Unreserved General Fund - A summary of activity in the unreserved General fund balance for
the year ended September 30, 2008 follows (dollars in thousands):

Unreserved fund balance at beginning of year

FY 2008 General Fund revenues and other financing sources

Less:

Actual expenditures and other financing uses

Additional funds restricted by Tribal Council in 2008

Unreserved fund balance at end of year

$ 38,861

79,387

(75,575)

(8,021)

$ 34,652

The remaining fund balance reserved by legislative acts or external sources resides in other
governmental funds.

13. LANDFILL CLOSURE/POSTCLOSURE CARE COSTS & OTHER LANDFILL MATTERS

The Nation owns a solid waste landfill in eastern Oklahoma. The Nation accounts for this landfill
operation in accordance with the provisions of GASB Statement No. 18, MAccounting for Municipal
Solid Waste Landfill Closure and Postclosure Care Costs· CGASB Statement No. 18"), in the
Landfill Operations Enterprise Fund.

Federal regulations will require the Nation to place a final cover on its landfill site when it stops
accepting waste and to perform certain maintenance and monitoring functions at the site for thirty
years after closure. Although closure and postclosure care costs will only be paid near or after the
date the landfill stops accepting waste, GASB Statement No. 18 requires proprietary funds, such as
Landfill Operations, to report a portion of these costs as an operating expense in each period based
on landfill capacity and utilization. The $2,146,000 reported as Landfill Closure and Postclosure
Care Liability at September 30, 2008 (included in ~Other Noncurrent Liabilities"), represents the
cumulative costs recognized to date based on the existing use of 35% of the total estimated
capacity of the landfill. Landfill Operations will recognize the remaining estimated cost of closure
and postclosure care of approximately $4,036,000 as the remaining estimated capacity is filled.
These estimated closure amounts are based on what it would cost to perform all closure and
postclosure care in 2008. Actual costs may be higher due to inflation, changes in technology, or
changes in regulations. The Nation expects the landfill to have a remaining life of approximately 9.3
million cubic yards or approximately 11 years. Actual remaining years of operation is dependant
upon several factors including the volume of waste accepted on an annual basis.

Effective July 1, 2008, Cherokee Nation Businesses rCNS"), a component unit of the Nation
entered into an agreement with the Nation whereby CNB obtained the operating rights, through its
blended component unit CNWM, for the Cherokee Nation Sanitary Landfill located in Adair County,
Oklahoma. Under the current operating agreement, CNWM is not required to pay any royalty fees
to the Nation for these operating rights. However, CNWM is required to make an annual payment
to the Nation in an amount sufficient to cover the change in the annually calculated closure/post
closure liability associated with the landfill operation. The actual closure/post closure liability
relating to the landfill operation will be retained by the Nation, together with the cash balances
maintained in the Cherokee Nation's Closure/Post Closure Trust Fund.
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The Nation makes annual contributions to a restricted bank account to finance closure and
postclosure care. At September 30, 2008, restricted cash and cash equivalents of approximately
$2,278,000 were held for these purposes. The Nation expects that future inflation costs will be
paid from interest earnings on these annual contributions. However, if interest earnings are
inadequate or additional postclosure care requirements are necessary (due to changes in
technology or applicable laws or regulations, for example), such costs may need to be funded by
charges to future landfill users or other revenue sources.

Contract with City of Fayetteville, Arkansas - Cherokee Nation entered into a contract to transport
and dispose of municipal solid waste and for operation of a transfer station with the City of
FayetteVille (~City") on April 4lh

, 2006. The Nation continued to operate the City's transfer station
and the waste is being hauled to an alternate facility. Effective July 1, 2008, the future operations,
cell development and performance on the City's contract have been assumed by Cherokee Nation
Businesses rCNB").

14. RISK MANAGEMENT AND SELF-INSURED HEALTH PLANS

The Nation manages its risk exposures through risk retention and the purchase of insurance. In the
area of health benefits, the Nation utilizes a modified self-insured program with a third party
administrator. Claims for benefits are paid by the Nation to a level of $150,000 per year per
employee, Amounts over $150,000 are subject to reimbursement by the insurance company.

The Nation is self-insured against employee health and short-term disability claims incurred under
its employee group health disability plan. The maximum liability risk to the Nation is $150,000 per
employee per year. Any claims in excess of this limit are covered by insurance. Significant
insurable exposures other than health claims are covered by commercial insurance. For insured
exposures, there were no significant reductions in insurance coverage during the year ended
September 30, 2008. Additionally, settlement amounts have not been in excess of insurance
coverage in each of the past three years.

The Nation's reported employee health claims liability of $1,861,000 at September 30, 2008, has
been recorded in accordance with GASB Statement NO.1 0, which requires that a liability for claims
be reported if information prior to the issuance of the financial statements indicates that it is
probable that a liability has been incurred at the date of the financial statements and the amount of
the loss can be reasonably estimated.

The claims liability has been estimated based upon historical claims experience. The Nation
believes that this method of estimating the liability is sufficient to determine the amount of open
claims and to provide for claims that have been incurred but not reported rIBNW). Changes in the
reported liability follow (dollars in thousands):

Fiscal
Year
2007
2008

Balance at
Beginning of

Year
$ 2,013
$ 1,595

Claims and Changes
in Estimates
$ 10,708
$ 13,449

Claim
Payments

S (11,126)
S (13,183)

Balance at End of
Year

$ 1,595
$ 1,861

The claims above are expected to be paid from currently available financial resources and are
included in the accompanying Proprietary Funds statement of net assets.
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Wor1<ers' Compensation benefits are provided within the All Lines Aggregate program described
below. There is $100,000 retention with a maximum benefit of $1,000,000 each accident or
disease/employee applies. Employers Liability has a $1,000,000 per person/claim limit; and Crime
coverage has a $1,000,000 each loss limit with a Retroactive date of 10/01/03.

The first $100,000 of risk is retained with the All Lines Aggregate program responding to losses
occurring between $100,001 - $5,000,000. A stop loss equivalent to 1.8% of payroll is in place to
limit the Nation's exposure. Program design includes Clash Coverage which further limits the
Nation's exposure by applying only one $100,000 retention per insured incident regardless of the
number of coverage lines that may apply arising out of a single Event. Coverage provided by the
All Lines Aggregate program includes the following liability coverage on a $5,000,000 per
occurrence basis: Comprehensive General Liability, Products/Completed operations including but
not limited to Contractual Liability, Special Events Liability, Sexual Misconduct Liability, Medical
Malpractice including Hospital/Clinic Malpractice, Host and/or Liquor Liability, Innkeepers Liability,
Automobile Liability including Non-Owned Automobile Liability, Auto Medical Payments, Uninsured
and Underinsured Motorists. The following coverage lines have a limit of $5,000,000 each
occurrence and in the Aggregate: Police or Law Enforcement Officials Liability, Tribal Officials
Liability, Errors and Omissions Liability, Employee Benefit Liability, and Employment Practices
Liability. Retroactive coverage is provided for all coverage lines within this class with a 10/01/2003
Retroactive Date.

CNS and its blended component units provide employee health coverage under self-insured group
health plans. The maximum liability amount for CNB and these component units range from
$75,000 to $150,000 per employee per year. Any claims in excess of these limits are covered by
insurance. The accrual is estimated based on consideration of prior claims experience, recently
settled claims, frequency of claims and other economic and social factors. It is reasonably possible
the estimates will change by a material amount in the near term.

Information concerning the changes in the CNB self-insurance medical liability follows (dollars in
thousands):

Fiscal
Year
2007
2008

Balance at
Beginning of

Year
$ 1.757
$ 1,980

Claims and Changes
in Estimates
$ 14,038
$ 15,472

Claim
Payments

$ (13,814)
$ (15,632)

Balance at End of
Year

$ 1,980
$ 1,820

15. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLAN

The following brief descriptions of the Nation's retirement plans are provided for general information
purposes only. Participants should refer to the applicable plan documents for more complete
information. The Nation sponsors a defined contribution 401 (k) plan, which utilizes Reliance Trust
Company, as trustee. A defined contribution plan provides retirement benefits in return for services
rendered, provides an individual account for each participant, and specifies how contributions to the
individual's account are to be determined. Under a defined contribution plan, the benefits a
participant will receive depend solely on the amount contributed to the participant's account, the
returns earned on investments of those contributions, and forfeitures of other participants' benefits
that may be allocated to such participant's account. All regular full-time and regular part-time
employees who have attained at least 1B years of age are eligible to participate in the plan upon
employment. The plan year is January 1 through December 31. Participants become fully vested
after four years of participation in the plan. Employees may contribute from 1% to 25% of their
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gross salary, and after 6 months of service the Nation will match 100% for the first 5% and 50% of
the next 4%. The plan is administered by the Group Leader of Human Resources, with input from
the Nation's Pension Committee. The Pension Committee consists of the plan administrator and
employees of the Nation. The plan administrator is responsible for amending the plans' provisions,
including contribution requirements.

The Nation's primary government's total gross payroll for fiscal year 2008 was approximately
$90,755,000, which included approximately $89,080,000 for employees covered by the plan.
Contributions to the 401(k) plan for 2008 were approximately $7,102,000. Contributions expressed
in dollars and percent of covered payroll were: Nation $3,018,000, 3.3% and participants
$4,084,000,4.5%.

The Nation's required contribution and percentage of contribution for fiscal year 2008 and the two
precedIng years follows:

Trend Information
(dollars in thousands)

Fiscal Year

2006
2007
2008

Required
Contribution

$ 2,414
$ 2,738
$ 3,018

Percentage
Contribution

100%
100%
100%

In 2004 the Nation sponsored a deferred compensation 457(B) plan, which utilizes Nationwide Trust
Company, FSB as trustee. A deferred compensation plan provides retirement benefits and
provides an individual account for each participant, and specifies how contributions to the
individual's account are to be determined. Under a deferred compensation plan, the benefits a
participant will receive depend solely on the amount contributed to the participant's account and the
returns earned on investments of those contributions. The 457(b) plan mirrors the 401(k) eligibility
requirements and also allows participation of elected officials. The plan year is January 1 through
December 31. Participants become fully vested after four years of participation in the plan.
Employees may contribute up to 100% of their gross salary, and after 6 months of service the
Nation will match 100% for the first 5% and 50% of the next 4%, not to exceed a total combined
match of 7% in all retirement plans. The plan is administered by the Group Leader of Human
Resources, with input from the Nation's Pension Committee. The Pension Committee consists of
the plan administrator and employees of the Nation. The plan administrator is responsible for
amending the plans' provisions, including contribution requirements. Contributions to the 457(b)
plan for 2008 were $245,823 of which $68,246 was required and made by the Nation and $177,577
was made by participants.

CNS, CNE, CSG and CNWM provide a defined contribution retirement plan, the Cherokee Nation
Enterprises, LLC 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan (the Plan). Full~time employees of CNB and
these component units who have six months of service and who are at least 21 years old are
eligible to participate in the Plan. Under the provisions of the Plan, participants must elect to
contribute from 1% to 25% of their eligible compensation of which CNS and these component units
will match 100% of the first 6%. During 2008, participating employees contributed $4,540,713 with
employer matching contributions of $3,489,867 to the Plan.

79



CNB's component unit, CNE, has deferred compensation and long-term incentive compensation
arrangements and a supplemental retirement benefit plan for executive management. At
September 30, 2008, liabilities under these deferred compensation and long-term incentive
compensation arrangements totaled approximately $1,032,000.

CNI has a 401(k) savings plan covering substantially all full-time employees except employees
sUbject to medical leasing contracts with the U.S. government employed by CMS. CNI's
discretionary contributions to the plan are made based on the participants' compensation. CNl's
contributions to the plan were approximately $243,000 for 2008.

CMS, a component unit of CNI, has a 401(k) plan covering substantially all full-time employees of
CMS. CMS does not make contributions to this plan.

16. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Nation requires monthly dividend payments from component units, organized under the
Nation's laws, based on a percentage of net income (30% as of September 30, 2008). Dividend
payments to the Nation by component units totaled $35,000,968 (which includes an accrual of
$1,650,000 for distribution in October 2008) during 2008.

The Nation levies certain taxes and fees which apply to some of the Nation's component units.
During 2008, the Nation collected a tribal tax on food and beverage, tobacco, merchandise and
other retail sales from CNE totaling $1.219,540. The Nation's Gaming Commission, which has
regulatory oversight responsibility for gaming, collected fees of $1,875,000 from CNE. The Nation
also provides certain security services to CNE through the Nation's Marshal Service. In 2008, the
Nation collected $756,871 from CNE for services provided by the Marshals.

The Nation has entered into certain lease agreements with CNE, CNE leases land for a driving
range at the Cherokee Trails Golf Course in Tahlequah, Oklahoma, expiring on August 31, 2009.
CNE also leases the restaurant and gift shop facillties in Tahlequah expiring on October 1, 2009.
Each lease requires a nominal annual fee.

Cherokee Natlon Businesses, LLC ("CNS") - On July 1, 2008, the Nation entered into an
agreement with CNS, through a newly created entity, Cherokee Nation Waste Management, LLC,
(CNWM) whereby CNWM assumed operational responsibility for the Nation's landfill. Under the
terms of the agreement, CNWM agreed to develop new cell capacity for the landfill, perform on the
waste hauling agreement with the City of Fayetteville and contribute funds to the
closure/postclosure account consistent with the capacity used during the term of CNWM's
management and operation of the landfill. As a purchase price for the operating rights, CNWM
agreed to reimburse the Nation for a lease agreement for equipment utilized by the landfill operation
and to release the Nation from a note receivable from the Nation in the amount of $1,115,644. This
note receivable agreement was originally between the Nation and CNE. In 2008, CNE assigned
this receivable to CNB, who then assigned it to CNWM. The agreement provided for the transfer of
ownership of all capital assets of the landfill, release of the $1.1 million loan from CNE to the landfl1l
and assumption of the note payable to Warren Cat.

CNE provides funding for cultural development activities on behalf of the Nation. These activities
involve restoring Cherokee landmarks as well as engaging in campaigns to inform the public of the
Cherokee Nation's history and making contributions to communities within the Cherokee Nation.
During 2008, CNE Incurred $1.9 million in operating and employee costs in addition to an $85,757
capital grant awarded to the Nation for cultural development activities. In addition, during 2008,
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CNE incurred approximately $78,000 in costs associated with renovation of a property owned by
the Nation. These renovation costs are to be reimbursed to CNE by the Nation and are included in
accounts receivable in the statements of net assets.

The Nation leases certain properties to CNI under a month-to-month agreement. Lease revenues
to the Nation for the properties were approximately $18,000 for 2008.

The Nation entered into a Memorandum of Understanding rMOU-) with CNI to manage certain
construction contracts of the Nation. The Nation agreed to pay CNI a management fee of 10% of
the cost of the projects. In 2008, CNI had construction revenue of approximately $5,289,000 and
construction costs of approximately $5,696,000 resulting from the arrangement.

Housing Authority of the Cherokee Nation ("HACN") - February 14, 200B, the Nation and HACN
entered into a Memorandum of Agreement ("MOA") for the purpose of designating the Nation as the
entity to administer housing programs on behalf of the HACN effective May 1, 2008. This MOA
applies to all activities and expenditures of the Nation that are made on behalf of the HACN and
encompasses all funding sources of the HACN including but not limited to NAHASDA, Program
Income, Non-Program Income, MEPA, Proceeds of Sale, and Operating Reserves. HACN will
retain operations related to land title and oversight of the low income tax credit partnership projects.
The MOA shall remain in effect until terminated.

A majority of the employees of HACN became employees of the Nation upon implementation of the
MOA. The HACN has Board of Commissioners that continues to provide oversight and direction to
the remaining activities of HACN.

Cherokee Nation Comprehensive Care Agency (-CNCCA-) The Nation contributed $761,000 to
be used to fund the startup operations of PACE.

Cherokee Nation Home Health Services, Inc rCNHHSm
) - In February 2006, CNHHS entered into

an agreement with Cherokee Nation Comprehensive Care Agency rCNCCA-) PACE program, to
provide an all-inclusive care program for the elderly. CNHHS recognized service revenue and
related expenses and at year end held $111,000 of accounts receivable, net from this transaction.

Cherokee National Historical Society, Inc ("CNHS") -In November 2005, the Nation, CNE, and the
CNHS entered into a Memorandum of Agreement to further the parties shared mission to preserve
the culture and history of the Cherokees by assigning duties to the party that can best perform
those duties. CNHS remained responsible for all charitable fundraising, maintaining memberships,
operating the museum and teach the Cherokee Humanities Course. In 2008, CNE provided
marketing services, including group sales, and operation of the museum store at a net cost to CNE
of $309,000. The Nation performed all remaining operational and educational functions such as
accounting, purchasing, contracts, human resources, information technology, and facilities
maintenance. The Memorandum of Agreement is renewable annually upon agreement of the
entities involved. For fiscal year 2008, the Nation's general fund included operational expenses of
$1,200,000 for the Cherokee Nation Historical Society.

17. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Citizenship Litigation - The Nation held a special election on March 3, 2007 regarding criteria for
citizenship in the Cherokee Nation. The results of that election were that citizenship is now limited
to those individuals who had an Indian ancestor on the Dawes Rolls. There is a case filed in the
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District Court of the District of Columbia, pending on the same issue. Those persons excluded by
the special election have alleged that they cannot be disenrolled under the Nation's 1866 Treaty
with the United States, along with various federal laws. The net impact of this case is not certain
but is not expected to have a material adverse economic impact on the Nation.

Federal Grants - In the normal course of operations, the Nation and its component units receive
grant funds from various federal agencies. The grant programs are subject to audit by agents of the
granting authority, the purpose of which is to insure compliance with conditions precedent with the
granting of funds. Management does not believe any liability for reimbursement which may arise as
the result of these audits will be material.

United Keetoowah Band/Arkansas River Drvbed Settlement Claim - The United Keetoowah Band
of Cherokee Indians of Oklahoma filed a claim in the United States Court of Claims, alleging that it
was entitled to a portion of the funds from the Arkansas Riverbed Settlement Act passed by
Congress. That claim was denied and is now on appeal to the United States Federal Circuit Court
of Appeals. The legal proceedings, in the opinion of management, based on available information,
are not likely to have a material adverse impact on the affected funds of the Nation.

Other Legal Contingencies - The Nation and its component units are party to various legal
proceedings, which normally occur, in governmental operations. The legal proceedings, in the
opinion of management, based on available information, are not likely to have a material adverse
impact on the affected funds of the Nation.

Housing and Urban Development (UHUD") Review - HUD issued a Final monitoring report, dated
November 14, 2008 of the Nation's NAHASDA program which contained several findings, inclUding
a finding related to the Title VI Loan Program of approximately $3.1 million. The $3.1 million was
primarily the result of early homeowner mortgage payoffs at HACN. These funds will be transferred
to the Nation from the HACN for debt selVice. Although most of the findings have been closed, the
most significant open finding requests additional justification of all costs, funded through HUD,
related to the Nation's Marshal Service expenditures. The Nation disagreed with the finding and
has formally appealed the finding with HUD and does not expect any significant impact to the
financial statements as a result of this finding.

HACN Matters - The HACN has provided a "Tax Credit Recapture Guarantee" to the Limited
Partners of Jay Senior Housing, Stilwell Senior Housing, and the Wisdom Keepers Limited
Partnerships (third party syndicators of the tax credits) should the Internal Revenue Service
disallow the use of any of the tax credits being marketed to third party investors by the Limited
Partners. The HACN has also provided UOperating Deficit Guarantees" to the Limited Partners of
Jay and Stilwell Senior Housing Limited Partnerships and Wisdom Keepers Limited Partnerships
which would require the Housing Authority to provide capital for operations should the need arise.

CNB Matters - New games continue to be introduced at the gaming sites, which management of
CNE believes are permitted under the Class II gaming restrictions or the Compact; however, the
permissibility of these games can and may be challenged by licensing and governing authorities
that exercise jurisdiction over these activities.

At September 30, 2008, CNE had construction projects underway for the expansion of the Catoosa
facility and the West Siloam Springs casino. Some of the project costs are under contractual
commitments while others do not include contractual commitments, but once construction started,
there is generally a business imperative to complete such construction projects. The total
estimated cost for these two projects is approximately $288.9 million of which $113.5 million has
been incurred as of September 30, 2008. The remaining costs are expected to be incurred during
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2009 and 2010. In addition, CNE has approved a construction project for a hotel at West Siloam
Springs. Total projected cost for this project is $26.2 million of which $2.7 million had been incurred
as of September 30, 2008, for architectural and other planning costs. The Cherokee Nation Jobs
Growth Act of 2005 specifies that CNE shall retain a minimum of 40% of its net income to fund such
capital expansions through 2008. Cash flows from ongoing operations and available credit facilities
are expected to be sufficient to fund ongoing projects.

In 2004, CNE acquired the property and facilities formerly known as Will Rogers Downs from an
unrelated party. As part of the purchase price, CNE agreed to pay an additional $1,250,000 when,
and if, the property is placed into trust status with the Bureau of Indian Affairs, and could be
required to make additional payments based on the cash flows generated by the operation of the
facility. These additional payments will be capitalized when, and if, made and depreciated, as
applicable, over the remaining economic life of the property. No additional payments as described
above were required to be made in 2008.

CNE has entered into a motor fuel marketing agreement with a vendor to purchase motor fuel
products for sale at the Roland Travel Plaza in Roland. Oklahoma, which opened in May 2007. The
agreement is effective the first day of the month following completion and continues for a period of
1°years. Total purchases under this agreement were $7,163,213 in 2008.

In November 2008, CNE announced the signing of a licensing agreement with Hard Rock Hotel
Holding, LLC and HRHH IP, LLC. Under the terms of the agreement, pending review of the NIGC,
CNE will brand its Catoosa property under the Hard Rock Casino name. CNE will be required to
make annual license payments based on a percentage of Catoosa property revenues, with a
minimum annual payment of $5,000,000. In addition, CNE will be required to meet certain
operational and capital standards.

Loan Guarantees - On July 21 5
\ 2008, the Nation approved a loan guarantee for Chilocco Benefit

Association, Inc, an unrelated nonprofit organization, up to $300,000. To date, no loan has been
obtained by the organization and no guarantee has been executed.

The Nation approved a loan guarantee for Cherokee Nation Home Health Services, Inc., a
component unit, up to $915,000. To date, no loan has been obtained and no guarantee has been
executed related to this guarantee.

18. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

\N\N Hastings Hospital - Effective October 1, 2008. the Nation assumed operations of the \N\N
Hastings Hospital under the self-governance compact with the United States Department of Health
and Human Services Indian Healthcare Services (UIHS~). The operations are funded through the
annual funding agreement of the IHS compact.
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Governmental Fund Types - Governmental funds are those through which most governmental functions of the Nation
are financed. The acquisition, use and balances of the Nation's expendable financial resources and the related
liabilities (except those accounted for in proprietary funds) are accounted for through governmental funds.
Governmental fund types use the current financial resources measurement focus. This measurement focus is based
upon the receipt and disbursement of current available financial resources rather than upon net income.
Special Revenue Funds - Special revenue funds are used to account for the proceeds of government grants or other
specific revenue sources that are restricted by law or administrative action to finance particular functions or activities of
the Nation, These funds include:

• Self Governance 001 - Other - Established to account for funds received under the Nation's self governance
compact with the United States Government These funds are used to administer a number of programs
under the Department of Interior relating to education, health and welfare, and tribal government within the
Nation's geographic boundaries,

• Sequoyah Education - Established to account for grant funds received from the Department of the Interior to
help fund the education programs of Sequoyah High School.

• Talking Leaves Job Corps - Established to account for funds received from the Department of Labor for
counseling, training and Job placement of disadvantaged youth.

• Diabetes - Established to account for Department of Health and Human Services Diabetes Grant funds used
to purchase diabetic medicines and supplies, promote awareness and provide assistance to diabetic patients.

• Food Distribution - Established to account for Department of Agriculture food products provided to the
Nation and grant funds used to pay administrative and program costs of a program which provides food to
eligible Indian families.

• Women, Infants and Children - Established to account for grant funds received from the Department of
Agriculture to supply supplemental food and nutrition education to women and children at nutritional risk

• Head Start - Established to account for grant funds from the Department of Health and Human Services to
provide comprehensive health, educational, nutritional, social, and other services primarily to economically
disadvantaged preschool Indian children.

• PL102-477 - Established to account for funds received through the Department of the Interior from the
Department of labor for counseling, training and job placement of disadvantaged youth, as well as from the
Department of Health and Human Services to provide child care services for low-income families with a parent
that is working or allending a training or educational program.

• Title VI - Established initially as a Special Revenue Fund to account for borrowing and lending activities
related to the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development Tille VI loan agreement. the
proceeds of which are obtained from federal government guaranteed bank financing and subsequently loaned
to the Cherokee Nation Housing Authority, a component unit of the Nation. This is reported as a major fund in
the basic financial statements

• Other Grants - Established to account for various sources of grant funds used to fund specific program
activities.

• Tribal JUdgment Funds - Established to account for monies received by the Nation from the selllement of
disputes with the United States Government The judgment monies are expended in accordance with plans
for use and distribution adopted by the Nation and approved as applicable, by the Secretary of the Interior.
The jUdgment fund is controlled and administered by the Bureau of Indian Affairs.

• Tribal Trusts - Established to account for income received from external users of tribal lands, such as oil and
gas royalties. The Bureau of Indian Affairs administers these funds which may be expended upon request
and approval by the Secretary,

Capital Projects Fund - Established in 2006 to account for financial resources to be used for major construction
projects.
Debt Service Fund - Established in 2006 to account for the accumulation of resources for, and the payment of,
general long-term debt principal and interest related to health construction projects.
Permanent Funds - Permanent funds are used to report resources that are legally restricted to the extent that only
earnings, and not principal, may be used for purposes supporting the Nation's programs.

• Sequoyah Endowment - Established to account for funds endowed from the louise K. Green-Matthews
Grant in Environmental Science, The income from the grant is to be used to encourage Cherokee students of
at least one-quarter blood quantum to engage in furthering their education in the Environmental Science field.

• Gammon Education Trust - Established to account for funds endowed by Glenn l. and Faye V, Gammon
Trust. The income from this education trust may be used to prOVide tuition and related educational assistance
while they attend any accredited college or university located in the continental United States. The Cherokee
students must be at least one-quarter blood quantum.
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Enterprise Funds - Enterprise funds are used to account for the Nation's ongoing
organizations and activities which are similar to those often found in the private sector where the
intent is that costs of providing goods and services be recovered through user charges. The
measurement focus of the Enterprise Funds, the flow of economic resources is based upon the
determination of net income, financial position and capital maintenance. The enterprise funds of
the Nation include:

• Tsa-La-Gi Apartments - Utilized to account for the operations of the Nation's federally
subsidized low-income housing apartment complex, whose operating focus is to provide
housing for qualified applicants and to recover costs of operations.

• landfill Operations - Utilized to account for the solid waste landfill operations of the
Nation located in Stilwell, Oklahoma.

• EDTA - Established by Tribal Council Legislative Act 36-89 as a mechanism to promote
economic development. Its mission is to provide opportunities for income generation
through economic development, to provide loans for business creation/expansion, and to
provide loans to qualified individuals whom have traditionally been denied through
conventional lending sources.

• Other Enterprises - Utilized to account for various other small
operated by the Nation such as Enterprise Management,
Management, Indian Health Services Personnel Service
Maintenance, Cherokee Navigation, and Extended Care.

proprietary programs
202 HUD Housing
Agreement, Home



CHEROKEE NATION

COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS - NONMAJOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)

Tsa-La-Gi landfill Other
Apartments Operations EOTA Enterprises Total

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash eqUIvalents S 71 S 112 S 1686 S S 1.869
Accounts receivable. net 1 ,
Due from other funds 472 72 $44
Notes receivable. currenl 109 109
Other current assets 2 2

Total current assets 73 112 2.268 72 2.525

Noncurrent assets
Restncted cash and cash equivalents 353 2.278 2.631
long-term notes receivable 1.773 1,773
Capital assets. net 599 599

Total noncurrent assets 952 2.278 1,773 5,003

Total assets 1,025 2,390 4,041 72 7,528

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 26 58 1 85
Current portion of long-term debt 100 2' 124
Current portion of capilalleases

Due to other funds 2 765 767
Other current liabilities 21 21

Total current liabilities 149 823 25 997

Noncurrent liabilities
Long-term debt 295 1,490 1,785
Capital leases
Due to component unils

Other habilities 2146 2,146

rotal noncurrent lIablllhes 295 2,146 1.490 3931

TotalllablhtJes 444 2969 1 515 4928

NET ASSETS
Invested In capital assets net of related debt 204 204
Restncted 310 310
Unrestricted net assetS/(defjot) 67 (579) 2526 72 2,086

Total net assets S 581 S (579) S 2,526 S 72 S 2600
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CHEROKEE NATION

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS·

NONMAJOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)

Business-type Activities-
Enterprise Funds

Tsa-La-Gi Landfill Other

Apartments Operations EOTA Enterprises Total

Operating revenues

Property rentals $ 518 $ $ , , 518
Charges tor services and goods 1,126 1,126
Other 7 22 29

Total operating revenues 525 1,126 22 1,673

Operating expenses:
Salaries and wages 36 481 517
Other services and charges 262 1.653 357 2,272
Materials and supplies 15 36 51
Depreciation and amortlza\lOn 51 111 162

Tolal operating expenses 364 2.281 357 3.002

Operating Income (loss) 161 (1,155) (335) (1,329)

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)-
Interest income 9 62 174 245
Inlerest expense (30) (27) (16} (73)
Gain/(Ioss) on sale of fixed assets 1,044 1,044

Net nonoperating revenues (expenses) (21 ) 1,079 158 1.216

Income (loss) before transfers 140 (76) (177) (113)

Transfers In 1,246 154 1,400

Change in net assets 140 1,170 (23) 1,287

Total net assets - beginning 441 (1,749) 2,549 72 1,313

Total net assets - ending $ 581 $ (579) $ 2,526 $ 72 $ 2,600
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CHEROKEE NATION

COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - NONMAJOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)

Business-type Activities-
Enterprise Funds

Tsa-la-Gi Landfill Other
Apartments Operations EOTA Enterprises Total

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers $ 518 $ 1,126 $ $ $ 1,644

Internal activity - payments from other funds 20 20
Payments to suppliers (270) (U56) (J56) (2,382)
Payments to employees (36) (481 ) (517)

Internal activity - payment to other funds 2 301 303
OHler receipts 7 22 29

--~--

Net cash provided/{usedl by operating activllies 221 (810) (314) (903)

Cash flows Irom noncapital finanCing activities

Transfer from other funds 1,246 154 1,400

Principal payment on noles payable (68) (68)

Interest payment on notes payable ( 16) ( 16)

Net cash provided by noncapital
financing activities 1,246 70 1,316

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
Purchases of capital assets (75) (75)
PrinCipal payments on capital debt and leases (93) (1,350) (1,443)

Interest payments on capital debt and leases (30) (27) (57)

Proceeds from sales of capital assets 1,258 1,258

Net cash (used) by capital and related
financing actiVities (123) (194) (317)

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest and dividends received 9 62 174 245
Decrease(increase) on notes receivable, oet (73) (73)

Net cash provided by investing activities 9 62 101 172

Net Increase (decrease) in cash and cash eqUivalents 107 304 (143) 268

Cash and cash eqUivalents. October 1, 2007 317 2,086 1,829 4,232

Cash and cash eqUivalents, September 30, 2008 $ '" $ 2.390 $ 1,686 $ $ 4.500

Cash and cash equivalents conSist of:

Unrestricted cash and cash eqUivalents $ 71 $ 112 $ 1,686 $ $ 1,869

Restricted cash and cash eqUivalents 353 2,278 2,631

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents, September 30. 2008 $ 424 $ 2,390 $ 1,686 $ $ 4,500

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash provided

(used) by operating actiVities.

Operating income (loss) $ 161 $ (1.155) $ (335) $ $ (1,329)

Adjustments to reconCile operating Income to net cash

provided (used) by operating activities

DepreCiation expense 51 111 162
Change In assets and liabilities

Receivables and due from llo) other funds 20 20
Liabilities and other payables 9 23' 1 '"_0__-

Net cash prOVided by operating actiVities $ 221 $ (810) $ (314) $ S (903)
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INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS

CHEROKEE NATION
COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAl. REPORT



Internal Service funds are used to account for the financing of goods and services provided by
one fund to other funds within the Nation on a cost reimbursement basis.

• Internal Leases is used to account for the cost to maintain certain buildings for use by
other funds of the Nation.

• Force Accounts is used to acquire and maintain equipment and supplies used by other
funds of the Nation.

• Fringe Pool is used to account for the cost of fringe benefits, including the Nation's self­
insured health care benefits and workers' compensation benefits, used by other funds of
the Nation.

• Indirect Cost Pool is used to account for the cost of providing certain services, such as
accounting, human resources and acquisition management, to other funds of the Nation.



CHEROKEE NATION

COMBlNING STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS . INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)

Internal Force Fringe Indirect
Leases Accounts Pool Cost Pool Total

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ $ $ 35 $ 8 $ 43

Accounts receivable, net 284 284
Due from other funds 15,895 1,508 17 A03

Inventories 157 157

Other current assets 213 213

Tolal current assets 15,930 2,170 18,100

Noncurrent assels'

Restricted cash & cash equivalents 1,053 1,053
Capital assets, net 11,621 1,925 13,546

Total noncurrent assets 12,674 1,925 14,599-----
Total assets 12,674 15.930 4,095 32.699

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 5 6,350 170 6,525
Current portion of long-term debt 513 513
Current portion of capital leases 12 218 230
Due to other funds 2,981 48 3,029

Compensated absences 4,673 4,673
Other current liabilities 1,861 2,486 4,347

Total current liabilities 3,511 48 12,884 2,874 19,317

Noncurrent liabilities'

Long·term debt 2,051 2,051
Capital leases payable 281 281

Total noncurrent liabilities 2,051 281 2,332
Total liabilities 5,562 48 ;2,884 3,155 21,649

NET ASSETS

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 9,045 1,426 10,471
Unrestricted net assets/(deficlt) (1.933) (48) 3.046 (486) 579

Total net assetsf{deficit) S 7,112 $ (48) $ 3,046 S '40 $ 11,050
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CHEROKEE NATION

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS • INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)

Internal Force Fringe Indirect

Leases Accounts Pool Cost Pool Total

Operating revenues

Property rentals S 3 $ S S $ 3
Charges for services and goods 3.107 44,483 26.366 73,956
Other 88 69 53 210

Total operating revenues 3,198 69 44,483 26,419 74,169

Operating expenses'
Cost of sales 5 5
Salaries and wages 1,404 89 41,432 13,586 56,511
Other services and charges 1,176 37 5 10,412 11,630
Matenals and supplies 281 1 1.383 1.665
DepreCiation and amortization 389 521 910

Total operating expenses 3,250 127 41,437 25.907 70,721

Operating income (loss) (52) (58) 3,046 512 3,448

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Interest income 30 30
Interest expense (110) (48) (158)

Net nonoperating revenues (expenses) (80) (48) (128)

Income (loss) before transfers { 132} {58) 3,046 464 3,320

Capital contribution 134 134
Transfers In 375 5,448 5,823
Transfers out (161 ) (161 )

Change in net assets 2 156 8,494 464 9,116

Total net assets/(deficit) - beginning 7.110 (204) {5,448) 476 1,934

Total net assets/{deficit) - ending $ 7,112 $ (48) $ 3,046 , 940 S 11,050
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CHEROKEE NATION

COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS -INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)

Internal Force Fringe Indirect
Leases Accounts Pool Cost Pool Total

Cash flows Irom operahng aChl/llles
Receipts Irom customers S 3.110 S , 44483 S 26,282 S 73,875
Internal actlvI1y - payments from other funds (12.522) (1,19B) (13,720)

Payments to suppliers (1.451) (29) 2.068 (10.784) (10,196)

Payments to employees (1,404) (89) (40,908) (1 J.586) (55,987)

Inlernal achvlly - payments to other lunds 1,810 (155) 1,655
Internal achvlly . payments from other component units 64 64
Other receipts 88 69 S3 210

Nel cash pIQv,ded/(used} by operating activities 2,153 (204) (6,879) 831 (4,099)

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities
Transfer from other funds 37S 5,448 5,823

Transfer to other funds (161) (161 )

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities 214 5,448 5,662

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
Purchases of capital assets (1,537) 161 (1,283) (2,659)
Principal paid on capital debt {506} (201) 499 (208)

Interest paid on capital debt (110) (48) (158)

Net cash provided/(used) by capital and related
financing activities (2,153) (40) (832) (3.025)

Cash flows from Investing actiVIties
Interest and dividends 30 30

Net cash provided by Investing activities 30 30

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 30 (30) (1,431) (1) (1,432)

Cash and cash equivalents, October 1,2007 1,023 30 1,466 , 2,528
--~---

Cash and cash eqUivalents, September 30. 2008 , 1,053 S S 3S , 8 $ 1,096

Cash and cash equivalents consist of

Unrestricted cash and cash eqUivalents $ $ $ 3S S 8 $ 43
Restricted cash and cash eqUivalents 1,053 1,053

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents, September 30, 2008 S 1,053 , , 3S $ 8 $ 1,096

Reconciliation of operating Income (loss) to net cash prOVided

(used) by operating activities:

Operating income (loss) , (52) S (58) $ 3.046 S 512 S 3,448

Adjustments to reconCile operating income to net cash

provided (used) by operallng activities

Depreciation e~pense 389 >21 910
Change In assets and hab,hlles'

Receivables and due from (to) other funds (12.522) (1,218) (13740)

InventOrieS (8) (8)

Other current assets 1 , 33' 349

Accounts and other payables 1.815 (155) 2 597 685 4942

Net cash prOVided by operallng aclivitles S 2,153 $ 1204) S (6879) S 831 S (40991

Noncash Investing, capital. and fmancrng activities

Contributions of capital assets from government 134

"
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CHEROKEE NATION

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS (DEFICIT)·

CHEROKEE NATION BUSINESSES, LLC
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30. 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)

Ope/at,ng r('venu('~

Charges for serv,ces and good~

Galll (loss) on InveSlmenlS '01 Jo'nt ventUfeS

lotal ope,ahng revenues

Operallng expenses
Cost of salesJoperallQ<1S
Salaries and wages
Other servIces and charges
Depreclat,on and amortization

Total operating expenses

Operating ,ncome (loss)

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)
InteresVinvestment ,ncome
Interest I!xpense
Other, net

Net t'\Onoperallng fevenues (expenses)

Net Income (Ion)
O,v,ClenCls to primary government
T'ansJe's to (!rom) component un't
Capital grants to primary governmenl

Change In nel assets

Cherokee
Nation

Businenes

"C
_ (CNBL_.
S 5.823

'88
6,211

1,400
4,812
2,992

'26
9,330

(3,119)

337
(241)

'"
'"(2,804)

fI,974)

(107/8)

Cherokee
Nation Waste
Management

"C
(CNWM)

S 350

'50

'"'""88'
(511 )

1"
(3)

___J'L
(515)

10491

9,976

Cherokee
Nation

Enterprises

"C
_!~NE,_

$ 437 834

437,834

88,446
131'-'17
80,222
20,977

nl,362

116,472

3,180

~~

_____~~7L
115,995
(35,001)
P6,2ti4)

(86)

64,644

Cherokee
Services

G,oup,LLC

~§!.­
S 2n

'"'"
'"(46)

(2)

(80)

(127)

Che'okee
Nation

Industries

"C
__J~~I_'_

S 81.269

81,269

40,977
29,069
14,077

m

(3,427)

26'
1292)

--~

~-_....Q!!L

(3,465)

13,827

10,362

Eliminations
$ (4,473)

(4,423)

(4,423)

(4,423)

Total
~i1":OB~­

388

130,823
165,898
93,647
21,736

412,104

109,369

3.785
(534)

(3456)

-~
109,164
(35,001)

188'
14,017

Nel assets, beginning of yea/

Net assets (defic,I), end of year

19,288

:5 8,510

266,569

-,,_",",",",~ ~~ 331,213 -,'__.",'"'

93

9,653

S 20,015 •
295,547

:5 369.624
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CHEROKEE NATION

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EX.PENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS·

BUDGET AND ACTUAL (GAAP BASIS) • ENTERPRISE FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 3D, 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)

Budgeted Amounts Variance with
Final Budget

Original Final Actual overf(under)

OperalJng revenues
Property remats , SOl , SOl , 516 , 17
Charges for servICes and goods 2.268 ( 169) 1,126 1295
Other 65 565 29 (536)

TOlal operatIng revenues 2634 697 1673 776

Operating expenses
Salanes and wages 1,052 614 517 (97)

Other servICeS and charges 760 2.019 2,427 408
Matenals and supplieS 1 , 51 SO
Depreoatlon and amortIZation 911 55 162 107

Total operating expenses 2,744 2.689 3,157 468

OperalJng Income (loss) 90 (1,792) (1,484) 306

Nonoperating revenues(expenses)
Interest income 62 1,815 1,548 (267)

Interest expense (61) (1,780) (1,376) 404
Gain/(Ioss) on sale of fiXed assets 1,044 1,044

Net nonoperating revenue (e,,;penses) 35 , ,216 1,181

Income (loss) before transfers 91 (1,757) (268) 1,489

Transfers in 1,407 1,561 '"Transfers out (80) (80) (80)

Changes in net assets 11 (430) 1,293 1,723

Total net assets· beginning 1,313 1,313 1,313

Total net assets - ending , 1,324 $ 663 2,606 $ 1,723

Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of Internal Service Funds actiVities related to Enterprise Funds (63)
Net assets of Enterprise Funds , 2,543
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STATISTICAL
SECTION

CHEROKEE NATlON
COMPREllEN"lVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT



The Statistical Section provides financial statement users with additional detailed
information as a context for understanding the information in the financial statements, notes
to financial statements, and required supplementary information as it relates to the
government's overall financial health.

• Financial Trends - Schedules which contain trend information to assist users In
understanding how the government's financial position has changed over time.

• Revenue Capacity - Schedules which contain information relating to the government's
most significant tax revenue sources.

• Debt Capacity - Schedules which present information to help the reader assess the
government's current levels of outstanding debt and the ability to issue additional debt in
the future.

• Demographic and Economic Information - Demographic and economic indicators to
enable users to understand the environment in which the government operates.

• Operating Information - Schedules which contain service and program data to help
users understand how the information contained in the government's financial report
relates to the governmental activities performed.

Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the
Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports for the relevant year. The Nation implemented GASS
34 in 2002; schedules presenting government-wide information include information beginning in
that year.



CHEROKEE NATION

SCHEDULE OF NET ASSETS BY COMPONENT
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS lOolla~ in Thounndl)

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
Governmental Activities

Invested In capital assets net of related debt S 36 077 S 39,942 $ 42,927 S 26.714 $25,655 $29,403 S 35 969 S47,627 S 53 781 S62021
ReSlrlcted 25930 30,023 42,406 41 483 20,421 20,691 16822 23,250 26,278 36 739
UnreStriCted (308) 2498 (2 883) 1 133 53,444 65.566 66,627 69,039 83.373 87255

Total governmental activities net assets 61699 72463 82,450 69330 99520 115,660 119418 139916 163.432 186015

BU5Ine5s·t~pe activitieS

Invested In cap'tal assets. net 01 relaled debt 3.263 3,406 3,289 "60 4839 4,388 5519 4,653 16' 20'
Restricted '" 310
Unrestflcled (2.308) (2 152) (1

1
436) 361 (372) {685) (361) '" 1,072 2 029

Total bU5Iness·t~pe aCtiVities net assets 955 1,254 1,853 ~ 235 4467 3703 5158 5073 1234 2543

Primary govsmment

~
Invested ,n cap,tal assets net of related debt 39,340 43,348 46,216 30 174 30,494 33,791 41.488 52280 53.943 62225

~ Restricted 25,930 30,023 42,406 4' 897 20,421 20.691 16822 23,250 26.278 37049
UnreslOcted (2,616) ". (4,319) "" 53072 64,881 66266 69,459 84,445 89284

Total prImary government net assets S 62654 S 73717 $ 84 303 S 73 ~5 5',03,987 $119363 5124576 5144989 $164 666 S'S8558

2002 tnrougn 2008 revenues ale not comPitrao~e:o2001 a"O p"Of years due to the lIOOPbon 01 GASB 34
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CHEROKEE NATION

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES· TAX REVENUES BY SOURCE
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
(Dollars in Thousands)

Motor Motor

Fuel Vehicle Tobacco Sales
Year Tax Tax Tax Tax Total

2008 $ 7,088 $ 8,161 $ 6,254 $ 1,208 $ 22,711
2007 7,228 7,658 6,956 1,215 23,057
2006 7,406 7,188 7,063 1,144 22,801
2005 8,094 6,382 3,133 686 18,295
2004 7,576 5,929 2,142 249 15,896
2003 7,468 4,961 2,052 310 14,791
2002 7,294 3,342 1,890 75 12,601
2001 6,895 1,668 46 8,609
2000 7,118 1,527 35 8,680
1999 6,932 1,508 40 8,480

2002 through 2008 revenues are not comparable to 2001 and prior years due to the adoption of GASB 34.
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CHEROKEE NATION

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES. GOVERNMENTAL FUNOS
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS (Dollars;n Thoullndlj
(modIfied ilccrual OilS'S of IIccounllngl

1999 2000 200' 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
Revenues

Irllergovernmental S 86,360 5 91,174 $120.105 5151117 5167.594 5150.516 5147048 5166252 5178508 5203570
Properly renlals 1,977 1,647 2,279 '" 394 585 .. \ 513 575 1750
Motol lueltax levenues 6,932 7.118 6895 7294 7'" 7,576 8676 "06 7228 708.
Tax and j'cense revenues 1 772 1,940 2062 5788 "3' 9234 11 741 17458 18196 18292
Inleresl 1,818 2,611 3,285 2145 2.320 3,480 5238 9,651 13229 7 189
Trust/uno Income ,. 11 " 29 " 90 79 '" .7 190
Indirect COSI seltlement 4,377 2" ••• 8,314 VOl
D,vldenes from component uMS 4,050 8,725 11,717 17,919 25.444 33669 35001
Health 3'd pa'ly revenues 16031 17441
Otner 9.615 11.533 11 432 11 011 11.773 19,916 27 185 22,202 \4095 1006
TOlallevenues 108492 116.034 150,482 182139 206.232 203.760 226661 251 231 281 598 297527

Expenditures

Tnoal Government 9,147 10.334 15960 99•• 10484 13,645 15,956 15029 21 377 24,679
Health Services 55361 60,092 70890 62.822 66.732 73,248 77,829 84.528 94478 103,009
Education ServIces 16,747 15,348 16,716 29463 31936 32,156 32567 35788 39616 40561
Human ServIces 20610 20,985 37046 25269 24.363 23,746 24,516 26839 29,238 37290
Comm...... ,ty Services 41631 61 537 44,466 46643 42.420 49,318 57821
Olhel tnbal servICes 33 50 87 5,309 8.472 9,658 10834 11 789 15705 14640
Debl servICe

:li PrinCIpal ", 299 2.2 313 332 1,272 1.665 3 117 10912 2002
Interest 3'2 328 29. 71 ." 797 1,472 1 819 2.911 .0.

Capital o..tlay 6,009 6,326 7,209 5.289 3017 1,934 9,659 18 162 26,190 15.436

TOlal expendItures 106660 _!!~.l62 148501 160131 207327 200.946 221,161 239491 289747 296346

Excess 0/ reve....ues over (,moerj expendllureS (186) 2.272 1 961 2006 (1095) 2,814 5,500 11 740 (8 149) 1.181

Other Financin9 Sources (Uses)
Issuance of lon9-term debt 10245 10,189 13231 4.260 34660 1446
Fees assoclateo wllh debt Issuance 128
Insurance recovefles 27 , 2"
Other proceeds '7.
Transfers ,n 50" 9,244 .58. 3703 1.867 2,163 5.900 17425 20637 15549
Transfers out (2.264) (4,784) (2663) (8994) (2.132) (2,043) (9.353) (17920) (21 963) (22732)

Tetal other /manClng sources (uses) 2770 4,460 4.206 (5291) • '8() 11.285 9778 3.920 33342 (5491)

Net change m lund balances $ 2,582 S 6,732 S 6187 $ (3,283) S 8.885 S 14,099 $ 15278 S 15660 S 25 193 S (4310)

Debl service as a percenlage of
I'loncapilai expend'lures 075% 056% 042% 022% 038% '"'' 1 49% 2 23% 5 24% 104%

2OC2 throygr 200e 'eve".:es ilIre fIOl c.omparable to 2001 .rId prIQf yeillrs dve te lhe aoopl:OO of CASB 34



CHEROKEE NATION

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES - MOTOR VEHICLE TAX RECEIPTS
LAST SEVEN FISCAL YEARS

Motor BoaU Total

Vehicle Motor All
Year Registrations Registrations Registrations

2008 21,201 621 21,822
2007 20,548 723 21,271
2006 19,436 570 20,006
2005 17,803 587 18,390
2004 18,396 718 19,114
2003 18,099 671 18,770
2002 18,094 324 18,418

Source: Cherokee Nation Tax Commission

'Note: The Nation did not collect tax before FY 2002, therefore, only
seven years of data is currently available.
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CHEROKEE NATION

GENERAL GOVERNMENTAL REVENUES BV SOURCE (GAAP BASIS)
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS (Dollaf'!l in Thousands)

Operating Capital Unreslricted Dlvld.ndl Indirecl Equity Gain/lIo"l
Filcal Chargufor Granll & GranlS & Motor Molar Other Tex Grants & Inv.slment from COlt Interelt in o.

Year SeN'ic.. Contributions Conlributions Fuel Tn Vehicle Tax ReV1lnues Contribulionl Earnings Componentl Senlement Mllcellaneous Joint Ventur" disposals Total

"",. S 7569 S 127323 S 86 S 7 ce8 s 8 161 S 7,462 S 100 355 S 5511 S 35001 S S 2222 S S H'" S 30' 822
2007 SSO' 128822 '" 7228 7 658 8,171 76989 8024 33669 "56 277663
2006 4313 """ '" "06 7 188 8.207 78849 6275 25 44<1 , 2.. " 2"7729
200' 5 193 104 382 , OS' 6 382 3 819 620\5 3063 17919 ". '" 211 !O.t.9
200' 4282 100 209 7576 5929 2.653 65223 , 607 11 717 11634 • 108 2:' 938
2003 , 386 113394 7..:68 .. '" 2,973 66 249 1 624 8 125 "6 • 1"" 2\; 550
2002 4 548 103642 7 29" 33'2 2."45 58.236 1 799 4 050 '" ", 186 2""
2001 4 289 120105 6895 2062 3282 4300 4377 5081 15039\
2000 4125 91 174 7118 1.940 2611 " lOa 4,929 115 :'97
1999 " 681 86360 6932 1.772 1818 2410 4468 10844-

TI'Ie Na~on ooes MOt U5&SS ptopef1~ la~es Of receIve CY.ooerty taxes assessed on Its behalf by any other govemmental
l.'ml ConseQuently many 0: tne StaLSbtal scneaules us..a~y found In a comprehensIve annual finanCIal report are "lOt
aopueable 10 tne Nallon

2002 tnrougn 2008 revenues are 'lOt COMparaOle to 200' ax ono' years due 10 !he aaopbon of GASB J4
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CHEROKEE NATION

GENERAL GOVERNMENTAL EXPENSES BV FUNCTION (GAAP BAStSl
LAST TEN FISCAL VEARS IDoll;l1'1i In Thouunds)

Other Inllrell Cherokee Childhood
Tribal Heallh Edutatlon Hum.n Community Tribal on Long Tu·La·Gl Trails Landfill !bnth C.velopmenl Other

VllrI Government Servie.. Servlte. Servlte. Servltes Servltes Term C.bt Apartments Golf Club Operations Oper.tlon. EDTA Center Title VI Enterprl.es Total

2008 , 24,639 5103177 5 40365 531003 , 51.693 S15.033 , 1 503 , 39' , , 2292 , 5313 , S1 458 , $211930
20C1 21 624 92 163 39096 28,962 49.131 15.650 30-4-4 3BB 2853 13' " 253068

2006 16433 87061 36 588 27301 -42.867 12.712 1 975 390 1 79-4 "2 , 227316

200' 17023 79 3-44 33429 2-4624 35,060 10623 1 651 352 2252 1.115 ,"'" " 206136

200< \3627 7-4 995 32901 2-4 160 35.163 11.193 970 356 3' 1917 • 1 235 196 562

2003 12075 67356 32423 2-4611 51.252 8.750 66' 359 "2 1982 52 \ 358 , 201 \6()

2002 9373 62235 29 120 25203 45.478 5.431 '" '" "0 1 459 '" 1.091 3 180385

200' \5960 45889 8 131 25001 53.134 299 '" "3 70S '" "" 2 15085-4

2000 10334 41.-492 '66' 18600 35.290 299 3<' '" '87 '" '" 115 -463

1999 9 147 38,207 8,367 1715-4 35.433 339 358 20< , 029 '" 262 110.657

2002 lhrougn 2008 expenses are nOl cOmparable to 2001 and prior years due 10 the adoption of GASe 3-4



CHEROKEE NATION

OUTSTANDING DEBT BY TYPE
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS (Dollars in Thousands)

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities

Total Percentage

Fiscal Term Capital Term Capital Primary of Personal Per
Year Bonds Loans Leases Loans Leases Government Income· each one·

2008 $ 28,460 $ 2,564 $ 1,821 $ 26,403 $ - $ 59,248 1.75% $ 513
2007 30,000 29,529 225 3,211 209 63,174 2.04% $ 572
2006 36,258 600 3,352 295 40,505 1.43% $ 383

,; 2005 - 35,446 439 1,777 653 38,315 1.48% $ 372
w 2004 25,331 523 849 368 27,071 1.12% $ 267-

2003 16,284 1,017 458 17,759 0.79% $ 178
2002 - 3,514 - 902 298 4,714 0.21% $ 47
2001 3,547 - 995 411 4,953 0.22% $ 48
2000 - 3,839 - 1,092 286 5,217 0.25% $ 52
1999 - 4,138 - 1,184 445 5,767 0.30% $ 48

Note: Details regarding the Nation's outstanding debt can be found in the notes to basic financial statements

2002 through 2008 revenues are not comparable to 2001 and prior years due to the adoption of GASS 34,

* See Demographic and Economic Statistics for personal income, population, and per each one data.



CHEROKEE NATION

PLEDGED·REVENUE COVERAGE
LAST TWO FISCAL YEARS (Dollars in Thousands)

Health Revenue Bonds

Fiscal
Year

Beginning

Fund
Balance

Operating
Revenues

Less: Ending
Operating Fund
Expenses Balance

Debt Service
Principal Interest Coverage

R

2008
2007

$ 5,189
7,697

$ 90,045
74,750

$ 81,220
77,258

$ 14,014
5,189

$ 1,540 $ 1,279
582

4.97
8.92

Note: • Debt service coverage is based upon third party revenue collections generated from Health Care System Operations .

... Bonds were not issued in Prior Fiscal Years, therefore, coverage can only be reported on years after bond issuance.



CHEROKEE NATION

DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC STATISTICS
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Personal Per Each One
Income*"'* Personal Unemployment

Year Population** (Dollars in Thousands) Income"** Rate"'*"'·

2008 • 1,134,098 $ 3,392,628 $ 29,350 38
2007 1,122,869 3,097,833 28,034 43
2006 1,108,570 2,829,313 26,782 4.3
2005 1,094,425 2,584,685 25,116 4.5
2004 1,088,279 2,422,702 23,898 4.8
2003 1,086,370 2,235,993 22,385 5.6
2002 1,082,197 2,216,549 22,184 4.9
2001 1,074,339 2,255,719 22,059 40
2000 1,067,979 2,081,419 20,882 3.2
1999 1,059,500 1,930,916 16,001 34

Source: Oklahoma State Data Center - Oklahoma Department of Commerce
County Intercensal Population Estimates: 1990-2007
US Department of Labor: Bureau of Labor Statistics Data

Notes:
* 2008 estimate projected based on previous trends by Cherokee Nation Financial Resources Group

** Population data for Counties within the Cherokee Nation Jursidictional Boundaries
""* Personal Income information

**** Per each one Income information from Oklahoma State Data Center - OK Dept of Commerce
u .. * Unemployment Rate September period rate from the Bureau of Labor Statistics Data
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CHEROKEE NATION
Tribal Citizenship Growth
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CHEROKEE NATION

TRIBAL CITIZENSHIP BY DISTRICT

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 200S
DistrIct

Cherokee 12.552 13,019 13,442 13,909 14,610 15.218 15,706 16,116 16,759 17,242
Craig 5,410 5,620 5.802 5,933 6,140 6.434 6,626 6,868 6,998 7,086
Delaware 10,436 10,698 10,992 11,311 11,693 12,189 12,565 12,879 13,117 10,098
Keeler 9,690 10,156 10,533 10,907 11,446 12.074 12,479 13,158 13,527 13,834
Mayes 8,183 8,493 8,815 9,091 9,575 10,025 10,360 10,605 10,922 11,113
Sequoyah 10,088 10,446 10,784 11,095 11,525 11,986 12,274 12,591 12.868 13,088
Three Rivers 11,510 12,078 12,534 12.962 13,577 14,142 14,510 15,021 15.336 15,564
Trail of Tears 8,900 9,250 9,521 9,795 10,294 10,737 11,083 11,376 11,666 12,054
Will Rogers 8,198 8,479 8,741 8,993 9,350 9,868 10,259 10,666 11,009 8,105
Other 124,586 129,315 134,123 139,688 139,950 149,016 150,681 157,181 166,089 176,229

Total CitIzenship 209,553 217,554 225,287 233,684 238,160 251,689 256,543 266,461 278,291 284,413

-Q
~

Source: Tribal Registration Department



CHEROKEE NATION

TRIBAL LAND BASE (ACRES) BY COUNTY
AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2008

Tribal Government Restricted Total
County Land Land Individual Acres

C_hergkee_.NaILQ.Q:
OklahOma

Adair 14,327 19 10,411 24.757
Cherokee 1.215 325 9.439 10,979
Craig 327 1,843 2,170
Delaware 24,157 10 6,503 30,680
Mcintosh 596 596
Mayes 373 10 5,364 5,747
Muskogee 500 2,342 2.842
Nowata 31 610 641
Ottawa 79 79
Rogers 528 10 801 1,339
Sequoyah 2,406 46 5,523 8,075
Tulsa 3 204 207
Wagoner 225 225
Washington 1,719 1,719
Arkansas Riverbed 14,715 14,715

Counties Outside Territorial Boundaries:
Oklahoma:

Kay 4,230 4,230
Atoka 10 10
Choctaw 40 40
Pittsburg 10 10
Stephens 80 80

Texas.
Red River 630 630
Dallas 5 5

Total 63,595 419 45,759 109.773

Source. Cherokee Nation Land Department
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CHEROKEE NATION

PRIMARY GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES BY FUNCTION
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
Regula' full-time employees only

~ ~ 2001 ~ 2003 2004 2005 2006 ~ 2008
Function;

Tribal Government 145 192 211 246 277 232 230 230 238 259
Heallh Services 404 449 484 572 579 629 627 639 640 726
Education Services 225 248 266 316 344 393 399 391 387 408
Human Services 125 150 170 206 222 234 251 249 276 291
Commuflily Services 177 186 218 191 120 128 127 182 163 329
Other Tribal Services 116 133 158 178 195 213 236 226 243 241

Total ~ 1,358
---

~ ~1.507 1.709 1.737 1.829 1,947 2.254
~

Source Financiat Resources

109



CHEROKEE NATION

OPERATING INDICATORS BY FUNCTION

LAST SIX FISCAL YEARS

(Dollars in Thousands)

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
Function/Program

Health Services
Primary provider visits· 122,570 109,379 117,270 121,650 119.358 124,824
Dental patient visits 24,519 25,482 22,199 21,436 23,050 21,543
Behavioral health patient visits 8.424 10,148 9,895 9,969 10,322 11,284
Optometry patient viSits 12,802 13,700 13,472 14,259 14,548 15,808
Pharmacy patient visits 54.585 61,225 69,151 70.937 74,976 79.487
Other visits'· 56,451 72,775 77,307 80,133 76.259 71.820
Pharmacy prescription filled 386,420 410.909 461,409 474,299 500,675 501,601
Number of new charts 8.139 8,407 7,166 7,074 6,659 7,615
Total number of charts 130,049 139,066 149,861 159,128 168,467 179,416

·Prlmary prOVider visits Include phYSICian, physietan's aSSistant, nurse praetJtloner
•• Other VISits Include- PHN, WIC, education, dietary, laboratory services

Education Services
Higher Education applications received 2,140 2,376 2,708 2,569 2,193 2,304

Higher Education applications funded 1,900 2,085 2,236 2,164 2,095 2,108

Head Start students 270 260 284 317 636 355
ImmerSion Class students 25 .2 30
Sequoyah High School students 360 372 362 .00 361 363

Human Services
Child Care children served through subsidy 3,869 3,742 3,606 3,708 3,649 3,854
Child Care contracted providers 1,019 1,075 994 915 601 729
Child Care technical assistance calis and visits 5,803 3,083 1,397 1,358 2,178 3,053
Child Care monitoring visits to caregivers 1,145 1,092 1,122 1,236 1,124 1,124

Food Distribution· individuals served 140,150 139,588 131,970 111,139 105,768 114,305
Food Distribution· households served 51,327 52,768 50,892 44,863 43,237 46,049
Tribal Work Experience program participants 219 306 313 192 13
Elder Service Advocacy individuals served 1,170 1,236 1,192 1,353 1,431 1,064

Community Servrces
Roadslbndges project miles completed 84 20 9724 96 01 101 72 66 12 128 7
Families served through rental assistance nJa nJa 2,121 3,695 2,927 2,578
Families subSidized In Title VI units nJa nJa 317 3'5 305
Rehabilitation of pnvately owned homes nJa nJa 69 119 305 565
AcqUired or constructed Individual homes

for low-income families nJa nla 3. 31 1 13

Other Tribal Services
BUSinesses funded through Commerce progral nla nla • 6 7 12
Participants enrollments in IDAlYIDA nla nla 30 26 '2 ,.

Source. DepartmentsJprograms as listed
Note: Operating indicators are not available for years prior to 2003
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CHEROKEE NATION

CAPITAL ASSET UTILIZATION BY FUNCTION

PRIMARY GOVERNMENT

LAST SIX FISCAL YEARS

(Net of Depreciation, Dollars in Thousands)

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
Governmental activities:

Tribal Government $ 2.232 $ 3,068 $ 2,520 $ 2.969 $ 2.424 $ 3.013
Health Services 1.911 1,847 2,197 12.883 33,898 41,238
Education Services 619 578 1,098 8,246 8,885 9,479
Human Services 534 436 328 242 396 571
Community Services 834 842 1,035 1,384 2,189 3,264
Other Tribal Services 25,564 27,984 33,620 30,719 32,502 37,251

Governmental actvilies, nel $ 31,694 $ 34,755 $ 40,798 $ 56,443 $ 80,294 $ 94,816

Business -type activities:
Enterprise Funds $ 6,314 $ 5,605 $ 6,851 $ 6,761 $ 900 $ 599

Business-type activities, nel $ 6,314 $ 5,605 $ 6,851 $ 6,761 $ 900 $ 599

·fn FY 2006, Health Services and Education Services increased due to construction projects

*In FY 2007, Enterprise fund decreased due to impairment of assets (see note 13),

Note: Information prior to FY 2003 isn't available for comparison,
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CHEROKEE NATION

CHEROKEE STUDENTS BY DISTRICT
LAST SEVEN FISCAL YEARS'

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
District

Cherokee 3,847 3.814 3,976 4,071 4,097 4,079 4,357
Craig 1,089 1.211 1,257 1,334 1,342 1,296 1,334
Delaware 2,281 2,218 2,236 2,205 2,311 2,315 2,302
Keeler 1.330 1.483 1.618 1,882 1,862 1.785 1.801
Mayes 1,685 1.758 1.906 1,896 2,020 2,062 2,152
Sequoyah 1,939 2,022 2,053 2,033 2,067 2,031 2,124
Three Rivers 1,999 2,152 2,225 2,318 2.468 2,569 2.680
Trail 0' Tears 1.953 1,992 2,073 2,108 2,151 2.261 2.260
Will Rogers 1.795 2,030 2.177 2,351 2,368 2.324 2.246

Total Cherokee Students 17,918 18.680 19,521 20,198 20686 20722 ~i56

• MVT apportionments began in FY 2002. so only able to show data from FY 2002 to present. 10 Years worth of data IS nol available al this time,

Source MVT apportionment
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